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Huang Sheng-Shun

Chairman and Executive Director

Mr. Huang Sheng-Shun, aged 61, is the Chairman and Executive
Director of the Company. He is responsible for the development of
our general corporate strategy, operation management, planning
and decision making. Mr. Huang, together with Mr. Wu Ih Chen,
founded the Group on 7 May 1991. Prior to the establishment of the
Group, he was the operation manager of a chemical company
between June 1978 and May 1982. Afterwards, he worked at Ta Yang
Oil N Fat Industrial Co., Ltd. (K/¥ A TEARHBRR2AF]), a private
company, and since 1986 became the company’s general manager
until 2005. Mr. Huang and his family members have been the
shareholders of Ta Yang Qil N Fat Industrial Co., Ltd. until Ta Yang Ol
N Fat Industrial Co., Ltd., ceased operations and was wound up in
April 2006. Save as disclosed above, there is no relationship between
Ta Yang Oil N Fat Industrial Co., Ltd. and each of the Group's
companies, its directors, its substantial shareholders and their
respective associates. Mr. Huang is the father of Mr. Huang Te-Wei,
the Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director of the Company.

Mr. Huang has also been a director of Formosan Union Chemical
Corp., a company listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange Corporation,
from 1 July 1987 to 30 June 1996 and from 1 July 2002 to present. He
has over 30 years of experience in management positions in the
chemical manufacturing industry. Mr. Huang graduated from the
Faculty of Law, National Taiwan University in 1976. Mr. Huang is also
a director of certain subsidiaries of the Group.
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Huang Te-Wei

Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director

Mr. Huang Te-Wei, aged 35, is the Chief Executive Officer and
Executive Director of the Company. He is the head of Control
Department and is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
compliance and internal control matters. From 2008 onwards, Mr.
Huang was also responsible for the supervision of the daily operation
of the Group's factories in PRC and strategic planning. Mr. Huang
graduated from the Industrial Administration stream, Department of
Business Administration, National Taiwan University and has
completed his military service in Taiwan. Mr. Huang is also a director
of certain subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Huang is the eldest son of
Mr. Huang Sheng-Shun, the Chairman and Executive Director of the
Company.

Wong Tak Leung

Executive Director and Deputy General Manager

Mr. Wong Tak Leung, aged 54, is the Executive Director and Deputy
General Manager of the Company. Mr. Wong joined the Group in May
1993 and was subsequently promoted to Deputy Managing Director
in 2001. Mr. Wong is responsible for the sales and marketing
functions of the Group. During 1981 to 1989, Mr. Wong served in the
Strategic Planning Department of Hong Kong Aircraft Engineering
Company Limited. Mr. Wong is also a director of certain subsidiaries
of the Group.
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Kwok Yiu Kai

Executive Director and Chief Human Resources Officer

Mr. Kwok Yiu Kai, aged 53, is the Executive Director and Chief Human
Resources Officer of the Company. He joined the Group in 1 August
2014 and is responsible for the whole spectrum of human resources
management of the Group, covering such areas as the Group’s
culture building, merger and acquisition projects, human resources
policy formulation, manpower planning, compensation and benefits,
training and development, performance management, staff relations,
etc. Mr. Kwok has an MSc in Training and Human Resources
Management.

Mr. Kwok is the founder of a human resources consultancy firm and
has over 30 years of experience in human resources field. Before
founding the consultancy firm, Mr. Kwok held a number of senior
human resources positions in major banks, such as Citibank, Hang
Seng Bank, Development Bank of Singapore (“DBS"), and First Pacific
Bank. While he was Head of Human Resources for DBS's subsidiaries
in Hong Kong, he also served as Chairman of the bank’s Service
Steering Committee.

In his human resources career, Mr. Kwok successfully led his teams
and handled tremendous challenges, such as post-merger culture
shock, high staff turnover, company rightsizing, etc. He also created
the largest experiential training forum in Asia, with more than 1,000
participants. One of his key skills is the ability to cultivate a robust
service-cum-teamwork culture for companies.

In 2001, Mr. Kwok received two prestigious awards, acknowledging
his outstanding achievements in the human resources profession.
The 'HR Manager of the Year’ award from Human Resources
Magazine recognised Mr. Kwok’s proven record in delivering results
and driving business performance, while the ‘Good People
Management Award’ from the Labor Department of the Hong Kong
SAR Government honored Mr. Kwok for his work in promoting the
adoption of good people-management practices.

With his practical experience in human resources development, Mr.
Kwok delivers proven and effective human resources solutions to a
wide variety of clients, with whom he maintains strong business
relationships.
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Wu Ih Chen

Non-Executive Director

Mr. Wu Ih Chen, aged 64, is the Non-Executive Director of the
Company. Mr. Wu has over 27 years of experience in the silicone
rubber industry. Mr. Wu, together with Mr. Huang Sheng-Shun, the
Chairman and an Executive Director of the Company, founded the
Group on 7 May 1991. Mr. Wu graduated from the Aletheia University
in 1971 and completed the Studying Program for Hong Kong Senior
Management in Business organised by the Peking University in the
PRC. Mr. Wu is a director for the Eleventh Board of Directors of
International Association of Chinese Traders. Mr. Wu is also a
director of one of the subsidiaries of the Group.

Kirk Yang

Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr. Kirk Yang, aged 48, is the Independent Non-Executive Director of
the Company. Mr. Yang holds a Bachelor’'s degree and a Master’s
degree from Purdue University, both in Electrical Engineering, and a
Master of Business Administration (Finance, Accounting and
Marketing concentrations) from The University of Chicago. Mr. Yang
is also a well-known author in Taiwan.

Mr. Yang is currently a Managing Director at Barclays Capital Asia
Limited (“Barclays”), responsible for regional technology hardware
and components research in Asia ex-Japan, based in Hong Kong. He
joined Barclays in August 2010 from Nomura International (Hong
Kong) Limited, where he held a similar position. He was ranked #2 (in
2011) and #1 (in 2012 and 2014) by AsiaMoney, and #2 by Institutional
Investor (#1 individually) in 2013 and 2014. Previously, he worked in a
similar role at Citi Investment Research of Citigroup Global Markets
Asia Limited based in Hong Kong from 2002 to 2008 and was ranked
No. 1 by Institutional Investor, Financial Times and Greenwich
Associates in 2004, 2006 and 2007, respectively. He has been ranked
mostly in the top three during his research career, which includes
similar positions held at Credit Suisse and Goldman Sachs. Mr. Yang
was Chief Financial Officer for our company (remains a board
member) and a China software company (pre-NYSE [PO) from 2008
to 2010. In addition, he has seven years’ experience in various roles
held with IBM, Accenture, A.T. Kearney, AT&T, Emerson Electric and
HP/EDS earlier in his career.
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Hsieh Yu

Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr. Hsieh Yu, aged 67, is the Independent Non-Executive Director of
the Company. He obtained a certificate for solicitor in Taiwan in 1977
and joined the Taipei Bar Association immediately as a practicing
Attorney-at-Law. He is the responsible officer of Bf{2= %2 £ Fr. He
had been the legal consultant for various corporations and
organizations. Mr. Hsieh graduated from the Faculty of Law, National
Taiwan University in 1976.

Jou Yow-Jen

Independent Non-Executive Director

Professor Jou Yow-Jen, aged 58, is the Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Company. Professor Jou is currently an associate
professor of Department of Information and Finance Management
and Institute of Finance at National Chiao Tung University. Professor
Jou has been participated actively in research on data analysis, time
series analysis model, Ito model application, Monte Carlo model, O-D
mode and options pricing etc. She has extensive knowledge in
statistics, econometrics, financial time series analysis and financial
information analysis, and completed several fundamental researches
on Economics and Finance. Prior to joining the Company, Professor
Jou was an associate professor of Institute of Statistics at National
Chiao Tung University, the statistician of Directorate General of
Budget, Accounting and Statistics, Executive Yuan, R.O.C. (Taiwan)
and the planning controller of Taiwan Power Company. Professor Jou
obtained bachelor and master degree from National Chung Hsing
University and National Chen Chi University in Taiwan respectively
and Ph. D in doctorate in Statistics from Wharton School of University
of Pennsylvania.
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Yeung Chi Tat

Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr. Yeung Chi Tat, aged 45, is the Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Company. He holds a bachelor degree in business
administration from the University of Hong Kong and a master
degree in professional accounting from Hong Kong Polytechnic
University. He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, a member of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales, the founding member and
deputy president of The Hong Kong Independent Non-executive
Director Association, the president of the Hong Kong headquarter of
the International Financial Management Association, the Greater
China Development Working Committee member of the Association
of Hong Kong Accountants and a council member of the Hong Kong
Wine Chamber of Commerce.

He is currently the financial controller and company secretary of
Dynasty Fine Wines Group Limited (Stock Code: 828), an Independent
Non-Executive Director of ANTA Sports Products Limited (Stock
Code: 2020), Boer Power Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1685), Sitoy
Group Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1023) and KFM Kingdom
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 3816), all of which are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange in Hong Kong. He was an
Independent Non-Executive Director of Billion Industrial Holdings
Limited (Stock Code: 2299), a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange in Hong Kong, from 31 March 2011 to 21 May
2014. Mr. Yeung had previously worked at a major international
accounting firm for over ten years. He possesses experience in
auditing, corporate restructuring and corporate financial services.
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Chan Oi Fat

Financial Controller and Company Secretary

Mr. Chan Oi Fat, aged 37, joined the Group in January, 2008 as the
financial controller and the company secretary of the Company. Mr.
Chan is mainly responsible for the financial and accounting
management and secretarial affairs of the Group. Prior to joining the
Group, Mr. Chan was an audit manager in an international
accounting firm. Mr. Chan has over 14 years of experience in
professional accounting and auditing experience. Mr. Chan
graduated from the City University of Hong Kong with a bachelor in
accountancy. He is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants.
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Chairman’s Statement

T RS

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors of Ta Yang Group Holdings
Limited, | herewith present all shareholders the annual report of the
Group for the year ended 31 July 2015.

Over the past twelve months, macroeconomic uncertainties, such as
sovereign debt crisis in Eurozone and sluggish recovery in the U.S.
economy, persisted and resulted in weak market conditions, we
experienced its own transitional period. Among the stiff challenges
that we faced included the shift of demand for keypads products to
touch-screen devices and rising operating costs in the People’s
Republic of China (“PRC") and hence led to an unsatisfactory result
for the year. However, we remained committed to raising the
Group’s competitiveness, electing to dispose of non-core business
as part of streamlining efforts.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

By the end of the financial year, the Group's turnover decreased by
8.8% to HK$426.2 million (2014: HK$467.3 million). The Group’s loss
for the year was HK$159.4 million (2014: HK$220.4 million) while loss
per share for the year was HK20.08 cents (2014: HK27.82 cents).
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“The Group is to maintain its solid and
pragmatic style of management and
focus on strengthening our financial
position preparing for deployment

of new growth strategies at the right
timing.”
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BUSINESS REVIEW

Consumer electronic devices (“CED”) peripheral products and
keypads for computers businesses continued to be our core
businesses. During the year, the largest segment — CED peripheral
products remained stable. With the continuous exploration in CED
peripheral products, the orders from peripheral products has
increased and offset the decline in traditional keypads products.
While for the computers and notebooks and mobile phones
segments have recorded a material decrease. The pressure of
economic downturn caused many consumers maintained wait-and-
see attitude in the market and most of our customers to reduce their
inventory. In addition, the Group continued to consolidate the
production plant, layoff excessive labours and impair the plant and
equipment. This inevitably brought the Group to have unsatisfactory
result this year.

OUTLOOK

According to the latest economic indicators, the U.S. economy is
forecasted to grow mildly the coming year, but will continue to show
uncertainties due to its inflationary pressure and expectations of
interest hikes. Furthermore, the strengthening United States Dollar
("USD") will continue to plague the economies of the emerging
markets. On the other hand, the Greek government-debt crisis
remains unsolved and continues to hamper economies in the
Eurozone, sovereign debt crisis is still threatening the economic
recovery of the entire Eurozone.

While for the PRC economy, the disappointing PRC economic
indicators in the first half of the year showed the unclear prospect in
near future. The operating environment in the PRC remains tough
and challenging for all manufacturing industries. To face these
challenges, the Group is to maintain its solid and pragmatic style of
management and focus on strengthening our financial position
preparing for deployment of new growth strategies at the right
timing. At the same time, we will stay concentrating on our core
business for going through this challenging period by maintaining our
competitiveness.

APPRECIATION

Last but not least, | would like to take this opportunity to thank the
loyal employees for their dedication and hard work during these
challenging times and also all shareholders of the Company,
customers, suppliers and business partners for their long term
support.

Huang Sheng-Shun
Chairman and Executive Director
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Business Review and Outlook

FRHORNESE

MARKET REVIEW

During the financial year, worldwide conditions were remained
uncertain due to sovereign debt crisis in Eurozone and expectation
of interest rate hikes in the U.S. Besides, under the influence of
strong USD and majority of the final products of our customers were
priced in USD, consumers now are more conscious on expenditure
to replace their electronic products except for those innovative
products. At the same time, the PRC economic growth and domestic
manufacturing industry experienced a slowdown resulting in sluggish
domestic consumption. All these factors ultimately deteriorated the
performance of our customers. Meanwhile, the immense popularity
achieved by tablet PC and smartphones with touch screen panels
has slowed down the demand for the conventional notebooks,
computers and mobile phones. In order to cope with this, the Group
has explored to produce the peripheral products in the consumer
electronic device markets and develop application ability of silicone
materials.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Company’s Overall Performance

With the market consolidation still severe, most of our customers
was facing downwards pressure on sales orders during the year.
This has inevitably affected their sales performance as well as the
Group’s. The turnover for the financial year ended 31 July 2015,
decreased by 8.8% as compared to last year. The primary source of
income of the Group still derived from sales of consumer electronic
devices peripheral products, and keypads for computers and
notebooks, and its percentage to total turnover were 52.2% and
20.7% respectively.

The portable devices with touch-screen panel such as smartphones
and tablet computers have continued to dominate the market while
the traditional ones accelerate to be phased out. According to latest
market research, the global computers market during the year
performed slightly below expectation. The notebooks and computers
shipments have recorded a decrease for the year. Moreover, as
Microsoft's Window 10 recently released, consumers maintained
wait-and-see attitude in the market, and the customers reduced
their inventory. As a result, these adversely affected the demand for
traditional products with keypads and hence the Group's turnover.

To cope with the shrink of keypads products market, the Group has
continued to explore the market of non-keypad products.
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With the nature of more environmental friendly and fancy design, the
daily living products made of silicone rubber become more common.
This trend also extended to those peripheral products of consumer
electronic devices. During the year, the Group was placing the effort
towards the introduction of application of silicone material and
demonstrated the ability to meet the customers’ specific
requirement. The success in expansion in customer base caused the
proportion of non-keypad sales continue to increase. With the
increase of awareness in silicone products, it is believed it will have
obvious contribution to the Group.

The operating environment in the PRC was still tough during the
year. The consecutive years of mandatory labour cost increase in the
PRC, increasing Consumer Price Index (CPI) and high absorption rate
due to lower turnover. To withstand these unfavorable factors, the
Group continued its tight cost controls and improvement in
operational efficiency to minimise the adverse impact on profit
margins. This brought the Group to obvious improvement in gross
profit margins.

OUTLOOK

The ongoing impact of uncertainties in global economy, especially
Europe and the PRC, will continue to constrain overall customer
demand in the coming year. With consumer sentiment remain weak,
the Group is expected to consequently operate in an unfavorable
business environment. At the same time, rising costs in the PRC
operation will continue to adversely affect the Group’s performance.
Although the recent depreciation of Renminbi (‘/RMB") can slightly
release the pressure of increasing cost, it brings more uncertainties
to many manufacturers in the PRC. The management will remain
cautious of the Group’s outlook.

As the use of silicone rubber are becoming more and more common
in daily life, the Group will continue to put more efforts on research
and development to improve product quality, develop application
ability of raw material and broaden its product mix. This proactive
strategy will enable the Group to convert to a silicone rubber
producer from a keypad producer, which can have a broader mix in
customer portfolio.

To continue to improve the performance, the Group will take extra
measures on cost control and enhancement of operational
efficiency. During the year, the Group has started the consolidation
of the production plants so as to reduce the fixed overhead costs. It
is anticipated the profit margin will improve in the near future.

We believed that these forward-looking efforts will strengthen the
leading position of the Group and pave the foundation in the future.

Business Review and Outlook
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I\/Ianagement Discussion and Analysis
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Turnover

Turnover represents gross revenue generated from the sales of our
products, net of sales tax and other similar taxes. Our turnover is
affected by the volume of total products sold and the product mix
because our product lines have different selling prices.

The consolidated turnover for the year ended 31 July 2015 was
decreased by 8.8% to HK$426.2 million (2014: HK$467.3 million) while
our loss attributable to equity shareholders was HK$159.4 million
(2014: HK$220.4 million).

Basic loss per share of the Company was HK20.08 cents (2014:
HK27.82 cents) per share based on the weighted average number of
778,546,000 shares of the Company (“Shares”) (2014: 778,541,000
Shares) in issue during the year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Consumer electronic devices peripheral products

Turnover for the consumer electronic devices peripheral products
increased by approximately 1.7% to HK$222.6 million in 2015 from
HK$218.9 million in 2014.

The global economy remained very volatile as sovereign debt crisis
in Eurozone persisted interest rate hikes in U.S. is predicted. The
recent disappointing PRC economic indicators also showed the
unclear prospects in the PRC economy. All these are weakening
consumer sentiment. As a result, the sales of keypads for the
consumer electronic devices dropped slightly during the year. With
popularity of the use of silicone, the turnover of those non-keypad
peripheral products for consumer electronic devices succeed to
compensate the drop in turnover of keypads products during the
year. It is expected those non-keypad products will become the new
driving force of the Group.

Mobile phone peripheral products

Turnover for the sales of mobile phone peripheral products
decreased by approximately 70.0% to HK$7.9 million in 2015 from
HK$26.2 million in 2014. The smartphones with touch-screen panels
has received mainstream attention in the market from consumers,
so the demand for the conventional mobile phones with keypads
was gradually phased out. This caused the turnover in this segment
to decrease significantly.

Keypads for computers and notebooks

Turnover for the sales of keypads for computers and notebooks
decreased by approximately 17.4% to HK$88.1 million in 2015 from
HK$106.5 million in 2014. The immense popularity achieved by tablet
computers has continued to deprive of the demand for traditional
notebooks and netbooks. Therefore, the Group has recorded a
decline in turnover for the consecutive years.

Automotive peripheral products

Turnover for the sales of automotive peripheral products increased
by approximately 11.8% to HK$34.6 million in 2015 from HK$30.9
million in 2014. The U.S. economy has recovered mildly during the
year, so consumer sentiment on the automotive market has
improved slightly. In addition, with the view to explore the market,
the Group has succeeded to expand its customer base globally. This
led the sales orders for automotive peripheral products increased
accordingly.

Lifestyle products

Turnover for sales of lifestyle products decreased by 17.4% to
HK$38.3 million in 2015 from HK$46.4 million in 2014. With market
competition still keen on lifestyle products, the turnover has
decreased during the year. The Group will continue to put more
effort to explore the market and work with our customers to develop
more unique products to protect and elevate their position in the
market.
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I\/Ianagement Discussion and Analysis
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Cost of Sales

Cost structure

The overall cost of sales decreased by approximately 20.3% from
HK$471.9 million in 2014 to HK$376.1 million in 2015. The operating
environment is still very tough for all PRC based manufacturers. The
Group had to face the increasing production costs that were induced
by increased labour wages and material costs. Besides, despite of
the drop in the turnover, the fixed overhead cannot be eliminated
which cause the average cost of sales to increase materially. With
effort of tight cost control and operational efficiency, the rate of
decrease in cost of sales is much higher than that of turnover.

Gross Profit

The gross profit of the Group for the year was HK$50.1 million while
there was gross loss of HK$4.7 million in 2014. Despite of the
contraction of turnover, the Group managed to improve gross profit
by consolidation of production process and cost control.

Other Operating Income

Other operating income decreased by approximately 55.1% to
HK$15.5 million in 2015 from HK$34.6 million in 2014. The decrease
was primarily due to gain on disposal of available-for-sale financial
assets and gain on profit guarantee in 2014 but no such items in
2015.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

Selling and distribution expenses increased by approximately 58.8%
to HK$44.8 million in 2015 from HK$28.2 million in 2014. When
counted as a percentage of turnover, the total amount was 10.5%
(2014: 6.0%). The increase was due to inflation and increase in labour
cost in the PRC together with the compensation to customers during
the year even though the sales volume slightly declined.

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses decreased by approximately 20.4% to
HK$103.9 million in 2015 from HK$130.6 million in 2014. Apart from
the cost control measures and the result of operation efficiency
improvement, the reason for the decrease in amount was due to the
fact that there was more layoff compensation cost in 2014.

Loss for the Year

Loss for the year ended 31 July 2015 was HK$159.4 million (2014:
HK$220.4 million). The net loss margin of our Group decreased from
47.2% for the year ended 31 July 2014 to 37.4% for the year ended 31
July 2015.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Group's dividend policy is that the Company will pay annual cash
dividends of not less than 30% of our Group’s audited consolidated
profits after taxation to our shareholders for the applicable year.
However, the determination to pay such dividends will be made at
the discretion of our Board and will be based upon our operating
results, cash flows, financial positions, capital requirements and
other relevant circumstances that the Board deems relevant. The
payment of dividends may be limited by legal restrictions and by
agreements that we may enter into in the future. Our Directors are of
the views that our dividend policy will not affect the sufficiency of
our working capital in the coming years.

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT AND TREASURY POLICY

The Group adopts a conservative approach for cash management
and investment on uncommitted funds. The net proceeds from the
international offering (as defined in the Prospectus) have mainly
been placed on short-term deposits with authorised financial
institutions in Hong Kong.

During the year, the Group's receipts were mainly denominated in
USD, Hong Kong Dollars (“"HKD") and RMB. Payments were mainly
made in USD and RMB.

In respect of the USD, the management regards that the foreign
exchange risk for HKD to USD is not material because (i) HKD remains
pegged to the USD and (ii) most of the Group’s purchases are
denominated in USD, which are to be settled by sales receipts in
usD.

In respect of the RMB, as the Group's production plants are located
in the PRC, most of our labour costs, manufacturing overheads,
selling and administrative expenses were denominated in RMB.
Therefore, the appreciation of RMB will adversely affect the Group’s
profitability.

During the year, the Group has entered into some RMB/USD
structured forward contracts to partly hedge the risk exposure. The
Group will continue to closely monitor foreign exchange exposure for
RMB and consider hedging significant exposure should the need
arises.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES IRENRSNRIHFEEIR

During the year, the Group’s source of fund was cash generated FR  AEBHELKRETE BB EENFRE
from net proceeds of the international offering and operating FIEFFEMELEHNIRE -

activities.

As at As at

31 July 2015 31 July 2014

R=-Z—5F R_ZE—F

+tA=+—H +tA=+—H

HK$’'000 HK$'000

FET FHIT

Cash and cash equivalents BERFELZEEY 103,556 200,111
Net cash (outflow) inflow B4 Ont)RAFERE (97,502) 98,582
Current ratio T eEn bk =& 2.7 3.0
Quick ratio RE) LR 2.3 2.6

With our strong financial background upon Listing on The Stock BEAEEBEEBHAXTSMAR A A ([
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), we expect  Frl) FHEtEEMKE - A AEEEES
we will have sufficient cash to cover future capital expenditure F#iE4 - BABRMNBERNERBEAE -
requirements.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SANBLREEHBLS - BHEATW
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES REE{H

Saved as disclosed in notes 26, 27 and 51, the Group had no material ~ &M 5526 ~ 27 RS1HEE N REBREE —
acquisition or disposal of any subsidiaries, associates and joint ZT—AE+A=+—HIFFERTES AUES
ventures for the year ended 31 July 2015. HEMBAR  BWMEATAREGERE -

T EATAY a,

_ wl.n;-::: S
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Management Discussion and Analysis

USE OF PROCEEDS

The net proceeds raised from the international offering received by
the Company was approximately HK$635 million.

The usage of net proceeds until 31 July 2015 are as follows:
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Planned Utilised
Particular amount amount
Fhil-al sTEIAR 2EAR
HKS$ million HKS$ million
BEBT BEBT
Expansion of production facilities for silicone &7k B2 A E R HE
rubber based products 468 (330)
Upgrade and expansion of upstream I RIEFE L EE R
production facilities 56 -
Strengthening research and development INs& 3L EE
capabilities 39 (39
Implementation of resources planning system — #117&RR &I Z 48 22 (1
General working capital —REEES 50 (50)
Total 45T 635 (420)

The remaining net proceeds have been deposited on short-term
basis in licensed financial institutions in Hong Kong and the PRC.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS, CONTINGENCIES AND CHARGES
ON ASSETS

Capital commitments contracted by the Group but not yet provided
for in the financial statements as at 31 July 2015 were approximately
HK$6.1 million (2014: HK$6.5 million), which was mainly related to the
acquisition of land use rights in Indonesia and expansion of
production capacity in the PRC. Such capital commitments will be
financed by the net proceeds from the international offering.

As at 31 July 2015, the Group had no material contingent liabilities.
As at 31 July 2015, certain properties of the Group of approximately

HK$8.1 million (2014: HK$8.3 million) were pledged to secure banking
facilities granted to the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
SE =R EESaYin

HUMAN RESOURCES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As the Group is committed to developing high value-added products,
such as lifestyle products and consumer electronic devices
peripheral products, experienced workers, engineers and
professionals are the most important assets to the Group. We offer
on-the-job trainings and encourage staff to attend continuous
professional trainings in order to update their skills and knowledge.

We offer competitive remuneration package, including quality staff
quarters, trainings, medical, insurance coverage and retirement
benefits, to all employees in Hong Kong and in the PRC. As at 31 July
2015, the Group has 1,995 permanent and temporary employees
(2014: 3,001). The total salaries and related costs for the year ended
31 July 2015 amounted to approximately HK$196.5 million (2014:
HK$249.4 million).

The Company adopted a Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme on 16 May
2007 for the purpose of recognition of employees’ contribution
before the Listing. As at 31 July 2015, 4,025,000 share options were
still outstanding under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, of which
2,515,000 share options are held by employees of the Group.

The Company also adopted a Post-IPO Share Option Scheme on 16
May 2007. As at 31 July 2015, for share options granted under the
Post-IPO Share Option Scheme on 24 December 2009, 4,196,000
share options were still outstanding, of which 2,245,000 share
options are held by employees of the Group.

As at 31 July 2015, for share options granted under the Post-IPO
Share Option Scheme on 11 January 2011, 3,349,000 share options
were still outstanding, of which 2,031,000 share options are held by
employees of the Group.
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The Company strives to attain and maintain high standards of
corporate governance best suited to the needs and interests of the
Group as it believes that effective corporate governance practices is
a fundamental to enhancing shareholder value and safeguarding
interests of shareholders and other stakeholders. The Board sets
appropriate policies and implements corporate governance practices
appropriate to the conduct and growth of the Group’s business.
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Compliance with Corporate Governance Code

The Company has adopted the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG
Code") contained in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”) which sets out principles of good corporate
governance and two levels of recommendations:

o Code Provisions, with which issuers are expected to comply or
give considered reasons for any deviation; and

o Recommended Best Practices, for guidance only, save that
issuers are encouraged to comply or give reasons for
deviation.

The Company has complied with the applicable code provisions of
the CG Code throughout the year ended 31 July 2015, except the
code provision C.1.2 which requires the management of the
Company to provide all members of the Board with monthly updates
giving a balanced and understandable assessment of the Company'’s
performance, position and prospects in sufficient detail to enable the
Board as a whole and each Director to discharge their duties.

During the year, the management of the Company did not provide
monthly updates to all members of the Board as required by the
code provision C.1.2, as all the executive Directors were involved in
the daily operation of the Group and were fully aware of the
performance, position and prospects of the Company, and the
management has provided to all directors of the Company (the
“Directors”) (including Non-Executive Director and Independent Non-
Executive Directors) quarterly updates giving a balanced and
understandable assessment of the Company’s performance, position
and prospects in sufficient detail prior to the regular board meetings
of the Company.

In addition, the management has provided all members of the Board,
in a timely manner, updates on any material changes to the
performance, position and prospects of the Company and sufficient
background or explanatory information for matters brought before
the Board.
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted its “Code of Ethics and Securities
Transaction” to regulate the Directors and relevant employees of the
Group in dealing securities of the Company on terms no less exacting
than those set out in the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers stated in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules
(the “Model Code”). The Model Code also provides guidelines and
procedures on handling conflict of interest of Directors.

In response to the specific enquiry by the Company, all the Directors
confirmed that they have complied with the required standard as set
out in the Model Code throughout the year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition of the Board of Directors

The board of Directors (the “Board”) of the Company currently
comprises four executive Directors, one non-executive Director and
four independent non-executive Directors. The function of the Board
is to guide the management to ensure the interests of the
shareholders of the Company are safeguarded.

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a
diverse board to enhance the quality of its performance. In
compliance with the requirement set out in code provision A.5.6 of
the CG Code, the Company adopted a board diversity policy (the
“Board Diversity Policy”) on 30 August 2013 which aims to set out
the approach to achieving diversity for the Board.

The policy statement of the Board Diversity Policy is that the
Company recognises the benefits of a Board that possesses a
balance of skills, experience, expertise and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the requirements of the businesses of the Company.

The Company maintains that Board appointment should be based on
merit that complements and expands the skills, experience and
expertise of the Board as a whole, taking into account gender, age,
professional experience and qualifications, cultural and educational
background, and any other factors that the Board might consider
relevant and applicable from time to time towards achieving a
diverse Board.
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The Nomination Committee of the Company is responsible for
reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board and
making recommendations to the Board on the appointment of new
directors of the Company from time to time to ensure that it has a
balanced composition of skills, experience and expertise appropriate
to the requirements of the businesses of the Company, with due
regard to the benefits of diversity on the Board. The Board as a
whole is also responsible for reviewing the succession plan for the
directors of the Company, in particular, the Chairman of the Board
and the Chief Executive Officer.

The Company seeks to achieve board diversity through the
consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The
Company will also take into account factors based on its own
business model and specific needs from time to time.

The size and composition of the Board are reviewed from time to
time, taking into account the scope and nature of operations of the
Company, to ensure that the size of the Board is adequate to provide
a diversity of views and facilitate effective decision making. The
Directors come from diverse background with varied expertise in
finance, legal industry and business fields. The biographical details of
the Directors and the relationships among them are set out in the
“Directors’ Profile” on pages 9 to 14 of this annual report and the
Company’s website. The Company has maintained on the Company’s
website and on the website of the Stock Exchange an updated list of
its Directors identifying their roles and functions and whether they
are Independent Non-Executive Directors. Independent Non-
Executive Directors are identified as such in all corporate
communications that disclose the names of Directors of the
Company.

Save as disclosed in the section of “Directors’ Profile”, none of the
Directors except Mr. Huang Sheng-Shun is the father of Mr. Huang
Te-Wei, has any financial, business, family or other material or
relevant relationships among members of the Board.
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Directors’ Appointment, Re-election, Resignation and SENZT - 8| - FHTRE
Removal

The position, appointment date and re-election date of the current IRIEEZESKEMBAL - T AL TR A B0

Board members are as follows: N
Date of first Date of last
appointment to  re-election as
Name of Director Position the Board Director
BREEER BE—IR
EEERE EREES
EEgE Bz K EH EENAH
Huang Sheng-Shun Chairman/Executive Director 23/2/2006 12/12/2013
=552 ERPTES
Huang Te-Wei Chief Executive Officer/Executive Director 23/2/2006 12/12/2013
=R TR, WITES
Wong Tak Leung Executive Director 23/2/2006 12/12/2014
=HER WITES
Kwok Yiu Kai Executive Director 1/8/2014 12/12/2014
RB= WITES
Wu Ih Chen Non-Executive Director 23/2/2006 4/12/2012
REH ENITES
Hsieh Yu Independent Non-Executive Director 16/5/2007 12/12/2013
AR BUIFHITES
Jou Yow-Jen Independent Non-Executive Director 29/12/2009 12/12/2014
Ahe BUIFHITES
Yeung Chi Tat Independent Non-Executive Director 16/5/2007 4/12/2012
T BUIFHITES
Kirk Yang Independent Non-Executive Director 18/4/2008 12/12/2014
T IEA BUIFHITES

In accordance with the Company’s articles of association, all REAXAQAFIMNABEZEZME) - IEES(BEH
Directors (including executive Directors, non-executive Directors and  fTEF - JEITEE R B IENTES )T EH
independent non-executive Directors) are subject to retirement by A EB=FWRERE K - Bt - REMHELE - Hit
rotation at least once every three years. Accordingly, at the annual #EERGEELEBEEIN S —AF+=A
general meeting to be held on 11 December 2015, Mr. Wu |h Chen, +—HB&{TZBREBFARE LHESR

Mr. Hsieh Yu and Mr. Yeung Chi Tat shall retire from offices by

rotation.
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Furthermore, all Directors (including non-executive Directors) were
appointed for a specific term. Formal letters of appointment or
service contracts setting out the key terms and conditions of their
appointment were in place. In particular, each of Mr. Huang Sheng-
Shun, Mr. Huang Te-Wei and Mr. Wong Tat Leung were appointed as
Executive Directors in 2006 and have renewed their service contracts
with the Company for a period of three years commencing from 16
May 2013 and subject to a termination by giving not less than 3
months’ prior written notice.

Mr. Kwok Yiu Kai was appointed as an Executive Director in 2014. He
has entered into a service contract with the Company on 1 August
2014 for a period of two years commencing from 1 August 2014 and
subject to a termination by giving not less than 3 months’ prior
written notice.

Mr. Wu lh Chen was appointed as an Executive Director in 2006. His
service contract has been renewed on 16 May 2010 and terminated
on 1 February 2011. The Company then issued a formal appointment
letter to Mr. Wu for appointing him as a non-executive Director for a
period of three years commencing from 1 February 2011 and has
renewed for a period of three years commencing from 1 February
2014 and subject to a termination by giving not less than one
month’s prior written notice.

Mr. Kirk Yang has entered into a formal appointment letter with the
Company for appointing him as a non-executive Director for a term
of three years commencing from 1 February 2009, subject to a
termination by either party giving not less than one month’s prior
written notice. His appointment letter has been renewed on 1
February 2012 for a period of three years commencing from 1
February 2012 and subject to a termination by giving not less than
one month’s prior written notice. With effect from 15 November
2012, he was re-designated from non-executive director to
independent non-executive director of the Company. Mr. Kirk Yang
has entered into a new appointment letter for appointment him as
an independent non-executive Director for a term of three years
commencing from 15 November 2012 which was subject to a
termination by giving not less than one month’s prior written notice.

Mr. Hsieh Yu and Mr. Yeung Chi Tat have entered into formal
appointment letters for appointing them as independent non-
executive Directors each for a term of three years in 2007. Their
appointment letters have been renewed again on 16 May 2014 for a
period of three years commencing from 16 May 2014 and subject to
a termination by giving not less than one month’s prior written
notice.
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Professor Jou Yow-Jen has entered a formal appointment letter for
appointing her as an independent non-executive Director for a term
of three years in 2009. Her appointment letter has been renewed on
29 December 2012 for a period of three years commencing from 29
December 2012 and subject to a termination by giving not less than
one month's prior written notice.

The Board

The composition of the Board is well balanced with each Director
having sound industry knowledge, extensive corporate and strategic
planning experience and/or expertise relevant to the business of the
Group. All executive Directors, non-executive Director and
independent non-executive Directors bring a variety of experience
and expertise to the Company.

Executive Directors

RZZZNE AR HECRECRABILIE
PWITESIIVERNZAE  A=F L EAH
AR —FEL TR —EANELEE@MBIMEL
- HEFEER -+ -_A=-t+NBE
E AT —_Ft+_-_A-t+hB#EFAEH=
FoWARABETOR—EANSLEMBIAM
#AE -

S

EEXgNRERAMK MEBREFHABEER
SEFAREXBHBORETENS  EE8ND
ENRBERBERE XFPIHE - MAERTE

T FMTERERBIUFNITESHERARAR
wmORERER R EFIE -

BITES

Name Position Current Function/Experience
A -2 HARE &5
Huang Sheng-Shun Chairman & Executive Director . development of corporate operation and
=k ERFNTES strategies
PEEEREBNER
Huang Te-Wei Chief Executive Officer & . marketing, administration and financial
=EE Executive Director planning
TRBHFNTES TR ~ TR EE R EEE
. daily operation of the Group and strategic
planning
REER BT SE KRR
o overseeing the Group's compliance and
internal control matters
EEAEENGHERANBEEEE
Wong Tak Leung Executive Director & Deputy . sales and marketing
=HER General Manager HE RITIHHEE
MITEE kAR
Kwok Yiu Kai Executive Director & Chief o responsible for company culture building,
SPR(E Human Resources Officer merger and acquisition projects, human

HITEERANERBEE
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resources policy formulation, manpower
planning, compensation and benefits,
training and development, performance
management and staff relations
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Non-Executive Director
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FUITES

Name Position Experience/Contribution

®H B bl =V !

Wu Ih Chen Non-Executive Director o founded the Group with the Chairman of the
REH FEHITES Board in 1991 and has extensive experience in

Independent Non-Executive Directors

silicon rubber industry
R—AN—FEREFRFRLIPRER - R BE
BREERR

BYFHITES

Name Independence°t Experience/Contribution

#E & 37 el )¢

Yeung Chi Tat 4 o auditing and corporate restructuring

TR Bt RHSH

Hsieh Yu v o legal and compliance

BiEA ERRER

Jou Yow-Jen 4 o statistics, econometrics, financial time series,

Ehe analysis and financial information analysis
Bt~ FGrERE - MBREFY - 2R
HEER DT

Kirk Yang 4 o corporate finance, investment, merger and

15 FEE acquisition, public relations and institutional

investors relations
EGK - 8E - I8 - AHBEERMEBERE
EEE

Note: all independent non-executive directors have fulfilled all the criteria for — Mfa :©  FIABUIFRNTEEFEFE LMHRRE313

independence as stated in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
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Board Meetings and Board Practices

The Board holds at least four regular meetings a year which are
normally scheduled in the fourth quarter of the preceding year. The
Board will also meet on other occasions when a board-level decision
on a particular matter is required. During the financial year ended 31
July 2015, the Board held four regular meetings in October 2014,
January, March and July 2015. The attendance records of the
Directors to these board meetings are set out below:

EFETSHENESZEEMN

EXRe8FROBTNESEH
—FENFHREERARE EFGNENRER
FRFLEEGREREHEZ -BE_T—F
FLA=T-BLURFE EFeRXR_F—N
FHARZZE-AF—A ZAREABEFTER
EHEHE - TRETEERZFESFTRANY
FERLER -

AL MA L
—RERA

Number of meetings

attended/Number of
meetings held
HERE EBRH
Executive Directors HITESE
Huang Sheng-Shun = e 4/4
Huang Te-Wei =HEE 4/4
wong Tak Leung BER 3/4
Kwok Yiu Kai (appointed on 1 August 2014) SRERZZT—MENA—BEEE) 4/4
Non-executive Director HHITEE
Wu Ih Chen REHR 4/4
Independent Non-executive Directors BUFHITEE
Hsieh Yu Eikiy 4/4
Jou Yow-Jen B4 3/4
Yeung Chi Tat HEE 4/4
Kirk Yang SRR 4/4

All minutes of the meetings, record in sufficient detail the matters
considered and decisions reached, are kept by the Company
Secretary and are opened for inspection by Directors at any time.

The meetings are structured to allow open discussion. All Directors
participate in discussing the strategy, operational and financial
performance and internal control of the Group.

The Company Secretary assists the Chairman to prepare the agenda
of the meeting and each Director may request to include any matters
in the agenda. At least 14 days’ notice is given to the Directors for
the regular meetings by the Company. All substantive agenda items
have comprehensive briefing papers which are distributed by the
Company Secretary to Directors at least 3 days before the Board
meetings so as to ensure that the Directors may receive accurate,
timely and clear information to make informed decisions regarding
the matters discussed in the meetings.
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All Directors may access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary who regularly updates the Board on governance and
regulatory matters. The Company Secretary is also responsible for
ensuring the procedures of the Board meetings are observed and
providing the Board opinions on matters in relation to the compliance
with the procedures of the Board meetings.

If a substantial shareholder or a Director has a conflict of interest in a
matter to be considered by the Board, the Company will not dealt
with the matter by way of written resolution or by a Board committee
(except if that Board committee was specifically established for such
purpose) but by a physical board meeting. The independent non-
executive Director with no material interest in the matter will attend
the meeting to deal with the matter as appropriate subject to the
Listing Rules and/or the Company’s articles of association, as
appropriate, any Director who or whose associates have any material
interest in any proposed Board resolutions shall not vote (nor be
counted in the quorum) on the relevant Board resolutions.

In addition to the four regular Board meetings held during the
financial year ended 31 July 2015, the Chairman held one meeting
with Non-executive Directors (including Independent Non-executive
Directors) in July 2015 without the presence of Executive Directors.

Functions of the Board of Directors

The Board is responsible for the oversight of the management of the
Company's business and affairs with the goal of maximizing long
term shareholder’s value, while balancing broader stakeholder
interests. The Board has the following main duties:

o determine all the corporate matters;

o be responsible for the management, direction and supervision
of the businesses of the Group; and

o be responsible to ensure the effectiveness on Group's financial
reporting and compliance.
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The Board has matters reserved for its decisions and these include:
o the Group's long-term strategy and business plan;

o major capital projects, acquisitions or divestments;

o funding decision of the Group;

o internal control, risk management and compliance; and

° annual and interim financial results and shareholder
communications.

The Board delegates the authority and responsibility for
implementing day-to-day operations, business strategies and
management of the Group’s businesses to the executive Directors,
senior management and certain specific responsibilities to the Board
committees.

When the Board delegates aspects of its management and
administration functions to the management, it has given clear
directions as to the powers of management, in particular, with
respect to the circumstances. While allowing management
substantial autonomy to run and develop the business, the Board
plays a key role in structuring and monitoring the reporting systems
and internal controls. The composition, functions of each Board
committee and their major role and function are described below.
The final decision still rests with the Board unless otherwise provide
for in the terms of reference of relevant committees.

Independent Non-executive Directors

The Independent Non-executive Directors bring a wide range of skills
and business experience to the Group. They also bring independent
judgment on the issues of strategy, performance and risk through
their contribution to the Board meetings and to the Board’s
committee meetings.

In compliance with Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing Rules, there are four
Independent Non-executive Directors, representing over one-third of
the Board. Among the four Independent Non-executive Directors,
one of them has appropriate professional qualifications in accounting
or related financial management expertise as required by Rule 3.10(2)
of the Listing Rules.

The Company has received from each of its Independent Non-
executive Directors the written confirmation of his/her independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company, based on
such confirmations, considers, Mr. Hsieh Yu, Professor Jou Yow-Jen,
Mr. Yeung Chi Tat and Mr. Kirk Yang to be independent.
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The independence of each Director is reviewed annually by the
Nomination Committee based on the definition of independence
defined in the Listing Rules. The Nomination Committee is satisfied
as to the independence of Mr. Hsieh Yu, Professor Jou Yow-Jen, Mr.
Yeung Chi Tat and Mr. Kirk Yang, all of whom have fulfilled all the
criteria for independence as stated in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Supply of and Access to Information

The management supplied the Board with appropriate and sufficient
explanation and information through financial reports, business and
operational reports and budget statements, in a timely manner, to
enable them to make informed decisions.

The management also provided the Board with quarterly updates
giving a balanced and understandable assessment of the Company’s
performance, position and prospects in sufficient details to enable
the Board as a whole and each director to discharge their duties
under Rule 3.08 and Chapter 13 of the Listing Rules.

The Directors are also provided with names and contact details of
the Company's senior management and the Company Secretary to
facilitate Director access to senior management and the Company
Secretary.

Continuing Professional Development

The Directors keep abreast of responsibilities as a Director of the
Company and of the conduct, business activities and development
of the Company. The Company Secretary from time to time updates
and provides written training materials to the Directors, and
organises seminars on the latest development of the Listing Rules,
applicable laws, rules and regulations relating to Directors’ duties
and responsibilities. The Directors may request the Company,
pursuant to the policy for Directors to seek independent professional
advice, to provide independent professional advice at the expense of
the Company to discharge his duties to the Company.

During the year ended 31 July 2015, the Company has organised two
training sessions on the following topics for the Directors and the
management of the Company to attend:

1. Risk Management and Internal Control; and

2. Disclosure of Financial Information with reference to the New
Companies Ordinance and Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and Proposed Minor/Housekeeping Rule
Amendments
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The Company Secretary maintains records of training attended by

the Directors. The training attended by the Directors and the

Company Secretary during the year ended 31 July 2015 are as

NEMERBESHREENGLEE - EERAFA
WERHBEZE_T—AFLA=Z+—HIEFELR
I

follows:
Directors Training Matters®°®
E; j;:n‘c'gmglﬁ(ﬁﬁa)
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Huang Sheng-Shun BRI a,b
Mr. Huang Te-Wei =L E ab
Mr. Wong Tak Leung HEREE a,b
Mr. Kwok Yiu Kai BRERE a,b
Non-Executive Director FHTESE
Mr. Wu Ih Chen REWEE a,b
Independent Non-Executive Directors BUFHTEE
Mr. Hsieh Yu Eki e a,b
Madam Jou Yow-Jen B+ a,b
Mr. Yeung Chi Tat BREELE a,b
Mr. Kirk Yang 1B RERB A a,b

ab

Company Secretary REHE
Mr. Chan Oi Fat PRE R STA ab

Note: HizF

a. Corporate governance a. TEER

b. Regulatory b. EE

Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance

The Company has renewed Directors’ and Officers’ liabilities
insurance for all the Directors and the senior management of the
Company for the year 2015/2016. The insurance covers them against
costs, charges, expenses and liabilities incurred arising out of the
corporate activities.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

According to the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of
the Chairman, Mr. Huang Sheng-Shun, and the Chief Executive
Officer (the "CEQ”"), Mr. Huang Te-Wei are segregated in order to
reinforce their independence and accountability.

There are clear demarcations of responsibility and authority between
the Chairman and the CEO which ensure an appropriate balance of
power, increased accountability and greater capacity of the Board
for independent decision-making.
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The responsibilities of the Chairman include:

1.

10.

ensuring all Directors are properly briefed on matters to be
discussed at Board meetings,

ensuring all Directors receive adequate, accurate, clear,
complete and reliable information in a timely manner,

providing leadership for the Board;

ensuring that the Board works effectively, performs its
responsibilities and discusses all key issues in a timely manner;

ensuring that, with the assistance of the Company Secretary,
settles and approves the agenda for Board meetings taking
into account any matters proposed by the other Directors for
inclusion in the agenda;

taking primary responsibility for ensuring that good corporate
governance practices and procedures are in place. Assisted by
the Company Secretary, the Chairman oversees the
implementation of the practices and procedures on Corporate
Governance;

giving each Director an opportunity to express his/her different
views at Board meetings and to voice their concerns;
encouraging all Directors to fully contribute to the Board'’s
affairs and ensuring that the Board acts in the best interests of
the Company; allowing sufficient time for discussion of issues
and ensuring that Board decisions fairly reflect Board
consensus,

at least annually holding meetings with the Non-executive
Directors without the Executive Directors present;

ensuring that appropriate steps are taken to provide effective
communication with shareholders and that their views are
communicated to the Board as a whole; and

promoting a culture of openness and debate by facilitating the
effective contribution of Non-executive Directors in particular
and ensuring constructive relations between Executive and
Non-executive Directors.
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The responsibilities of the CEO include: TIRBH BT B 1E
1. providing leadership for the management; 1. REERE:

2. implementing and reporting to the Board on the Company’s 2. #{TW AT S S ERA D RIHE

strategy;
3. overseeing the realization by the Company of the objectives 3. ERAATERESSIIUNERE:
set by the Board;

4. providing all such information to the Board as is necessary to 4. AEESRHEREEBREMEN—1)

enable the Board to monitor the performance of management;

B

5. leading the management of the Company’s relationships with 5. 4BEARAQARIRBEZFNDENBIE
its stakeholders,

6. putting in place programs for management development and 6. EEBEIEERE METTE
succession,

7. with the Financial Controller, establishing and maintaining 7. S EAEHFEHIFT REZEE NN SES
proper internal controls and systems as well as disclosure EEmEGE  ARBEREERET &
controls and procedures; and

8. discharging such duties and authority as may be delegated in 8. ZBEEENEEREETHEE RITERE

writing to him by the Board.

BOARD COMMITTEES EELEE

To assist the Board in the execution of its duties, the Board has #E€EBRARLEEESEZESZRIETHE MU
currently delegated specific functions to five Board committees. #HBIEFEHNITHRE - EELE e EEREE
They are the Audit Committee (“AC"), Remuneration Committee &([BE&ZEg ) - FMZES((FMZE
(“RC"), Nomination Committee (‘NC"), Compliance Committee (‘CC") &) - IRZZE&([1IRRZE€ ) AREES

and Executive Committee (“EC"), composition of each committees ([&HZEEe ) RHTEES((HTEES])
are as follows: FMEZEGHEKNT -

Committee membership

ZEERE
Audit ~ Nomination Remuneration  Compliance Executive
Name Committee ~ Committee =~ Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee
®E ENEEE REZEE FzEe SREEE HiTZEE
Huang Sheng-Shun ah v
Huang Te-Wei HER v v
Hsieh Yu EIEA v v v
Jou Yow-Jen B¥ % v v
Yeung Chi Tat HEE v v v v
Kirk Yang BER v v v
Chan Oi Fat RE% v v
* Pai Chin-Kang S HE % v
* i Yung-Ming * 2Kk v v

FRHBECREEGRRNTZEGKE A=
Z-MEAA=THRENR - BERELESE
REREEENWTZREGKE BT —MF
NA=+HREX -

* Li Yung-Ming resigned as member of Compliance Committee and  *
Executive Committee with effect from 30 September 2014. Mr. Pai
Chih-Kang be appointed as member of Compliance Committee and
Executive Committee with effect from 30 September 2014.

TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2015




The written terms of reference of AC, NC and RC are available on the
Company's website and the Stock Exchange’s website.

Audit Committee

AC was established on 16 May 2007 and comprises four members.
All are Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Yeung Chi
Tat (Chairman), Mr. Hsieh Yu, Professor Jou Yow-Jen and Mr. Kirk
Yang. The external auditor and the Financial Controller also attended
meetings of AC by invitation.

The committee’s responsibilities include the following:

reports to the Board and holds regular meetings to assist the
Board in discharging its responsibilities for effective financial
reporting controls, internal controls and risk management.

monitors the integrity of the Company’s financial statements,
annual report and accounts and half-year report and reviews
significant financial reporting judgements contained in them.

reviews, makes recommendations and reports to the Board on
findings relating to the financial statements, reports and
accounts, systems of internal control and risk management
and compliance issues.

oversees the Company's relationship with the external auditor,
reviews auditor’s letter of engagement and makes
recommendations to the Board on the appointment and
reappointment of external auditor.

reviews and monitors the external auditor’s independence and
objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standards.

reviews external auditor's management letter and any material
queries raised by the auditor to the management and the
management’s response.

Further details on the work of the committee for the year 2014/2015
could be found under “Audit Committee Report” of this report.
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Remuneration Committee

The members of RC are Mr. Yeung Chi Tat (Chairman), Mr. Hsieh Yu,
Professor Jou Yow-Jen and Mr. Kirk Yang. All of whom are
Independent Non-executive Directors.

The committee met once during the year. The attendance records
are set out below:

FMEESKERGEELRE(ER)  HHBE
- AP HERGERSLE 2 RB I
WITES -
ZEGFERNRIT-RgE  KEHRELESRIW
T~

No. of meetings

attended/
Name No. of meetings held
HE HERE EBRE
Yeung Chi Tat (Chairman) BEEEE) 1
Hsieh Yu EIR 11
Jou Yow-Jen AhE 1/1
Kirk Yang T IEA 1/1

The responsibilities of the committee include the following:

o recommend to the Board the Group’s remuneration policy for
the Executive Directors and the senior management of the
Company;

o consider and advise on the terms of any contract to be offered
to a Director, and

o monitor the remuneration package of the Executive Directors
and senior management and make recommendations thereto.

Further information of the committee’s activities is contained in
"Remuneration Committee Report” of this report.
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Nomination Committee

NC comprises four members. All of whom are Independent Non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Yeung Chi Tat (Chairman), Mr. Hsieh
Yu, Professor Jou Yow-Jen and Mr. Kirk Yang.

The key objective of the committee is to ensure the Board comprises
individuals with a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s
business so as to enhance Board effectiveness.

The committee met once during the year, the attendance of the
committee members are shown in the following table:
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REZESHNEKEANK - 2EHREILIEHR
TE RERGEERE(IE)  WHELE A
PDEHERIGREBEE

ZE92 I EREAWRE R OENERE
EREFAANAEBREL 2 {ABHER
B - R EE RS -

o

ZEGFABT-REH  TRETZEEK
#H E RO

\

Number of meeting

attended/
Name Number of meeting held
HH HERE EBRE
Yeung Chi Tat (Chairman) BEE(EE) 11
Hsieh Yu A 11
Jou Yow-Jen VO 11
Kirk Yang S RER 11

The criteria for appointment of a new director are set out below:

o the independence in case of an independent non-executive
Director;

° possess core competencies that meet the needs of the
Company; and

o be able to commit time and carry out duties and
responsibilities.

The committee leads the process and makes recommendation of the
appointment of new Director to the Board as follows:

o evaluate the balance of skills, knowledge, experience and
diversity of perspective on the Board and determine the role
and desirable competencies for a particular appointment in
consultation with the management;

o review the portfolio of the potential candidate to assess
suitability; and

o made recommendation to the Board.
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Significant matters discussed by the committee are summarised as
follows:

o To consider the re-election of the retiring directors at the
forthcoming annual general meeting having regard to his
contribution and performance;

o To access the independence of independent non-executive
Directors; and

o To review the structure, size and composition of the Board.

Compliance Committee

CC currently comprises Mr. Yeung Chi Tat (Chairman), Mr. Huang Te-
Wei, Mr. Chan Oi Fat and Mr. Pai Chih-Kang (appointed on 30
September 2014) in which Mr. Yeung Chi Tat is an Independent Non-
executive Director and Mr. Huang Te-Wei is an Executive Director.

ZBEEUmNEASAMMIAT :

REBERTEEFNAERMMERR  ZERERE
BRAFASERRIES

o FIEBIUERITEEMNBIYM &

o  RIEFENERE  RENEK-

BRZES
AREZESRNMBEERL(IRE)  ERESL
£REZAERABTSEAE(R-_F—HFA
A=1TBEZRE) ETHETERERBULIFY
ﬁ%%)&%ﬁﬁ?ﬁiﬁiﬂﬁﬁi FOXBEER

0

Mr. Li Yung-Ming resigned as the member of the committee on 30 —MFENA=THBFEZEERE  r MAE
September 2014 while Mr. Pai Chih-Kang was appointed on the same Jif*ﬁib"\\ﬂ HEZE -
day.
The committee met four times during the year, the attendance ZE@RARFEEITINASH K B HFLEE
records are set out below: Ha
Number of meetings
attended/
Name Number of meetings held
HE HERE ERRH
Yeung Chi Tat (Chairman) BEEEE) 4/4
Huang Te-Wei HER 3/4
Chan Oi Fat ﬁ% K 4/4
Pai Chih-Kang HER
(appointed on 30 September 2014) (R=—F—mENA=+HEZ(T) 4/4
Li Yung-Ming (resigned on 30 September 2014) oK (R =ZE—P9F N A=+ HEHT) 0/4

The major activities undertaken by the committee were overseeing
the financial, legal, statutory and the Listing Rules requirements,
internal control and corporate governance practices of the Group.
The committee reported their discussion and recommendation to
the Board periodically.

The overall responsibility of the committee is to ensure that the
Group complies with all the relevant rules, laws and regulations and
the Listing Rules.
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Executive Committee

EC was established on 3 September 2007 with specific written terms
of reference. The committee currently comprises four members, by
whom two are Executive Directors, namely Mr. Huang Sheng-Shun,
Mr. Huang Te-Wei, Mr. Chan Oi Fat and Mr. Pai Chih-Kang. On 30
September 2014, Mr. Li Yung-Ming resigned as a member of the
committee while Mr. Pai Chih-Kang was appointed on the same day.

The committee is responsible for the day-to-day management of the
Group's businesses, the overall financial performance of the Group
in fulfillment of strategy, plans and budgets and the Group capital
expenditures as defined in the terms of reference.

The committee reports these topics to the Board their conclusions
and recommendations.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ and Auditor’s acknowledgement

The Audit Committee and the Board have reviewed the Company’'s
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 July 2015.
The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
accounts and presenting a balanced, clear and comprehensive
assessment for the Company’s performance, position and prospects.
The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Messrs. SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited (“SHINEWING”) acknowledged
their reporting responsibilities in the auditor’s report on the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 July 2015 as
set out in pages 93 to 94 of this report.
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Auditor’s Remuneration

During the year ended 31 July 2015, SHINEWING was appointed as
the Group’s auditor until the conclusion of the forthcoming annual
general meeting. The remuneration paid/payable to SHINEWING in
respect of their audit and non-audit services were as follows:

ez 25 Bif 7 &

HE-Z-AFEA=Z+—HLFE  FXKFHHM
BRI ATEENZEA  THEEERFAST
RGERBIE - BB RIEBARBEA TEA
ZKFP R EB T

2015

—E-8F

HK$'000

FET

Audit services FAT RS 1,060
Non-audit services IEFETARTS

Other advisory services H {th BB R AR 7% 200

Total @t 1,260

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 July
2015 were audited by SHINEWING. The Audit Committee has
recommended to the Board that SHINEWING be nominated for
appointment as the auditor of the Company at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary, Mr. Chan Oi Fat, plays an important role in
supporting the Board by ensuring good information flow within the
Board and that board policy and procedures are followed.

The Company Secretary has day-to-day knowledge of the Company’s
affairs. He reports to the Board through the Chairman and CEO. All
Directors may access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary. He regularly updates the Board on governance and
regulatory matters. He also facilitates induction and professional
development of Directors.

The Board is fully involved in selection, appointment and dismissal of
the Company Secretary.

The Company Secretary is also responsible for ensuring the
procedures of the Board meetings are observed and providing the
Board opinions on matters in relation to the compliance with the
procedures of the Board meetings.

During the year ended 31 July 2015, the Company Secretary has
undertaken 28 hours of relevant professional training in compliance
with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, details refer to “Continuing
Professional Development” set out on pages 45 to 46 of this report.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT

Convene of General Meetings

The Board strives to maintain an on-going dialogue with the
shareholders of the Company. The Company uses annual general
meeting ("AGM") as one of the principal channels for communicating
with the shareholders. The Company ensures that shareholders’
views are communicated to the Board. Shareholders are encouraged
to participate in general meetings or to appoint proxies to attend and
vote at meetings for and on their behalf if they are unable to attend
the meetings. The process of the Company’s general meeting are
monitored and reviewed on a regular basis, and, if necessary,
changes will be made to ensure that shareholders’ needs are best
served.

At the general meeting, each substantially separate issue has been
considered by a separate resolution, including the election of
individual Directors. The Chairman of the Board, chairmen of the
respective board committees and the external auditor usually attend
annual general meetings to inter-face with and answer questions
from the shareholders.

The last annual general meeting of the Company was held on 12
December 2014 (2014 AGM") at Rooms 1 and 2, United Conference
Centre, 10/F., United Centre, 95 Queensway, Admiralty, Hong Kong.
The Directors, including the Chairman of the Board, the Chairman of
the Audit Committee, and representative of the external auditor of
the Company, SHINEWING, attended, in person or via telephone, the
2014 AGM. The attendance records of the Directors to the 2014 AGM
are set out below:
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Meeting(s)
Directors Attended/Held
= HERE EERE
Executive Directors HITESE
Mr. Huang Sheng-Shun Y S il
Mr. Huang Te-Wei =R 11
Mr. Wong Tak Leung HEREE il
Mr. Kwok Yiu Kai SRR AE Al
Non-Executive Director FHITESE
Mr. Wu Ih Chen RERLE 11
Independent Non-Executive Directors BYFHITESE
Mr. Hsieh Yu Eifasites il
Madam Jou Yow-Jen RAsp® L+ Al
Mr. Yeung Chi Tat HEELE il
Mr. Kirk Yang TS ERR A = il
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Notice to shareholders for the 2014 AGM was sent to shareholders
more than 20 clear business days prior to the 2014 AGM. The
chairman of the meeting exercised his power under the Company’s
Articles of Association to put each proposed resolution to vote by
way of a poll. The Company adopted poll voting for all resolutions
put to vote at the meeting. The procedures for voting by poll at the
2014 AGM were contained in the circular of the Company to the
shareholders, which was dispatched together with the 2014 annual
report, and were further explained at the 2014 AGM prior to the polls
being taken. Separate resolutions were proposed at the 2014 AGM
on each substantive issue and the percentage of votes cast in favor
of such resolutions as disclosed in the announcement of the
Company dated 12 December 2014 are set out below:

—E-NMFRRBAFAGZREREER =S
—OFRFBFRERITABBA - HETELEE
HETERE KRgEEIERARAMERMA
BIFTEE FRORE ) - SR EREMFZRUEE A
TR ARBIRIBEEAG KA A REZRE
AEREFNETRR - B —MFERFAF
ARG FUREAFRNKANER - BIHRERF]
BREABAA - BREBKE R - —NFEFR
—HETRE  MEBRARFIE-Z—NFRE
BERNSHETIRERIMNARE - R —NFER
RAFAS L SEAEHEHYUBEBBRERIE
2 MERBERAZRNZHEAENE DL (R
AARBA—Z—MOF+ A+ _HHREF
BER)FIEHMT -

Percentage
of Votes cast
Resolutions proposed at the 2014 AGM in favor
BRHNRH
REZB-—NERABEASREZNRER FriS Y E 2t
1. Toreceive and consider the audited consolidated financial statements of the reports of 100%
directors and the auditors of the Company for the year ended 31 July 2014.
BERERANTBE_ZNFELA=T—HLEENKEERGEeBREEESTgmER
2R R ©
2. ()  Tore-elect Mr. Kwok Yiu Kai as a director of the Company. 100%
HERBRELERRRRES
(i) Tore-elect Mr. Wong Tak Leung as a director of the Company. 100%
ERERREER/RAARESE -
(i) To re-elect Professor Jou Yow-Jen as a director of the Company. 100%
ERANEELAARRES -
(iv)  To re-elect Mr. Kirk Yang as a director of the Company. 97.1550%
SEGEBLEERNATES
3. Toauthorize the board of directors of the Company to fix the remuneration of the Directors. 99.9993%
BEAAFESEETESTHME -
4. To re-appoint auditor and authorize the board of directors to fix their remuneration. 99.9993%
ENEEREMIEEEEEETEMS -
5. To approve granting the general mandate to the Directors to allot, issue and deal with the 95.2300%
Company’s shares.
HERTEE —BEBEARE  BTREERAQTRG -
6.  To approve granting the general mandate to the Directors to repurchase the Company’s 99.9989%
shares.
BERTES —REEABLRIARARIRG °
7. To authorize the Directors to extend the general mandate to issue new shares by adding the 97.1532%

number of shares repurchased.

REEEEMAMBRARN B BABTHROD N —RXE -

All resolutions put to shareholders at the 2014 AGM were passed.
The Company’s Branch Share Registrars were appointed as
scrutineers to monitor and count the poll votes cast at that meeting.
The results of the voting by poll were published on the websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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Procedures by which enquiries may put to the Board

Shareholders may put forward enquiries to the Board through the
Company Secretary who will direct the enquiries to the Board for
handling. The contact details of the Company Secretary are as
follows:

Ta Yang Group Holdings Limited
Flat 28, 23/F., Metro Centre Il,
21 Lam Hing Street,

Kowloon Bay, Kowloon

Hong Kong

Email: alfred@tayanggroup.com
Tel No.: (852) 3678-5088

Fax No.: (852) 3678-5099

How shareholders can convene an extraordinary general
meeting/procedures for putting forward proposals at a
shareholders’ meeting

The Board may whenever it thinks fit call extraordinary general
meetings. Any one or more shareholders holding at the date of
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up
capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary sent to the
aforesaid address, to require an extraordinary general meeting to be
called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two months
after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one days of
such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting the
requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner,
and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a
result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Furthermore, shareholders of the Company may propose a person
for election as a Director of the Company. The procedures of which
are available at the Company's website.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

Significant changes in articles of association

During the year, there is no significant change to the Company’s
Articles of Association.

Shareholdings information

As at 31 July 2015

HK$2,000,000,000 divided into
20,000,000,000 Shares of HK$0.1
each

Authorised Capital

HK$77,892,300 divided into
778,923,000 Shares of HK$0.1 each

Issued and fully-paid

The following table summarised the existing shareholding structure
of the Company as at 31 July 2015:

REERER
sz EaKNEE
R RA TS IR A BARE) -

HRER

R=-ZB-HEFtA=1+—AH

SETERRA 2,000,000,000/8 7T * 25
20,000,000,000 A% & A% &
0.1 TR 1D

BEITRER 77,892,300787C * DA

778,923,000 f% = A% I (&
0.1 TR 1D

TEBINARRRR —ZE-—AFEA=+—HNER
BRI

% of issued

No. of capital of

Category Shares the Company
AN E

B2 RITRA

k=Rl RHEE KBS
Controlling shareholders & Directors RN REE 465,882,000 59.81%
Public & connected persons DNEREEAL 313,041,000 40.19%
Total 45T 778,923,000 100.00%

Notes:

1. 3,650,000 Shares out of 313,041,000 Shares are held by certain
connected persons of the Company.

2. The issued capital of the Company as at 31 July 2015 is 778,923,000
Shares.

Other corporate information is set out in the “Corporate Information”
section set out on pages 6 to 8 of this report. This includes, among
others, public floating as at 31 July 2015.
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SHARE INTERESTS OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT

As at 31 July 2015, the interests of the Senior Management of the
Company in the Shares, underlying shares of the Company were as
follows:
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BREERE RNiER

RIB-—AFHEA=1T—H ARASHRERE
RARAR AR D e T

Approximate

Equity percentage of

derivatives issued share

Name of Senior  Capacity in which Interests (Share Total capital of

Management interests are held in Shares Options) interests the Company

L EF NG|

BASTETE EEITREN

SREEERR BERERNE R IR 43 = (RBRR#E) RSB BMABE DL

Chan Qi Fat Beneficial Owner - 310,000 310,000 0.04%
PR B EnEAA

INVESTOR AND SHAREHOLDER RELATIONS

Communication with Investors and Shareholders

The Board recognises the importance of maintaining clear, timely
and effective communication with shareholders of the Company and
investors. The Board also recognises that effective communication
with investors is the key to establish investor confidence and to
attract new investors. Therefore, the Group is committed to
maintaining high degree of transparency to ensure the investors and
the shareholders are receiving accurate, clear, comprehensive and
timely information of the Group via the publication of annual reports,
interim reports, press announcements (“Corporate Communication”),
and also the Company’s website at www.tayang.com.

Corporate Communications issued by the Company and are available
on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange have been
provided to the shareholders in both English and Chinese versions to
facilitate their understanding. A section entitled “Investor Relations”
is available on the Company’s website which provides contact details
to allow shareholders to contact the Company easily.

Enquiries from institutional investors and analysts on the Group’s
strategy, operations, management and plans are welcome.

REBRRRER
RIREENRRRBE

EFFRABARERERIEESHEFEW - &
BRBSEBNEZN -EFSNRREEES
NBEREBIRIIREEE O RREIFREER
Bt At AEERAOEFSERE - R
BEERBRRAUSBAEETENFR - PR
HHEAST AREM] RARA T H
www.tayang.com & B 2E T « JF T - 2 L 2 B
BB -

ZA/NCI BRI 3: OPNST T I DS NI B e
G  UHEEHRRERIRERE - U ERR
THRBHAANR - ARBHBLRE [REZHWE]
—1R - BRREBEEN T ERRBEART -
AN - AR R EHIERFBEABE - L2 TER
HiEut -
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Our investor relations activities include:

Attend telephone enquiries from analysts and fund managers;
o update of the Company’s website regularly;
o hold annual general meeting;

o disclose information on a timely basis via the Company’s and
Stock Exchange's websites.

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

Environmental protection & safety measures

To support environmental protection, the Group continues to pursue
a proactive policy in environmental protection and have
implemented a series of environmental protection practices, details
of which are as follows:

J Dongguan Ta Yang factory and Huzhou factory obtained ISO
4001 certification;,

o Installed a discharge and sedimentation tank in our plants to
treat domestic sewage before discharging to the sewage
drains in the neighborhood,

o Transformed equipments as well as improved or replaced
electric facilities, such as lighting facilities, to achieve power
and energy saving and minimise emission of carbon; and

J Installed ventilating ducts to collect exhausted gases generated
during production processes, then purify the exhausted gases
by professional facility before emitting to the atmosphere.

In addition, the Group emphasizes on production safety. The safety
measures implemented include setting safety tips and guidelines on
occupational safety such as procedures for handling emergency. In
order to promote the safety awareness, the Group organises
induction training and occupational safety training for our staff in
PRC. The Group has regularly checked the equipment to ensure the
staff is working at a safe working environment.

Green policies

We implement paper recycling policy in our Hong Kong and the PRC
offices. Staffs are also encouraged to practice energy saving habits,
such as setting their computers to sleep mode when not in use,
controlling the temperature of air conditions and using emails
instead of paper for internal and external communications.

During the year, the Group successfully reduced the usage of energy,
water and paper.
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Employment benefits

The Group places emphasis on retaining talent staff by providing
annual bonus in Chinese Lunar Year. There are corporate orientation
programs to enable the PRC staff to have a better understanding on
the Group's culture.

Learning and development

The Group organises a training programs from time to time especially
for the staff in PRC which mainly focus on the production
management areas. These programs gave them an excellent
opportunity to strengthen their understanding of the functional areas
within the factory in the PRC and strategic direction of the Group so
as to improve and enhance the efficiency of the Group.

In addition, the Company provides financial subsidies to employees
to enhance their technical skills, business skills and personal
strengths by attending seminars organised by various professional
bodies.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

Internal Control

The Board is responsible for the Group's internal control systems
and reviewing its effectiveness. Such systems are designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable, but not absolute
assurance against misstatement or loss.

Procedures have been set up for safeguarding assets against
unauthorised use or disposition, controlling over capital expenditure,
maintaining proper accounting records and ensuring the reliability of
financial information used for business and publication. Qualified
management throughout the Group maintains and monitors the
internal control systems on an ongoing basis.

The Company has engaged SHINEWING Risk Services Limited
("SHINEWING Risk”) to conduct an annual review of the effectiveness
of the Company’s material effectiveness of the Company’s material
internal control system in various material aspects including
financial, operational and compliance controls and risk management.
Audits were carried out on all significant business units of the Group.
The internal control report was submitted and reviewed by the Audit
Committee (the “Internal Control Report”). In addition, summary of
findings and recommendations are discussed at the Audit Committee
meeting with a view to improve the Group's operations.
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During the year, the Audit Committee reviewed the effectiveness of
the Company’s internal control and risk management procedures
and was satisfied that the Company’s internal control processes are
adequate to meet the needs of the Company in its current business
environment.

To further strengthen the internal control of the Group, Control
Department was established to provide day-to-day management of
the compliance and control of the Group in order to eliminate risks
of failure of operational systems and the achievement of the
Company’s objectives. The Control Department is currently headed
by Mr. Huang Te-Wei, the CEO and executive Director of the
Company, and it reports directly to the Board.

Control Department holds meetings regularly and works closely with
SHINEWING Risk to monitor the internal control systems within the
Group in order to provide reasonable assurance as to the
effectiveness and efficiency of operations, integrity and reliability of
financial information and to safeguard and maintain accountability of
its assets. Additionally, the various divisions’ head of the Company
met with the head of Control Department each month to ensure
sound internal control system is in place and maintained. To enhance
knowledge of relevant staffs of the Group, training will be provided to
them regarding relevant rules and applicable laws as and when
appropriate.

Based on the Internal Control Report, the Board is of the view that
the internal controls of the Group are adequate and complied with
the code provisions on internal control as set out in the Listing Rules.

Risk management

The Group manages risk under an overall strategy determined by the
Board. The framework of the risk management comprises of the
following key elements:

o identify and assess all the risks;

o formulate the risk management strategies,

o design and implement risk management and plan;

o monitor and report the risk management performance; and

o continuous improve risk management and risk mitigation
action plans.
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The major risk factors identified and assessed by the Group are listed

as follows:

Risk Factors
AEEZE

Strategic
b

Global economic instability and
market volatility
EHREBIRE TSR

Decrease in demand for silicon
rubber keypads for mobile
phones, computers and
notebooks because of the
immense popularity of
smartphones and tablet

Computers
REEFRRFREMRLE
%% EHRFREMAOYE

R TR

Increasing competition
S NE

Integration of acquisition
WhEES

Impact
-7

The Group's products could be
curtailed which resulted in the risk of
the operating performance and
financial stability of the Group
REB A REARREm - EmEAREE
BIBRI RIS E MR R R

The Group's productions capacity
would be over the demand level which
will affect the Group's sales turnover
AEBESBAFIOKEHZE
REEEERE

Significant product innovations,
technical advances or the
intensification of competition could
adversely affect the Group
BEAREmEFT - BHRBUESEEF A
BRI AR E B ERK N E

We may not be successful acquired
business and not reach the full synergy
effects

REFE KA RERIN W IE TS - A i 0%
EES S YNNI LY &

AEERE RFHEO T ERR

RRFERFNAOT

Mitigation Measures
A [ Bk 1Y 45 e

The Company aimed to spread its
activities geographically to benefit from
opportunities in order to minimise the
risk of political and economic instability
RAEIN B IERKEEER D B E TR

HARBENTREHE - {fREBUs &
REEN TR R

Externally, the Group continuous its
effort to explore new market. Internally,
the Group is in the process of
restructuring in order to keep our size
to be flexible to deal with any sudden
economical challenges

o6 - REBEBBESNRAI NS o ¥
R AEBRNEARBE  SHRRITEE
i FE A<F (1 {R] 22 0 L 2R O A 7 Bk B

The Group continuously enhance its
research and development and
regularly added new products to sustain
the growth of its business

N2 B 4B hn R B B K E R BT EE
ARSI R

The management adopted risk
assessment includes macro and
project specific risks analysis
encompassing due diligence,
financial modeling and sensitivity
analysis on key investment
assumptions and variables
BRETMRRTE - BERE &
BERERONT - RERHES
ﬁﬂ%%%&%fff TRERR
A #RAZMGURE DT
o The management is monitoring
the progress of strategic plan and
modifying the plan from time to
time
EHEE IF BT ES
I EE AT S

FHEIAEE -
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Risk Factors

2 B B &=

Impact
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Mitigation Measures
TRl AEK [ B Y 4 e

Operational Risk

SERR

Seasonality

FEE

Product liabilities

EmAE

Raw material

R4

Customer

=P

Seasonality may adversely affect the
operating results of the Company’s
business

ZEIME A AR AN N B TSRS R
ERTARE

Product liabilities claims could
adversely affect our Company’s
business
EmBEREREHARA R MEBIERX
-7

Growth in cost and expense in raw
materials changes may adversely
influence the future results of the
Company

R B R AT ISR e e
AR B RREEIER T 2

Loss of customers could adversely
affect our business
B AR Al e T B P B0 ZE T A T

2/ 48
oE
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The Company aimed to diversify the
product mix to minimise the seasonal
risk
AARWEBEEREREEEZ T -
VAR SR 260 1 2

The Company has arranged insurance
to cover product liability
RARERERBERBERR

The Company aims to maintain
longterms business relationships with
suppliers to acquire raw material
RARIWE R HEEERFRAEY
BAMR - AEIS R R

The Company keep in close touch with
our customers and markets and focus
effort on delivery high quality products
to them
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Risk Factors Impact Mitigation Measures
RpEZE -2 LK [ B B 8 e
Financial Risk

Bt 75 /L B

Exchange rate fluctuation
b 35 &)

Financing and liquidity
constraints
A& R ENE & Rl

Exchange rate fluctuation can have
harmful impact on company
EXREBeHANAREK TREE

Lack of financial capacity could affect
the Group's ability to conduct its
business and maintain its capital
investment or dividend payments
HIEE N TR EAREHEEITE
TR A E AR E SRR S HIEE T

The Company has a hedging policy for
certain currency exchange rate risks
from time to time

RAR PR E T EMEERRE BT LH
R

The Company adopts prudent
financing treasury policy and strict
cash management policy to maintain
stable cash position
RAREKME RN EE EIEBR MERE
RN BIRBUER - LEREENE

Legal and Compliance
EPIRERER

Law and regulations
AN 2 A5 151
laws and regulations

ARE B S ERREE T AT A 8 AR

CAANTESSES

Whistle Blowing Policy

To deter wrongdoing and to promote standards of good corporate
practices, the Company has adopted a whistle blowing policy at a
Board meeting held on 24 March 2011. The policy aims at
encouraging and enabling employees of the Group at all levels and
others to report violations or suspected violations and to raise
serious concerns about possible improprieties in matters of financial
reporting or other matters of the Group.

MANAGEMENT FUNCTIONS

In general, the daily management and administration functions of the
Group have been delegated to the management except for certain
matters specifically reserved to the Board for decision. Those
matters include the setting of the overall strategic direction and long
term objectives of the Company, approval of annual business plan,
material acquisitions and disposals of assets, investments,
connected transactions and capital projects, key human resources
issue, preliminary interim and final results announcements,
determination of interim and final dividends, appointment of
Directors and annual assessment of internal control system.

Hong Kong, 16 October 2015

A

The Group may suffer as a results of its  The Control Department assists in
failure to comply with all applicable

identifying, monitoring and providing
support to identify and manage legal
risks across the legal and seek
external legal advisers as and when
appropriate
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Remuneration Committee Report

HINEEZ RS

This report provides the details of work undertaken by the
Remuneration Committee (“RC") during the year.

MEMBERSHIP OF THE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

During the year, the Directors who served on RC were Mr. Yeung Chi
Tat (Chairman), Mr. Hsieh Yu, Professor Jou Yow-Jen and Mr. Kirk
Yang. All of them are independent non-executive Directors.

ACTIVITIES OF THE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

During the year, RC met once and the major business of the meeting
included the following activities:

o conduct the annual review of 2015/2016 salary for all Directors
and Senior Management; and

o consider and review the renewal of appointment letters of
Directors, and making appropriate recommendations to the
Board.

REMUNERATION POLICY

The remuneration for the Executive Directors comprises basic salary,
bonus, share options and pensions. Salary adjustments are made
where RC takes into account performance of the individual,
contribution, responsibilities, and reference to comparable listed
companies in Hong Kong.

The remuneration of Non-executive Director is reviewed annually
with reference to the salary research survey, comparable companies
and market condition.

Apart from basic salary, Executive Directors and employees are
eligible to receive a discretionary bonus taking into account factors
such as market conditions as well as corporate and individual’s
performance during the year.

In order to attract, retain and motivate talented eligible staff,
including the Directors, the Company has adopted a Share Option
Scheme. The scheme enables the eligible persons to obtain an
ownership interest in the Company and thus will motivate them to
optimise their continuing contributions to the Group.
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The following table illustrates the elements of remuneration of

Executive Directors and senior management.

Remuneration Committee Report

HNEEZHRS

TRIPATEERSAEREHFHESNTE

Remuneration Purpose Reward Policy details
i Ef:q) ®E BURFE
Basic Salary To reflect the market value of e Cash payment . Reviewed annually
EAH® each individual WE K FERN
REEGHEATHTIZER o Monthly . Compare against
=A selected comparable

Discretionary Bonus
BYIBEIEAL

Share Option
HE AR

Pension
BIRE

To motivate employees to
deliver the high levels of
performance of the Company
and individual performance
goals
HEEE AR A RS EKTER
REREKREAREBR

To motivate the participants
ME2EE

To attract and retain the
employees

Wl kB EE

To provide appropriate and
competitive post retirement
benefits

REEE REAFRF N RKER
Al

o Cash Payment
WE K

o Annual
B

o Share Option
HE AR

o Cash contribution
e HR

o Monthly
H

companies
ELR FR A B LR AT
ﬁ
o Market trend
hikrp)

o Individual performance
BARE

o Market condition
Dz

o The Group performance
relative to corporate
targets
REEBHREEB D
=B

o Eligible participants are
awarded in accordance
with the Share Option
Scheme
EERZEERBRRE
FTEIEIS5RE

o MPF scheme
RIEERTE

AFKEEZERERAT
—T-hFFR
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The following table shows the breakdown of Directors’ remuneration THRZJEHE_Z—AFE+LA=+—BILFEE

(in percentage terms) for the year ended 31 July 2015: =AM (UEILERT)
Salary,
allowances Retirement

& other scheme  Share-based
English Name bl i Fees benefits Bonus contributions payments Total

-4 IR DNGiv)
e REMEF A FEfR  ERNAR &t
% % % % % %
Huang Sheng-Shun BER - 91.04 7.59 1.37 - 100%
Huang Te-Wei BER - 90.77 7.34 1.89 - 100%
Wong Tak Leung BER - 90.32 753 215 - 100%
Kwok Yiu Kai PRE = 91.51 6.21 2.28 = 100%
Wu th Chen REH 54.22 40.66 301 21 - 100%
Kirk Yang oy = = = = = =
Hsieh Yu i 100 - - - - 100%
Jou Yow-Jen B9y 100 = = = = 100%
Yeung Chi Tat g 100 - - - - 100%

The remuneration of the members of the senior management by ®HREBEXKEBZ-_Z—HF+A=+—HI

band for the year ended 31 July 2015: FEEFHEEZ >OMemT
Number of
Remuneration bands (HK$) Individuals
MesE (BT A
Nil-1,000,000 41,000,000 1

Details of the amount of Directors’ remuneration during the year BE-Z—RAFtA=T—RILFENEZHNE
ended 31 July 2015 are set out in Note 18 to the consolidated  #FBEH#FINGE M MERMEE 18 MiERERT 2
financial statements and details of the Share Option Schemes are set  HIFBHIINEF S ME LR & VB IRKRM T
out in Report of the Directors and Note 45 to the consolidated 45°

financial statements.

Members of the Remuneration Committee HMEZE=KE

Yeung Chi Tat (Chairman) 1%73:'\52 (/)

Hsieh Yu EE

Jou Yow-Jen B4y

Kirk Yang HER

Hong Kong, 16 October 2015 &% —Z—AF+HA+XH
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This report provides details of the role of the Audit Committee (“AC")
and the work it has undertaken by them during the year.

MEMBERSHIP OF AUDIT COMMITTEE

During the year, the Directors who served on AC were Mr. Yeung Chi
Tat (Chairman), Mr. Hsieh Yu, Professor Jou Yow-Jen and Kirk Yang.
All of them are independent non-executive Directors.

MEETINGS AND ATTENDANCE

During the year, AC met twice with 100% attendance in October
2014 and March 2015. The Financial Controller and the external

Audit Committee Report
BuZEHRS

ApERtEHEZZBe ((EXZE88 D BEA
NN FTHETT TVERRES o

RAFE  IBRREZZEENESEESESE
FAE(XE)  #MEL  AYBHERGEREL
H o 2EREIEITES

= N )

FR BRZEEEN_ZT—NE+AULEZT
—RF=ARTMAEE - HEERE100% B

auditor attended the meetings by invitation. The attendance records — ##EE R IMEZERME R FE S - HELEEW
are set out below: I
Number of meetings
attended/Number
Name of meetings held
®E HERE ERRE
Yeung Chi Tat (Chairman) 1BsE (EE) 2/2
Hsieh Yu EIE 2/2
Jou Yow-Jen B 2/2
Kirk Yang 15 FE R 2/2
SUMMARY OF MAJOR WORKS DONE DURING THE YEAR FARMMNT2IEIRE

During the year, the major works done by AC were summarised as
follows:

o reviewed with the management and the external auditors on
the interim results and annual results and related
announcement including the related disclosures, integrity of
financial reporting and the accounting policies and adopted by
the Group prior to the submission to the Board’s approval;

o discussed with management on significant judgments affecting
Group's consolidated financial statements;

o considered and pre-approved the re-appointment of auditors
and their audit fee accordingly;

o reviewed and discussed the internal control report including
the status of implementing recommendations on previous
report;

FA - BRZEGTROTIET/ERMAT

s GERERXEFEIER EEEERINEZ
AR ARG  2FEEUALERR
T BREWUREEE UBmENRGE
BRH) TR MRS BRNH 2 5

s HEEENBTEAKBSAMBRERN
ER A

o  ERNELAEHERZEMKHEEZER:

o  EHNMIUWAMEERS a?ﬁ&i*fﬁ

WERMRENEZNERS)

K:¥%.}Iﬂx§ﬂ&’
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Audit Committee Report

o reviewed, assessed the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Company's internal control and risk management; and

o reviewed and monitored the external auditor’'s independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness during the audit process.

FINANCIAL REPORTING

AC has reviewed with the management the accounting principles
and practices adopted by the Group and the financial reporting
matters including a review of the audited consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 July 2015.

INTERNAL CONTROL

During the year, AC engaged SHINEWING Risk Services Regulatory
Limited (“SHINEWING Risk") to conduct the internal control review of
the Group’s operation and made recommendation to Board
accordingly. Based on the report issued by SHINEWING Risk, AC
considered that the key areas of the Company’s internal control
systems are reasonably implemented and the Company has
compiled with the requirements of the CG code as set out in the
Listing Rules in respect of internal control. There were no matters
concerns to be brought to the attention to the Board.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR

AC reviewed the independence of SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited and
recommended their re-appointment as auditor of the Group for the
financial year 2015/2016 in the forthcoming AGM.

Members of Audit Committee
Yeung Chi Tat (Chairman)
Hsieh Yu

Jou Yow-Jen

Kirk Yang

Hong Kong, 16 October 2015
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The Directors have pleasure in presenting their annual report and the
audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 July
2015.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are design
and manufacture of silicone rubber input devices which are mainly
used in lifestyle products and 4Cs (i) Consumer (consumer electronic
devices), (ii) Computers (keypads for computers and notebooks) (iii)
Communications (mobile phone peripheral products) and (iv) Cars
(automotive peripheral products). Particulars of the Company’s
subsidiaries are set out in Note 51 to the consolidated financial
statements. The nature of the principal activities of the Group has
not changed during the year.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATION

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 July 2015 are set out
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on page 95.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 July 2015.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements of the share capital of the Company during the
year are set out in Note 42 to the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the year, the Group spent approximately HK$7,747,000 on
additions to property, plant and equipment mainly for the expansion
and enhancement of its production capability.

Details of movements in the Group’s property, plant and equipment
during the year are set out in Note 19 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 212. This
summary does not form part of the audited consolidated financial
Statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 July 2015, the Company’s reserve available for distribution
amounted to HK$308,254,000.

Movements in reserves of the Company during the year and the
distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 July 2015 are set out
in Note 50 to the consolidated financial statements.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the five largest customers of the Group accounted
for about 44.4% of the total revenue of the Group and the largest
customer accounted for about 13.9% of the total revenue.

The aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s largest supplier
and five largest suppliers taken together accounted for
approximately 7.2% and 25.7% of the Group’s total purchase for the
year.

None of the Directors, their associates, or any shareholder of the
Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors own more than
5% of the Company's issued share capital) has any interest in any of
the Group's five largest suppliers and customers.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Huang Sheng-Shun (Chairman)

Mr. Huang Te-Wei (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Wong Tak Leung

Mr. Kwok Yiu Kai (Appointed on 1 August 2014)

Non-Executive Director
Mr. Wu Ih Chen

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Hsieh Yu
Professor Jou Yow-Jen
Mr. Yeung Chi Tat

Mr. Kirk Yang

Pursuant to Article 87 of the Company’s Articles of Association, Mr.
Wu Ih Chen, Mr. Hsieh Yu and Mr. Yeung Chi Tat will retire by
rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’
CONFIRMATION

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence to
Rule 3.13 of The Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the
“Listing Rule”) and as at the date of this report still considers that all
of the independent non-executive Directors to be independent.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

As at 31 July 2015, none of the Directors proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with
the Company which is not determinable by the Company within one
year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emoluments of the Directors of the Company are recommended
by the Remuneration Committee, and decided by the Board, as
authorised by shareholders in the annual general meeting, having
regard to the Company’s operating results, individual performance,
experience, responsibility, workload and comparable market
securities. No Director is involved in deciding their own
remuneration.

The Company has adopted a Pre-IPO share option scheme and a
Post-IPO share option scheme as an incentive to the Directors and
eligible employees, details of the scheme is set out under the
heading “Share Option Schemes”.

Details of the remuneration policy for the Directors and senior
management of the Group are set out in Remuneration Report under
the heading “Remuneration Policy”.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors of the Company and the
five highest paid individuals of the Group during the year under
review are set out in Note 18 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS

Directors’ Interests

As at 31 July 2015, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and the Chief Executive of the Company in the Shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SFO")) as recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company under section 352 of the SFO or
otherwise required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) contained in the Listing
Rules, were as follows:
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Notes:

1.

Based on 778,923,000 Shares in issue as at 31 July 2015.

Sunshiny Il Trust is a trust, of which Mr. Huang Sheng-Shun is
the founder, BNP Paribas Singapore Trust Corporation Limited
("BNP-STC") is the trustee and family members of Mr. Huang
Sheng-Shun (including Mr. Huang Te-Wei) are beneficiaries.

The 413,940,000 Shares, representing approximately 53.14%
shareholding of the Company, are directly held by the following
seven British Virgin Islands companies (“7 BVI Companies”) in
aggregate as follows:

Report of the Directors
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et

BER-_Z—RFLA=+—BOET
778,923,000 B 1Dt ©

Sunshiny Il Trust & —I8{=5F * BT AE
% {= 5T BX 32 A * BNP Paribas Singapore
Trust Corporation Limited ([BNP-STC) &
REEA MEBREENREKE (B1F
HEREE)RBZEA ©

#413,940,000/% B& 5+ Bl A A & 4
53.14% B - AN T EREBRELZHS
AR ([EREBEZES AR AR EE
BE BT

Approximate
percentage of
share in issue

Number of of the Company

Name of the 7 BVI Companies Shares held (Note 1)
tREBELBREARER BERGEAE QT B BT
igvi: ok S alad
(HiaE1)
Ace Chain Investments Corporation (“Ace Chain”) 149,100,000 19.14%
China Gain Holdings Limited (“China Gain") 103,560,000 13.29%
Highwise Investment Group Corporation (“Highwise") 57,600,000 7.39%
Join Success Business Inc. (“Join Success”) 34,560,000 4.44%
Jumbo Regent Investment Limited (“Jumbo Regent”) 34,560,000 4.44%
Master Rich Business Limited (“Master Rich”) 28,800,000 3.70%
Million Era Holdings Corporation (“Million Era”) 5,760,000 0.74%
Total
@t 413,940,000 53.14%

The 7 BVI Companies are respectively 100% owned subsidiaries
of Acuwake Enterprises Limited (“Acuwake”). Acuwake is wholly
owned by Sunny Stars Investments Limited (“Sunny Stars”).
Sunny Stars is wholly owned by BNP Paribas Corporate Services
Pte Ltd ("BNP-CSP”) which is held in favour of BNP-STC as
Trustee of Sunshiny Il Trust. Mr. Huang Sheng-Shun as the
founder of Sunshiny Il Trust is taken to be interested in such
Shares. Mr. Huang Sheng-Shun is also a director of each of the 7
BVI Companies.

Mr. Huang Te-Wei is a son of Mr. Huang Sheng-Shun and a
beneficiary of Sunshiny Il Trust. As such, Mr. Huang Te-Weli is
taken to be interested in the same block of 413,940,000 Shares
held by the 7 BVI Companies.

Details of the Directors’ interests in the share options granted by
the Company are set out in the section headed "Directors’
Rights to Acquire Shares” below.

Lt REBE XHS QA RAcuwake
Enterprises Limited ([Acuwake]) # &
100% 4 z= ) MF B & A o Sunny Stars
Investments Limited ([ Sunny Stars]) # &
Acuwake 100% ## %5 ° Sunny Stars f BNP
Paribas Corporate Services Pte Ltd ([BNP-
CSPJ) LABNP-STC ( £ % Sunshiny Il Trust
REANGD) AZEANEERE - 5
F 55 A Sunshiny | Trust S FERZA
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EEo
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Further details of the share options are set out in the section MERR e H M SF B T X [ R at 2l
headed “Share Option Schemes” below. —& e
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*Note: *fifat
For details of the corporate structure of each of the associated FHASHEEEBNCEREFE  F28 @R
corporation, please see Notes 2 and 3 of the sub-section headed “(a) RRRR RABBRR GO KT A ] D EFMT 2 K& 3 -

Long Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares in the Company”.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 July 2015, none of the Directors
and the Chief Executive of the Company had any interest or short
position in the Shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporation (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) which were required (a) to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they
were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or
(b) pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register
referred to therein; or (c) notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The Company maintains two share option schemes, namely the Pre-
IPO share option scheme and the Post-IPO share option scheme for
the purpose of recognising the contribution of certain executive
Directors and employees of the Group and retaining them for the
continual operation and development of the Group. Both schemes
were approved by the written resolutions of the sole shareholder
passed on 16 May 2007 and had a life of 10 years from its adoption.

Under the Share Option Schemes, the Board may, at its discretion,
offer any employee (including any Executive Director) of the Group,
options to subscribe for Shares in the Company subject to the terms
and conditions stipulated in the two schemes.

The Pre-IPO Share Option

The major terms of the Pre-IPO share option scheme adopted on 16
May 2007 (“Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme”) were summarised as
follows :

(@) Purpose of the Scheme
The purpose of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is to
recognise the contribution made by the executive Directors
and the employees of the Company prior to the listing of
Shares on Stock Exchange.

(b) Participants of the Scheme
Pursuant to the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, the Company
may grant options to any full-time or part-time employee of the
Company and/or any its subsidiaries, including any executive
Director or any of its subsidiaries but excluding any non-
executive Director of the Company or any of its subsidiaries.
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()

(d)

(e)

()

®

Total number of Shares available for issue under the
Scheme

The total number of Shares in respect of the Scheme may be
granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is 9,070,000
Shares.

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the Scheme of the Company shall not exceed
30% of the total number of Shares in issue from time to time.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The maximum entitlement for any one participant is that the
total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of the options granted and to be granted to each participant
(including both exercised and outstanding options) in any 12
months period must not exceed 1% of the total number of
Shares in issue.

Time of exercise of options

An option granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is
exercisable at the subscription price of HK$2.20 per Share
(subject to adjustment and vesting period). If a grantee does
not cease to be Participant from the date of grant of options
(i.e. 16 May 2007) to him up to the business date immediately
prior to the date of the 1st anniversary (“Anniversary”) of the
Listing Date, the grantee may exercise up to 1/5 of the options
granted to him on or after the date of the 1st Anniversary. In
the event that the grantee does not cease to be a Participant
up to the business day prior to the date of the 2nd, 3rd, 4th
and 5th Anniversary, he is entitled to exercise an addition of up
to 1/5 of the options granted to him on or after the relevant
date of Anniversary respectively.

The subscription price per share

The subscription price per share under the Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme is HK$2.20 per share representing
approximately 37.1% discount to the international offering
price (assuming the offer price is the maximum of HK$3.50 per
share).

Payment on acceptance of option

A non-refundable sum of HK$1.00 by way of consideration for
the grant of an option is required to be paid by each of the
grantee upon acceptance of the granted option.

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

(8)
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(h) Remaining life of the Scheme

The Pre-IPO Share Option Plan have no remaining life as no
further options may be granted but the provisions of the Pre-
IPO Share Option Scheme shall in all other respects remain in
force and effect and options which are granted during the life
on the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme may continue to exercise
in accordance with the respective terms of issue.

On 16 May 2007, the Company granted 9,070,000 options
under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme. No further options
would be granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme on
or after the listing date of the Company i.e. 8 June 2007.

The Post-1PO Share Option Scheme

The major terms of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme adopted on
16 May 2007 (“Post-IPO Share Option Scheme”) were summarised as
follows:

(a)

(b)

Purpose of the Scheme

The Post-IPO Share Option Scheme is a share incentive scheme
and is established to recognise and acknowledge the
contribution of the participants. The Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme will provide the participants an opportunity to have a
personal stake in the Company with the view to achieving the
following objectives:

° motivate the participants to optimise their performance
efficiency for the benefit of the Group; and

o attract and retain or otherwise maintain on-going
business relationship with the participants whose
contributions are or will be beneficial to the long-term
growth of the Group.

Participants of the Scheme

Participants of Post-IPO Share Option Scheme include (i)
eligible employees (whether full time or part time employee
including any executive Director) of the Group and any invested
entity; (i) any non-executive Director (including independent
non-executive Directors), any of its subsidiaries or any invested
entity; (iii) any suppliers of goods or services to any member of
the Group or any invested entity; (iv) any customer of the
Group or any member of the Group; (v) any consultant, advisor,
manager, officer or entity that provides research, development
or other technological support to the Group or any invested
entity.
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(c)

(d)

(e)

Total number of Shares available for issue under the
Scheme

The total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all option to be granted under the Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company
must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total number of
Shares in issue at the date of approval of the Post-IPO Share
Option Scheme (i.e.16 May 2007). The Company may seek
approval of the shareholders in general meeting to renew the
said 10% limit such that the total number of Shares in respect
of options that may be granted under the Post-IPO Share
Option Scheme or any other share option schemes of the
Company shall not exceed 10% of the total number of Shares
in issue as at the date of approval to renew the limit.
Notwithstanding the above, the maximum number of Shares
which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options
granted and yet to be exercised under the Post-IPO Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company shall not exceed 30% of total number of Shares in
issue from time to time.

As at 31 July 2015, the total number of Shares available for
issue in respect thereof is 63,056,000 Shares of the Company,
representing approximately 8.10% of the issued Shares as at
the date this report.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The maximum entitlement for any one participant is that the
total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of the options granted and to be granted to each participant
(including both exercised and outstanding options) in any 12
months period must not exceed 1% of the total number of
Shares of the Company in issue. Any further grant of options in
excess of the said 1% limit shall be subject to shareholders’
approval in general meeting with such participant and his or
her associates abstaining from voting.

Timing of exercise of options

The period during which an option may be exercised will be
determined by the Board in its absolute discretion and in any
event such period shall not be longer than 10 years after the
date of grant of the option.

(c)

(d)

(e)
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(f) The subscription price per Share

@

(h)

The subscription price per share in respect of an option
granted under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme is such price
as determined by the Board of the Company at the time of the
grant of the options, but in any case the subscription price
shall not be lower than the higher of:

° the closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily
quotation sheets issued by the Stock Exchange on the
date on which the options are offered, which must be a
business day;,

° the price being the average closing price of the Shares as
stated in the daily quotation sheets issued by the Stock
Exchange for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of offer of the options; and

° the nominal value of a Share on the date of offer.

Payment on acceptance of options

A non-refundable sum of HK$1.00 by way of consideration for
the grant of an option is required to be paid by each of the
grantee upon acceptance of the granted options.

Duration of the Scheme

The Post-IPO Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a
period of 10 years from its adoption date (i.e.16 May 2007).
However, the Company may terminate the Post-IPO Share
Option Scheme prior to such period and in such event no
further option may be granted but options granted prior to
such termination shall continue to be valid and exercisable in
accordance with the terms of Post-IPO Share Option Scheme.

As 31 July 2015, the outstanding number of Shares in respect of
which options had been granted under the Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme was 7,545,000 Shares, representing 0.97% of the issued
share capital of the Company as at the date of this report.

The other principal terms of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and
Post-IPO Share Option Scheme are set out in the Prospectus of the
Ccompany.

TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2015

( BRIABE
REERXCHABEERBEETERENE
BRENSEABERARAESTENRD
BRERETE - ENEABERT  REE
TMHERTIIREE

. REBHRHERAEE B SHE AR
BERAVIBRGHOWTE Mz B %A
BEER

o ERZRVRHIBREZAMAMEER
BB 2P A RERTDI B 0715
WfE &

o MEREERRMAEE -

(8) BABKRERINHNER
EEMEENBRER  8R2ERAR
A A A B S AR B 5008 1.00 8 7T HE &
BABERIENRE -

(h) FHEIBEXS
BRAFHERBIRERE BRA R H (B
TERLFERATRA) BT FRAY
AW - ARBHERZ B AR IEF IR
NABERBIRAETE > MRZBRT -
G BR L EEE - R LATR TR
BB KEERAMBEERBRESE
R R M A B A AT TATHE -

RZZE—RAFtA=1+—08 BEBXAHABE
&R RS B PR D R B AR FT S RV TE SN R
&8 B 47,545,000 8% + 15 AR BN AR E B H
BB ITIRAAI0.97% ©

BERAFAREMNBREASNERAREERE
Bt Bl E M E R IFFFNRARRNERER
A o



Report of the Directors
ESBWRSE

Details of specific categories of options are as follows: BREFERINFBEET

The following table disclosed movements in the share options during — BEREREIREY B EhE TR IHFE
the period:
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Notes:

1. The vesting period of the Share Option Scheme I is from the date of
grant until the commencement of the exercise period.

2. The vesting period of the Share Option Scheme lI-First Grant is from
the date of grant until the commencement of the exercise period.

3. The vesting period of the Share Option Scheme II-Second Grant is from
the date of grant until the commencement of the exercise period.

4. No share option was cancelled during the year.

Save as disclosed above, no share option was granted under the
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and Post-IPO Share Option Scheme.

1. BREAHINBENSREANETESMS

¥A -

2. BRESHEI-ERERENBEBHARL ARET
EHFBRER -

3. BREFIHI-FECSARONEBHARLENE
TR ERME A

4. FREEEHEERE -
B EXAEEEN  BMERBEERAAFESHE

B st 8 o B IR A R 3 R R B A AT 1R AE (A
R o
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INTERESTS OF THE SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 July 2015, so far as is known to the Directors, the following
persons have an interest or short position in the Shares or underlying
shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provision of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO and are recorded in the register kept by the Company under
section 336 of the SFO:

Long positions in the Shares and Underlying Shares

FRRROVER

R-ZF-—RFELA=1t—8 BEZMH AT
ANERARRBRN SARRR D BB RIEE S LA
BRPIEXVERE 2R3N EMERARAR A HE
NARIEE 5 R E B %05 336 1R AR BN AN A
FEMNESLMPOERIOAR

REORABERONER
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Notes:

M

@

Based on 778,923,000 Shares in issue as at 31 July 2015.

The 413,940,000 Shares relate to the same block of shares in the
Company. These shares were directly held by the 7 BVI companies, all
of which were wholly-owned by Acuwake which in turn was wholly-
owned by Sunny Stars. Sunny Stars was wholly-owned by BNP-CSP as
trustee of Sunshiny Il Trust. Ace Chain, China Gain and Highwise are
three of the 7 BVI companies which hold their respective shareholding
of the Company directly as detailed in the above table. For details of
the interests of Sunshiny Il Trust in the Company, please refer to notes
2 and 3 of the sub-section headed “(a) Long Positions in Shares and
Underlying Shares in the Company” under the section headed
"Directors’ and Chief Executive's Interests” in the above.

BEA T -—AFELA=+-RBEET
778,923,000 A FT 5 ©

413,940,000 IR 15 H5 B —# R R B AD - ZE K
MEAEtRABELZHSAREERA %5 AR
2 #B¥9 B Acuwake = E # B + ifi Acuwake Al B
Sunny StarsZ & # & ° Sunny Stars i BNP-CSP
YE A Sunshiny I Trustt) ZsEA 2 E # A © Ace
Chain ~ China Gain 2 Highwise & + & 3 & i &
HEARMER=RAR] RN EE
A& BRARFRIARKE - A7 Sunshiny Il Trust
RARRRE=NFE B2 EEREET
BABMER | —&IET [@RADQ B KN KA
BRI R | DERIMIE2 %3 °
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(3)  Mr. Huang Sheng-Shun as founder of Sunshiny Il Trust is taken to have
an interest in such shares. Details of Mr. Huang Sheng-Shun'’s share
options, please refer to section headed “Share Option Schemes”.

(4)  Ms. Tong Mei-Jen, the spouse of Mr. Huang Sheng-Shun, is the
beneficiary of Sunshiny Il Trust. As such, she is taken to be interested
in the 413,940,000 Shares directly held by the 7 BVI Companies as
controlled companies of Sunshiny Il Trust. Ms. Tong Mei-Jen is also
deemed to be interested in such Shares which Mr. Huang Sheng-Shun
is interested in.

(5)  BNP-STC is the Trustee of the Sunshiny Il Trust. BNP-STC is ultimately
owned by BNP Paribas SA Group which is listed on Paris Stock
Exchange.

(6)  BNP-CSP is the sole corporate shareholder of Sunny Stars. BNP-CSP
holds the Shares of Sunny Stars in favour of BNP-STC via a Declaration
of Trust.

(7)  Mr. Huang Te-Wei is the son of Mr. Huang Sheng-Shun and a
beneficiary of Sunshiny Il Trust. As such, Mr. Huang Te-Wei is taken to
be interested in the 413,940,000 Shares directly held by the 7 BVI
Companies as controlled companies of Sunshiny Il Trust. For details of
Mr. Huang Te-Wei's share options, please refer to section headed
“SHARE OPTION SCHEMES".

(8)  Ms. Chao Yu Ting is the spouse of Mr. Huang Te-Wei and accordingly is
deemed to be interested in all the Shares which Mr. Huang Te-Wei is
interest in.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 July 2015, the Company was not
notified by any person (other than Directors and Chief Executive of
the Company) who has an interest or short position in the Shares, or
underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company under section 336 of SFO.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the
Company, any of its holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors or
the chief executives of the Company or any of their respective
spouses or children under 18 years of age to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of Shares in, or debentures of, the Company
or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS

No contract of significance, to which the Company, any of its holding
companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party and in which a
Director of the Company had material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of or at any time during the year, nor
had there been any contract of significance entered into between
the Group and a controlling shareholder of the Company during the
year ended 31 July 2015.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SECURITIES
OF THE COMPANY

During the year ended 31 July 2015, neither the Company nor any of
its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company's
listed securities.

COMPETING INTERESTS

As at 31 July 2015, in so far as the Directors were aware, none of the
Directors or their respective associates had any interest in a business
that competed or was likely to compete with the business of the
Group.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of Cayman Islands, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to
existing shareholders.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of its Directors, as at the date of this
report, there is sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the
Company’s issued Shares as required under the Listing Rules.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”) with written terms of reference in compliance with the
Listing Rules. The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to
review and supervise the financial reporting process and internal
control system of the Group, and to review the Company’s annual
report and half-yearly reports to provide advice and comments
thereon to the Board. The Audit Committee comprises of Mr. Yeung
Chi Tat (Chairman), Mr. Hsieh Yu, Professor Jou Yow-Jen and Mr. Kirk
Yang, all of whom are independent non-executive Directors of the
Company.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the Group’s annual results for
the year ended 31 July 2015 in conjunction with the Company’s
auditors.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company has complied with the code provisions set out in The
Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s Corporate Governance Code and
Corporate Governance Report (the “Stock Exchange Code”),
Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules during the year, except one
deviations. Details are set out in the Corporate Governance Report
on pages 34 to 65 of this annual report.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

In order to determine members who are entitled to attend the annual
general meeting of the Company to be held on 11 December 2015,
the register of members of the Company will be closed from
Wednesday, 9 December 2015 to Friday, 11 December 2015, both
days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares can be
registered. All transfers accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong Branch
Share Registrar and Transfer Office, Union Registrars Limited at A18/
F., Asia Orient Tower, Town Place, 33 Lockhart Road, Wanchai, Hong
Kong, not later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 8 December 2015.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Directors do not recommend the payment of final dividend for
the year ended 31 July 2015 (31 July 2014: Nil).

AUDITORS

The accounts for the year ended 31 July 2015 have been audited by
Messrs. SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited, who retire and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-appointment at the 2015 AGM. A resolution
will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company for the re-appointment of Messrs. SHINEWING (HK) CPA
Limited as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Huang Sheng-Shun
CHAIRMAN
Hong Kong

16 October 2015
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SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
43/F, Lee Garden One

33 Hysan Avenue

Causeway Bay, Hong Kong
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TO THE MEMBERS OF TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Ta Yang
Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 95 to 211,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 July 2015, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss,
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of
engagements, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. We conducted our audit in accordance with
Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Independent Auditor’s Report
18 X1 1% EXEM ¥y &5

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the
directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the financial position of the Company and its subsidiaries
as at 31 July 2015, and of its financial performance and cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Chan Wing Kit

Practising Certificate Number: P03224

Hong Kong
16 October 2015
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
OB m<

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31JULY 2015 H#Z - —RF+tA=1+—HIFE

2015 2014
—B-Rf —T—pE
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Kt FBxT FABxT
Turnover = 9 426,242 467,264
Cost of sales SHE A AR (376,124) (471,923)
Gross profit (loss) EF(18) 50,118 (4,659)
Other operating income H A 48 T A 9 15,528 34,589
Selling and distribution expenses HE R DAY (44,807) (28,213)
Administrative expenses TE R (103,930) (130,646)
Other expenses HAhF 11 (75,700) (90,819)
Share of results of joint ventures R EENER 629 -
Share of results of associates it NG s O (468) (76)
Finance costs A& R AR 12 (729) (814)
Loss before tax BB Al ET 1R (159,359) (220,638)
Income tax (expense) credit s (M) e 13 (23) 280
Loss for the year FAEE 14 (159,382) (220,358)
Loss for the year attributable to: LA AT EEFERERS :

Owners of the Company ZiN/NCIEZZE N (156,335) (216,563)
Non-controlling interests FEIERR I A (3,047) (3,799)
(159,382) (220,358)

Loss per share BREE 16
Basic (HK cents) FA (AL (20.08) (27.82)
Diluted (HK cents) #a (Bl) (20.08) (27.82)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

moBmMEMERW @M

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31JULY 2015 &2 —F—AE+A=1+—HILFE

2015 2014
—2-EF —T-lEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FABT
Loss for the year FNEE (159,382) (220,358)
Other comprehensive income (expenses) EfzmlA (L)
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently TeEREEENHEEER
to profit or loss: HIEE -
Gain on revaluation of properties )2 & il e 7,684 -
Gain on revaluation of prepaid lease payments FER R E KB E G IR 1,565 -
9,249 —
Items that may be reclassified subsequently AREREFHDEEEREDN
to profit or oss: ER
Exchange differences arising on MG INETSE R S EFR
translating foreign operations (482) (15,432)
Available-for-sale financial assets AEHESRIEE
Net loss arising on revaluation of FAERAMELESREE
available-for-sale financial assets for the year ELEREREFE (5,402) (2,295)
Reclassification adjustments for loss (gain) STALRE B RAEE ()
included in the consolidated statement K ET D AR
of profit or loss
— gain on disposal — HEKE - (202)
— impairment loss — BB 3,458 752
(1,944) (1,745)
Share of other comprehensive (expenses) income  FE(LEFE AT NRE S ERHM
of associates and joint ventures 2HE (A KA
Share of exchange difference of associates FEREE &5 A B [E 5 2= 58 (71) 53
Share of exchange difference of a joint venture FE(E—FEARDEMEN =58 (629) =
(700) 53
Other comprehensive income (expenses) FREAMEEKA (%)
for the year 6,123 (17,124)
Total comprehensive expenses for the year, FAEHEA LR
net of income tax (MBRFEHIE) (153,259) (237,482)
Total comprehensive expenses for the year, net ATRALEEFRAEER Y B5E
of income tax, attributable to (MBREAEHIE)
Owners of the Company VIN/NTE 2 =N (150,231) (233,54¢6)
Non-controlling interests IR (3,028) (3,936)
(153,259) (237,482)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
RO ANT R

AS AT 31JULY 2015 R=Z—RFEA=1+—H

2015 2014
—E—hfF —ZT—F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
HfaE FET FHET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BE L& E 19 100,085 173,127
Intangible assets M EE 20 - 5,478
Construction in progress EETRE 21 - 728
Prepaid lease payments A ERE 22 10,840 12,635
Investment properties "B 23 54,647 31,868
Available-for-sale financial assets AIHHESREE 24 19,596 27,013
Interests in joint ventures REEPENERS 26 - -
Interests in associates N ANk £ 27 - 2,880
Deposits for acquisition of land use rights Uk + {5 FAAERIIZ S 28 13,163 14,260
198,331 267,989
Current assets RENEE
Inventories FE 30 62,172 73,391
Trade and other receivables FEURE 5 8RR KR oA
FEU IR 31 150,930 170,089
Prepaid lease payments AR ERIE 22 321 361
Loan receivable from a joint venture eIk —E A& EMNER 29 - 7,489
Amount due from a joint venture FEUR—F & & FERIE 32 - 5,211
Amount due from an associate JE Ukt — Bt & R B RIE 32 - 32
Income tax recoverable AUk B FTIS R - 22
Held-to-maturity investments A EDHIGE 25 43,442 -
Held-for-trading investments RIEEERE 33 9,120 15,138
Derivative financial instruments PTESRT A 34 - 300
Financial asset designated at RN TEFIEREL
fair value through profit or loss FEEEANRE
WEemEE 35 - 3,688
Short-term bank deposits HHERTTIER 36 86,298 71,981
Bank balances and cash RITHEBR RIS 36 103,556 200,111
455,839 547,813
Assets classified as held for sale DEABIELHEERE 37 - 21
455,839 547,834
Current liabilities mEAE
Trade and other payables FERTE SRR R HAth
FE(RIR 38 97,612 78,991
Receipt in advance from a venturer KE—ZE4HTEkEIE 39 - 6,043
Derivative financial instruments PTEEMIA 34 17,017 19,775
Amount due to a joint venture JEfR—R& & ENRIE 32 202 -
Provision for restructuring BHREE 40 - 7,511
Income tax payable FES P 5FL 22,376 22,376
Secured bank borrowings BEEMIBITER 41 33,282 45,666
170,489 180,362
Net current assets mEIEERE 285,350 367,472
Total assets less current liabilities BEABRABRE 483,681 635,461
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

RO RSN R

AS AT 31JULY 2015 R=Z—RFEA=1+—H

2015 2014
—E2-hfF —T M
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Kzt FHERT FHET
Capital and reserves BN R
Share capital A% 2R 42 77,892 77,854
Reserves Eq 397,769 551,053
Equity attributable to owners of RAREE NS
the Company 475,661 628,907
Non-controlling interests JEFE AR AE 2R - 1,519
Total equity T iaE 475,661 630,426
Non-current liabilities FERBAE
Deferred income EEWA 43 3,946 3,971
Deferred tax liabilities BEERIBEE 44 4,074 1,064
8,020 5,035
483,681 635,461

The consolidated financial statements on pages 95 to 211 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 16
October 2015 and are signed on its behalf by:

FSEEF2NANGEUBTRRDILEZERN
“E-RFT AT NBERERRETIE - THT
JIEBERREE

Huang Sheng-Shun
EB 5
Director
EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mORMET

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2015 & Z —T—RF+A=+—HILFE

Attributable to the owners of the Company

RATRENEL
Share Investments  Properties Capital ~ Statutory Non-
Share Share Other ~ options Acoumusted  Exchange  revaluation  revaluation  redemption Surplus Legal controling
capital  premium resene Tesenve losses Teserve reseve  resene Teserve Teserve Tesenve Total  interests Total
g REER WEER  AABE  EREH
R ROEE  EfhkfE GF  ZaBR  ENRR Gl & L NEE  ERHE 4% FoRER 4%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS000  HK$'000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS000  HK$'000 HK§000 HKS000  HKS'000
THn FEn T Hr TEn Fhn Fhn THn FEn T Hr TEn FEn ThR
(Note 1) (Note 2) (Note 3) (Note 4)
(1) (2) (W3 (W)
At 1 August 2013 RZE-ZF\A-H 718% 633786 489 13638 69,199 166,018 4,462 = 2420 341 4 862928 4,860 867,188
Loss for the year EREE = = = - (216563 - = = = = - (216563 3799 (2203%8)
Other comprenensive (expenses)  FREMZE (B WA :
income for the year:
Exchange differences BERISBEEY
arising on translating ERZH
foreign operations - - - - - (15291) - - - - - (15.291) (141) (15432)
Netloss arising on revaluation o~ EREfT i E
avallable-for-sale financial SREEELEN
assets for the year BRE - - - - - - (2,295) - - - - (2,295) - (2,295)
Reclassifcation SAGEERRE
adjustments for (gain) () Biad
loss included inthe consolidated ~ E#HEEE
statement of proft or loss
— gain on disposal — ks = = = = = = (202) - - - - (202) - (202)
— impairment loss —HEBE - - - - - - 732 - - - - 752 - 75
Share of exchange EEBELATN
difference of associates EXZR - - = = = 5 - - - - - 5 - 5
Total comprefiensive EMEERREE
expenses for the year - - - - (216563 (15,238) (1,745) - - - - (23354 393) (237482
Forfeture of share options R E - - - (1926) 196 B - - - - - - B -
Capital contribution by FERERTE
non-controling interests - - (475) - - - - - - - - (475) 595 120
At31July 2014 RZF-RELA=1-A 718% 633786 il 1692 (28381 150780 217 = 2420 34 4 628907 1519 630426

KERBERERAT
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
molEm2ENE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31JULY 2015 B#Z —ZT—HF+A=+—HILFE

A1 August 2014 R-Z-BENA-H 150,780 M - 628907 630426
Loss for e year ENER - - - (156,335 (153,382)
Otfer comprefiensiv (expenses) EREHRE(FR)RA

income for the year:

Eichange diferences arisng on BEENEREL

translting foreign operations EiER (501) - - (501) (482)
(Gain from revaluation of propertes NEREMEEE

and prepeid ease paymens EfShE - - 9,249 9,249 9,249
Netloss arising o revaluation of FRERTLLESREE

avallbi-for-sel financiel assets EEMBRTE

forthe year - (5,402) - (5,402) (5,402)
Reclassficaton acjustments for HARARRRN

impairment loss incuded in the REEEN

consolcated tatement of EfpEAR

pofitor loss - 3458 - 3458 348
Share of xchange diference B ATH

o asocates Exze ) - - 7 l
Share of xchange diference E-FAEREH

of ajointventure EfEiE (629) - - (629) (629)
Total comprehensive (expenses) En2E (%) WABE

noome for the year (1,201) (1,944) 9,249 (150,231) (153,259)
Ererise of sfare otions kBRE - - - s o
‘Aoguiston of addiionalinterest HER-BF2ENBLAN

na non-wholly owned subsidery g (Wit ae)

Notedd ; ] - - - - - - - SRR/ I U]
Forfeture of share options bR - - - (2275) 2215 - - - - - - - - -
ALy 2015 R-Z-RFLA=1-A 82 6325 (3,380) 990 (37876 149579 m 9,209 2420 BN 4 475661 - AT5e80
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

mOEmEBNT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31JULY 2015 H#Z - —RF+tA=1+—HIFE

Other reserve

Other reserve represents the difference between the capital
contribution received from (paid to) a non-controlling interest of a
subsidiary and the increase (decrease) in its shares of net asset value
of that subsidiary.

Capital redemption reserve

Capital redemption reserve represents the nominal value of the shares
repurchased which has been paid out of the distributable reserves of
the Company.

Statutory surplus reserve

As stipulated by regulations in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC"), the Company’s subsidiaries established and operated in the
PRC are required to appropriate 10% of their after-tax-profit (after
offsetting prior year losses) as determined in accordance with the PRC
accounting rules and regulations, to statutory surplus reserve until the
reserve balance reaches 50% of the registered capital. The transfer to
this reserve must be made before distribution of a dividend to equity
OWners.

Legal reserve

In accordance with Macau Commercial Code, the Company’'s
subsidiary incorporated in Macau is required to appropriate 25% of its
net profit to a legal reserve until the balance of the reserve reaches
50% of the subsidiary’s registered capital. Legal reserve is not
distributable to shareholders.

1.

Hitb e

H {5 (s HE 1) — P Y /B8 2 B SEHE B s MR (32
) B & ELAT D (5 2 MY B A B & BV F(E S 0 ORL
D) BEEREE -

BEAREHE

BERNEE FHiRECBRRMNMEE - ARSERN
ARBH A IR o

EEBBAEE

REREARIMBE ([HE])ERRE - ARF]
FEFR BRI LN BARARERETEE
TR R FOEREE R BB (M BEFE
ERRR)MI0EREEEERBRAEE  BEEZX
RBENAERESTIMERNS0% L - BERE
R A D IKBUE BB =2 R

ETE R

RIBRFIE R - AR BRIRPIEM ARSI KO B
N AR N B ATRI ) 25% IR TE R - BEE %
BB RESIE QR EME AR 50% ALk &
EREBEIEDIRTEIR

AFKEEZERERAT
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
RO IRERNER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31JULY 2015 &2 —F—AE+A=1+—HILFE

2015 2014
—E-RHEF —T—m
HK$°000 HK$'000
FBxT FABT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REEE
Loss before tax KRt R ES 1B (159,359) (220,638)
Adjustments for: MATFIBELFAE
Interest income FLEMA (5,700) (5,987)
Dividend income % S U A (806) (1,726)
Investment loss from derivative financial FTHES BT B EEE
instruments 6,236 689
Fair value (gain) loss on derivative financial PTEEMIANTE
instruments (Yezk) B 18 (2,458) 20,679
Fair value loss on financial asset designated at EER A FEHRIE R
fair value through profit or loss BEaNEESMEE
AFEEE - 32
Gain on disposal of financial asset designated Y e iR A a5 BE
at fair value through profit or loss I I8 MR FE A
S RVEE R (70) (2,943)
Gain on disposal of held-for-trading HEREEZIRE W
investments (2,672) (3,457)
Fair value loss on held-for-trading investments RHIEEERELNTEESE 7,533 2,259
Loss (gain) on disposal of available-for-sale HERMEHESREE
financial assets B8 (e ) 125 (2,889)
Gain on profit guarantee i MR 78 W 2 - (7,440)
Loss on disposal of an associate & — A& A Rl Es e 861 -
Impairment loss recognised in respect of MAEHESHEERR
available-for-sale financial assets RREEE 3,458 752
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments TET T E R IE 351 367
Amortisation of deferred income IR TN 2 5 (25) (25)
Amortisation of intangible assets B B S 359 422
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME - BEMEETE 17,218 35,429
Fair value loss on investment properties WEMEN A FEEE 2,246 -
Impairment l0ss recognised in respect of MYZE - BE R FEER
property, plant and equipment RREE B 34,138 54,709
Impairment loss recognised in respect of L ELfth FE LR GRIB RESR Y
other receivables BIEEE 3,710 -
Impairment loss recognised in respect of BLAEUL — A1 EsE = A Bl 5R1E
amount due from an associate R AR EEE 178 -
Impairment loss recognised in respect BT B E R
of intangible assets BIEEE 5,155 1,565
Share of results of joint ventures EIEEE NS (629) -
Share of results of associates FE(REE R R R AR 468 76
Loss on disposal of interest in a joint venture HER—EEEhER
R KBS 18 63 -
Loss on disposal of property, plant HEME BB K&
and equipment R &8 13,396 6,371
Impairment loss recognised in respect of A — & A Al iR
interest in an associate R EE 1B 580 -
Impairment l0ss recognised in respect FIEWE 5 BR R TER A
of trade receivables VERIE B! 560 316
Provision for restructuring EHEEE 15,044 16,990
Reversal of impairment loss recognised o pL eI 5 IR SR AR
in respect of trade receivables EODERIEY G2 (902) (107)
Allowance for inventories FERE 380 5,900
Reversal of allowance for inventories BOFERE (6,905) -
Government grants BSEE (271) (1,980)
Finance costs BE A 729 314
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
FOoIRERESX

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31JULY 2015 H#Z - —RF+tA=1+—HIFE

2015 2014
—E-RHEF —T—mE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FBxT FHET
Operating cash flows before movements HEEEHAINLE
in working capital ReEmE (67,009) (99,822)
Decrease in inventories FERD 17,779 71,359
Decrease in trade and other receivables JFEUR & 5 BR 51 B H A pE Uk
RIB 14,695 39,976
Increase (decrease) in trade and other payables BN E SRR EMES
RIEIE AN L) 16,112 (15,032)
Payment on provision for restructuring EEBENR (22,555) (9,479)
Cash used in operations AREEERSNIRG (40,978) (12,998)
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid ENBEBFER - (55)
Taiwan Profit-Seeking-Enterprise Income REIREENEZEMET
Tax refunded 22 17
PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid BB ERER (94) (788)
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES ARKEESHNRESFE (41,050) (13,824)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES RETH
Placement of short-term bank deposits S EASRITIE K (140,950) (80,093)
Purchase of held-for-trading investments BEHEEERE (108,134) (196,935)
Redemption from held-to-maturity investments 8 [0 5 2= B B A 45,253 10,068
Advance from a joint venture RE—HAEERENBR 202 -
Purchase of held-to-maturity investments BESFRIHRE (88,975) =
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEYE  BEMKEE (7,026) (13,063)
Purchase of financial asset designated at fair BEETERATEYRELE
value through profit or l0ss BRARENEHEE - (3,768)
Payment for construction in progress FERETIRMNR (4) (211)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant HEWE  BENRREN
and equipment FriS k18 5,829 4,992
Proceeds from disposal of financial asset HERAFESRIEEZA
designated at fair value through profit or loss BRIBR S R EEMNFTEHE 3,788 40,234
Investment paid for derivative financial ENTESRMTIANIRE
instruments (6,236) (689)
Dividends received from available-for-sale BraHESREE
financial assets WTER 9 AR 2 542 488
Settlement from a venturer —ZEEHHER 6,147 6,043
Advance to an associate ) —FEH & A Rl A B3R (146) (32)
Interest received BEF & 6,835 6,058
Proceeds from disposal of available-for-sale HETHEECHEEN
financial assets FTi5 5k 18 1,890 6,009
Withdrawal upon maturity of short-term TG HASR T 17 20 B B RS R ER
bank deposits 126,541 109,885
Investment in an associate R—EBE QR RIRE - (1,225)
Proceeds from disposal of an associate B —EEE QR /TS RE 900 -
Proceeds from disposal of held-for-trading HERIEEERERASERIE
investments 109,291 197,656
Dividends received from held-to-maturity B2 E EREWEAAR B
investments - 50
Dividends received from held-for-trading BRHEEEHREWEAARE
investments 264 231
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—B-nEER

103




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
ROoIRERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31JULY 2015 &2 —F—AE+A=1+—HILFE

2015 2014
—E-RfF —E g
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
NET CASH (USED IN) GENERATED FROM (AR)REREETHH
INVESTING ACTIVITIES HEFEEE (43,989) 85,698
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEEH
Repayment of secured bank borrowings BEPRITEFTER (12,384) (15,000)
New secured bank borrowing raised EERAERITER - 40,542
Cash received from government grants BB /#ER e 271 1,980
Interest paid BAFE (729) (814)
Proceeds from exercise of share options TR IS B 379 -
NET CASH (USED IN) GENERATED FROM (AR RERMETEN
FINANCING ACTIVITIES NEBEE (12,463) 26,708
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND HERBEESEEY
CASH EQUIVALENTS (R 2) B hnFEE (97,502) 98,582
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE FINBRERREZEEY
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 200,111 104,910
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES  [E =5 g/ e 947 (3,381)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FRNFESRALEEY
THE END OF THE YEAR, LURTT S R e 25
represented by bank balances and cash 103,556 200,111
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

NG E e i

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31JULY 2015 #Z =T —RF+A=+—HILFE

GENERAL

Ta Yang Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is
incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability and its
shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The addresses of
the registered office and principal place of business of the
Company are disclosed in the “Corporate Information” section
of the Annual Report. The Company and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) are principally engaged in manufacturing and sale of
silicone rubber and related products.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$"). Other than those subsidiaries established
in the PRC, Macau and Indonesia whose functional currencies
are Renminbi (“RMB”), Macau Pataca (“MOP") and Indonesian
Rupiah (“IDR") respectively, the functional currency of the
Company and its other subsidiaries is HKS.

At 31 July 2015, the directors of the Company consider the
ultimate holding company of the Company to be Sunny Stars
Investments Limited which is incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands (the “BVI").

1.

—RR&ER

AHEBERER AR (AR D) RERM
EHREEMKINBERAR  ERORE
BBMAXSMERAR (TBRM))ERE
™o ARAGEMMER R EREEME
HWIRFR [ RARER] —EFHERE - AR
AMEMBRR(ARE]) TBREYER
MIERERNBERHE -

HFAEMBERERIIAET(ET]) 25 - Bk
R EL -~ SRFI K ENFERSZ B KT 2 ) 23 Rl
UARE(TARKE]) - RFIE (DRI 1)
RENEE(TEIEE D) ERThEEE N K
NEIREEMME AR I T KIS RE
T o

MR-_ZE—RELA=1+—HB AQAFESE
RN AR S AR A 8 A& Sunny Stars
Investments Limited (7A %8 g 2 B 5 ([ 22
BRZES]) ML)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR O RIS i < P 5E

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31JULY 2015 #Z—_F—RF+A=+—HILFE

2.

106

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRS(s)”) AND
NEW HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new

and revised HKFRSs, which include HKFRSS, Hong Kong

Accounting Standards (“HKAS(s)”), amendments and

Interpretations (“Int(s)"), issued by the Hong Kong Institute of

Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA").

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle

Amendments to HKFRSS Annual Improvements to

HKFRSs 2011-2013 Cycle

Amendments to Investment Entities
HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12

and HKAS 27

Defined Benefit Plans:
Employee Contributions

Offsetting Financial Assets
and Financial Liabilities

Recoverable Amount
Disclosures for
Non-Financial Assets

Novation of Derivatives and
Continuation of Hedge
Accounting

Levies

Amendments to HKAS 19
Amendments to HKAS 32

Amendments to HKAS 36

Amendments to HKAS 39

Hong Kong (IFRS
Interpretations Committee)
(“HK(IFRIC)")-Int 21

Except as described below, the application of the new and
revised HKFRSs in the current year has had no material impact
on the Group's financial performance and positions for the
current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in
these consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12 and HKAS 27
Investment Entities

The Group has applied amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12
and HKAS 27 Investment Entities for the first time in the current
year. The amendments to HKFRS 10 define an investment
entity and introduce an exception to consolidating subsidiaries
for an investment entity, except where the subsidiaries provide
services that relate to the investment entity’s investment
activities. Under the amendments to HKFRS 10, an investment
entity is required to measure its interests in subsidiaries at fair
value through profit or loss.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRS(s)”) AND
NEW HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12 and HKAS 27
Investment Entities (Continued)

To qualify as an investment entity, certain criteria have to be
met. Specifically, an entity is required to:

—  Obtain funds from one or more investors for the purpose
of providing them with professional investment;

—  Commit to its investor(s) that its business purpose is to
invest funds solely for returns from capital appreciation,
investment income, or both; and

— Measure and evaluate performance of substantially all of
its investments on a fair value basis. Consequential
amendments to HKFRS 12 and HKAS 27 have been made
to introduce new disclosure requirements for investment
entities.

As the Company is not an investment entity, the directors of
the Company consider that the application of the amendments
has had no impact on the disclosures or the amounts
recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 32 Offsetting Financial Assets
and Financial Liabilities

The Group has applied amendments to HKAS 32 Offsetting
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities for the first time in the
current year. The amendments to HKAS 32 clarify existing
application issues relating to the offset of financial assets and
financial liabilities requirements. Specifically, the amendments
clarify the meaning of “currently has a legally enforceable right
of set-off” and “simultaneous realisation and settlement”.

The amendments have been applied retrospectively. The
Group has assessed whether certain of its financial assets and
financial liabilities qualify for offset based on the criteria set out
in the amendments and concluded that the application of the
amendments has had no impact on the amounts recognised in
the Group's consolidated financial statements.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRS(s)”) AND
NEW HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 36 Recoverable Amount
Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets

The Group has applied amendments to HKAS 36 Recoverable
Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets for the first time
in the current year. The amendments to HKAS 36 require
disclosures on additional information about the fair value
measurement when the recoverable amount of impaired
assets is based on fair value less costs of disposal. If the
recoverable amount is fair value less costs of disposal, an
entity shall disclose the level of the fair value hierarchy within
which the fair value measurement of the asset or cash
generating unit is categorised in its entirety. The Group is
required to make additional disclosures for Level 2 and Level 3
of the fair value hierarchy:

— A description of the valuation techniques used to
measure the fair value less costs of disposals. If there is
any change in valuation techniques, the fact and the
reason should also be disclosed;

—  Each key assumption on which management has based
its determination of fair value less costs of disposal;

— The discount rates used in the current and previous
measurement if fair value less costs of disposal is
measured using a present value technigue.

The amendments have been applied retrospectively. The
directors of the Company consider that the application of the
amendments to HKAS 36 has had no material impact on the
disclosures in the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle

The Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle include
a number of amendments to various HKFRSsS, which are
summarised below.

The amendments to HKFRS 2 (i) change the definitions of
‘vesting condition” and ‘market condition’; and (ii) add
definitions for ‘performance condition” and ‘service condition’
which were previously included within the definition of ‘vesting
condition’. The amendments to HKFRS 2 are effective for share-
based payment transactions for which the grant date is on or
after 1 July 2014.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRS(s)”) AND
NEW HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE (Continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle
(Continued)

The amendments to HKFRS 3 clarify that contingent
consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability should
be measured at fair value at each reporting date, irrespective
of whether the contingent consideration is a financial
instrument within the scope of HKFRS 9 or HKAS 39 or a non-
financial asset or liability. Changes in fair value (other than
measurement period adjustments) should be recognised in
profit and loss. The amendments to HKFRS 3 are effective for
business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or
after 1 July 2014.

The amendments to HKFRS 8 (i) require an entity to disclose
the judgements made by management in applying the
aggregation criteria to operating segments, including a
description of the operating segments aggregated and the
economic indicators assessed in determining whether the
operating segments have ‘similar economic characteristics’;
and (i) clarify that a reconciliation of the total of the reportable
segments’ assets to the entity’s assets should only be provided
if the segment assets are regularly provided to the chief
operating decision maker.

The amendments to the basis for conclusions of HKFRS 13
clarify that the issue of HKFRS 13 and consequential
amendments to HKAS 39 and HKFRS 9 do not remove the
ability to measure short-term receivables and payables with no
stated interest rate at their invoice amounts without
discounting, if the effect of discounting is immaterial.

The amendments to HKAS 16 and HKAS 38 remove perceived
inconsistencies in the accounting for accumulated
depreciation/amortisation when an item of property, plant and
equipment or an intangible asset is revalued. The amended
standards clarify that the gross carrying amount is adjusted in
a manner consistent with the revaluation of the carrying
amount of the asset and that accumulated depreciation/
amortisation is the difference between the gross carrying
amount and the carrying amount after taking into account
accumulated impairment losses.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRS(s)”) AND
NEW HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE (Continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle
(Continued)

The amendments to HKAS 24 clarify that a management entity
providing key management personnel services to a reporting
entity is a related party of the reporting entity. Consequently,
the reporting entity should disclose as related party
transactions the amounts incurred for the service paid or
payable to the management entity for the provision of key
management personnel services. However, disclosure of the
components of such compensation is not required.

The directors of the Company considered that the application
of the amendments included in the Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle has had no material effect on the
Group's consolidated financial statements.

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2011-2013 Cycle

The Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2011-2013 Cycle include
a number of amendments to various HKFRSS, which are
summarised below.

The amendments to HKFRS 3 clarify that the standard does not
apply to the accounting for the formation of all types of joint
arrangement in the financial statements of the joint
arrangement itself.

The amendments to HKFRS 13 clarify that the scope of the
portfolio exception for measuring the fair value of a group of
financial assets and financial liabilities on a net basis includes
all contracts that are within the scope of, and accounted for in
accordance with, HKAS 39 or HKFRS 9, even if those contracts
do not meet the definitions of financial assets or financial
liabilities within HKAS 32.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31JULY 2015 #Z =T —RF+A=+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRS(s)”) AND
NEW HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE (Continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2011-2013 Cycle
(Continued)

The amendments to HKAS 40 clarify that HKAS 40 and HKFRS 3
are not mutually exclusive and application of both standards
may be required. Consequently, an entity acquiring investment
property must determine whether:

(@) the property meets the definition of investment property
in terms of HKAS 40; and

(b) the transaction meets the definition of a business
combination under HKFRS 3.

The directors of the Company considered that the application
of the amendments included in the Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2011-2013 Cycle has had no material effect on the
Group's consolidated financial statements.

Part 9 of Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622)

In addition, the annual report requirements of Part 9 “Accounts
and Audit” of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622)
come into operation during the financial year. As a result, there
are changes to presentation and disclosures of certain
information in the consolidated financial statements.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG 28
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRS(s)”) AND
NEW HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE (Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised
HKFRSSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 9 (2014)
HKFRS 15

Amendments to HKFRSS

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to
HKAS 16 and HKAS 38

Amendments to
HKAS 16 and HKAS 41

Amendments to HKAS 27
Amendments to HKFRS 10

and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS 10,
HKFRS 12 and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS 11

Financial Instruments?

Revenue from Contracts
with Customers?

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle!

Disclosure Initiative!

Clarification of Acceptable
Methods of Depreciation
and Amortisation’

Agriculture: Bearer Plants’

Equity Method in Separate
Financial Statements’

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor
and its Associate or Joint
Venture'

Investment Entities: Applying the
Consolidation Exception’

Accounting for Acquisitions of
Interests in Joint Operations'

7 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2016.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2018.

The directors of the Company anticipate that, except as
described below, the application of other new and revised
HKFRSs will have no material impact on the results and the
financial position of the Group.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRS(s)”) AND
NEW HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE (Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet effective
(Continued)

HKFRS 9 (2014) Financial Instruments

HKFRS 9 issued in 2009 introduces new requirements for the
classification and measurement of financial assets. HKFRS 9
was amended in 2010 and includes the requirements for the
classification and measurement of financial liabilities and for
derecognition. In 2013, HKFRS 9 was further amended to bring
into effect a substantial overhaul of hedge accounting that will
allow entities to better reflect their risk management activities
in the financial statements. A finalised version of HKFRS 9 was
issued in 2014 to incorporate all the requirements of HKFRS 9
that were issued in previous years with limited amendments to
the classification and measurement by introducing a “fair value
through other comprehensive income” (“FVTOCI")
measurement category for certain financial assets. The
finalised version of HKFRS 9 also introduces an “expected
credit loss” model for impairment assessments.

Key requirements of HKFRS 9 (2014) are described as follows:

— All recognised financial assets that are within the scope
of HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement to be subsequently measured at amortised
cost or fair value. Specifically, debt investments that are
held within a business model whose objective is to
collect the contractual cash flows, and that have
contractual cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal outstanding are
generally measured at amortised cost at the end of
subsequent accounting periods. Debt instruments that
are held within a business model whose objective is
achieved both by collecting contractual cash flows and
selling financial assets, and that have contractual terms
of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding, are measured at
FVTOCI. All other debt investments and equity
investments are measured at their fair values at the end
of subsequent reporting periods. In addition, under
HKFRS 9 (2014), entities may make an irrevocable election
to present subsequent changes in the fair value of an
equity investment (that is not held for trading) in other
comprehensive income, with only dividend income
generally recognised in profit or loss.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRS(s)”) AND
NEW HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE (Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet effective
(Continued)
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—  With regard to the measurement of financial liabilities —  HEEEEERATEVRLAEEZEA
designated as at fair value through profit or loss, HKFRS 9 BEMNTRAENS @ BBV BHRE
(2014) requires that the amount of change in the fair LERIEIR (ZZE—UF)HTE  %d
value of the financial liability that is attributable to REEREEERREHmMIIBHA
changes in the credit risk of that liability is presented in TEZHHBFREMEEARER 2

other comprehensive income, unless the recognition of
the effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk in other
comprehensive income would create or enlarge an
accounting mismatch in profit or loss. Changes in fair
value of financial liabilities attributable to changes in the
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reclassified to profit or loss. Under HKAS 39, the entire FEIRTEERNEEN SR A G
amount of the change in the fair value of the financial AT ESES DI BEAN BT 2
liability designated as fair value through profit or loss is Bl o
presented in profit or loss.

— Inthe aspect of impairment assessments, the impairment —  BREMEmE - BEEIMAGE
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requirements relating to the accounting for an entity’s
expected credit losses on its financial assets and
commitments to extend credit were added. Those
requirements eliminate the threshold that was in HKAS
39 for the recognition of credit losses. Under the
impairment approach in HKFRS 9 (2014), it is no longer
necessary for a credit event to have occurred before
credit losses are recognised. Instead, expected credit
losses and changes in those expected credit losses
should always be accounted for. The amount of expected
credit losses is updated at each reporting date to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition and,
consequently, more timely information is provided about
expected credit losses.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRS(s)”) AND
NEW HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE (Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet effective
(Continued)

HKFRS 9 (2014) Financial Instruments (Continued)

—  HKFRS 9 (2014) introduces a new model which more
closely aligns hedge accounting with risk management
activities undertaken by companies when hedging their
financial and non-financial risk exposures. As a principle-
based approach, HKFRS 9 (2014) looks at whether a risk
component can be identified and measured and does not
distinguish between financial items and non-financial
items. The new model also enables an entity to use
information produced internally for risk management
purposes as a basis for hedge accounting. Under HKAS
39, it is necessary to exhibit eligibility and compliance
with the requirements in HKAS 39 using metrics that are
designed solely for accounting purposes. The new model
also includes eligibility criteria but these are based on an
economic assessment of the strength of the hedging
relationship. This can be determined using risk
management data. This should reduce the costs of
implementation compared with those for HKAS 39 hedge
accounting because it reduces the amount of analysis
that is required to be undertaken only for accounting
pUrposes.

HKFRS 9 (2014) will become effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2018 with early application
permitted.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the adoption of
HKFRS 9 (2014) in the future may have significant impact on
amounts reported in respect of the Group's financial assets
and financial liabilities.

Regarding the Group's financial assets, it is not practicable to
provide a reasonable estimate of that effect until a detailed
review has been completed.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRS(s)”) AND
NEW HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE (Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet effective
(Continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The core principle of HKFRS 15 is that an entity should
recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or
services to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for those goods or services. Thus, HKFRS 15
introduces a model that applies to contracts with customers,
featuring a contract-based five-step analysis of transactions to
determine whether, how much and when revenue is
recognised. The five steps are as follows:

(i) Identify the contract with the customer;

(i Identify the performance obligations in the contract;
(i)  Determine the transaction price;

(iv)

Allocate the transaction price to the performance
obligations; and

(v)  Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a
performance obligation.

HKFRS 15 also introduces extensive qualitative and quantitative
disclosure requirements which aim to enable users of the
financial statements to understand the nature, amount, timing
and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from
contracts with customers.

HKFRS 15 will supersede the current revenue recognition
guidance including HKAS 18 Revenue, HKAS 11 Construction
Contracts and the related Interpretations when it becomes
effective.

HKFRS 15 will become effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2018 with early application permitted. The
directors of the Company anticipate that the application of
HKFRS 15 in the future may have a material impact on the
amounts reported and disclosures made in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements. However, it is not
practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of the effect of
HKFRS 15 until the Group performs a detailed review.

TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2015

2

ERFE] REIESTINSBUMIF RS
R ([EBMFREER ) RHE
B A&kl (&)

E B iR EWHVH 5T RAEIEET
SR RSERER ()

ERMBEREEAFEISH [ RATFEHN
Y2 |
ERUBRELENFISFARORABE
B MR P EEAREE RO RS AT
REWm ©HE - ERE R Z B REHMR
BZEEmAREBRESHR(E - Bt
BRI B ELERFE 155 5| A—EEAR
HEFIIVHANNER  EEHR—E
NENRERNT IR S0 - NILEE
FETER AUz £ 58 R RE o 52 A E A BR 40
T

() WBRIEFEPIIMHNAH
w

(i) BRIBHFNEDEE:

V) R(RE)EEERENEEEER
Bz -

BRV B ELERNE 1SR ITSIAREE M
NREEWERE  BNSEVBHRRER
ETRRER PRI A KA E L B e
BREMOME - €5 - BERTHBPERE -

REBHBHHRE LT ISR ERR - Hif§
BARR N WatERES - BRAEgs
A8 [k ] - BAEGTEAF 115K
[ZEAH ] RARRE -

ERMBRELENFEISHEREN —T—N\F
— ARz RFENFERRELEN B
AiRRIEM - ARBESRTAH - RARKRE
RERPBREERE 1SR AT LG HRNA
SEFEEMBRRT 2 CERSBANPAE
HZBWBERERTE - A RAKE
TRFRENA . BEREMEBMHE
HREERIFISHFNTE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

NG E e i
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRS(s)”) AND
NEW HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE (Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet effective
(Continued)

Annual Improvement to HKFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle

The Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle include
a number of amendments to various HKFRSs, which are
summarised below.

The amendments to HKFRS 5 clarify that changing from one of
the disposal methods (i.e. disposal through sale or disposal
through distribution to owners) to the other should not be
considered to be a new plan of disposal, rather it is a
continuation of the original plan. There is therefore no
interruption of the application of the requirements in HKFRS 5.
Besides, the amendments also clarify that changing the
disposal method does not change the date of classification.

The amendments to HKFRS 7 clarify that a servicing contract
that includes a fee can constitute continuing involvement in a
financial asset. An entity must assess the nature of the fee and
arrangement against the guidance for continuing involvement
in HKFRS 7 in order to assess whether the additional
disclosures for any continuing involvement in a transferred
asset that is derecognised in its entirety are required. Besides,
the amendments to HKFRS 7 also clarify that disclosures in
relation to offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities are
not required in the condensed interim financial report, unless
the disclosures provide a significant update to the information
reported in the most recent annual report.

The amendments to HKAS 19 clarify that the market depth of
high quality corporate bonds is assessed based on the
currency in which the obligation is denominated, rather than
the country where the obligation is located. When there is no
deep market for high quality corporate bonds in that currency,
government bond rates must be used.

HKAS 34 requires entities to disclose information in the notes
to the interim financial statements ‘if not disclosed elsewhere
in the interim financial report’. The amendments to HKAS 34
clarify that the required interim disclosures must either be in
the interim financial statements or incorporated by cross-
reference between the interim financial statements and
wherever they are included within the greater interim financial
report. The other information within the interim financial report
must be available to users on the same terms as the interim
financial statements and at the same time. If users do not have
access to the other information in this manner, then the
interim financial report is incomplete.

2

ERHE] REEIESTINSBUMIE RS
PR ([EBMIFREER ) LB
BraEbl (&)

2 78 1f 8 5 7 2 SX BT T A2 A 12 5T
S8 EREER ()
ERMBREEAN B —FE-F N
FRBNFERE

BB B REEA T —FE T
R FE N BIEN BB E BB R
EEANEAERT - BRSETHESIR T3 -

=

B M 15 3R & 4RI 5 5 5% M 7T B HE i AR
BH—REEEST A (B BHE ML E3EE
FEE AEL 2K HE) Btk S —EHh
ETABTER 2 A—EAEHEE - M
R RIRFT B ZJE4E - Bt - BAEE
A 75 ¥ 5 2E R 26 5 5% 2 AR 7€ 3 4 AP AT o Utk
S B RBE AT TRAAfE S A BB B T A
BRESREH -

B MR EERIFE 75 BT RS A
BEEANRBENAIBRE —HSHE
ENHE2E - ERABRBRTEVBRE
ERE7HRNHESRESIFEERARE
HEWME U ERBARIBELE A
ExE2RIFERNEEREEFLRING
B o IS AR BMELERET7 HFERT
7T B i i B 28 7R 1A 3 B P B 5 R 5 P A
HEREHEREER SR BENKE -
BRIFARMMEASMN RO FRAMBSE
PHEHEBREFHMAEL

BRRTENF19RAETARHAERE
REEFNMSAREDREENEER
IR E EMEBR R - HABERER
SERARBHRABERATS - BIAERK
&SRO R ¥4 o

BAEGTEAEM TR EERET BUB
WARMEPE (L BN P HRE Lt
TREINER - BB ERFEMREN
{ERT B HE R AR AR T M H e o RS R R R o
MM SRR P EL OB BN B 3K
ZERES2BAARBAE R BT B
HEFR - PHMBHREANEMBER AR
S BB 7 R R A AR - SR AR R B
RHEERESR - MEMEBER LT
AEHEMBEFR - AR BPBERERED

—
7'5%%0

AFKEEZERERAT

—z-ngrg | 11/




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR O RIS i < P 5E

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31JULY 2015 #Z—_F—RF+A=+—HILFE

2.

118

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRS(s)”) AND
NEW HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE (Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet effective
(Continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle
(Continued)

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the
application of the amendments included in the Annual
Improvements to HKFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle will have a material
effect on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 16 and HKAS 38 Clarification of
Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation

The amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit the use of revenue-
based depreciation methods for property, plant and equipment
under HKAS 16. The amendments to HKAS 38 introduce a
rebuttable presumption that the use of revenue-based
amortisation methods for intangible assets is inappropriate.
This presumption can be rebutted only in the following limited
circumstances:

() when the intangible asset is expressed as a measure of
revenue,

(i) when a high correlation between revenue and the
consumption of the economic benefits of the intangible
assets could be demonstrated.

The amendments to HKAS 16 and HKAS 38 will become
effective for financial statements with annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2016. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments should be applied prospectively.

As the Group uses straight-line method for depreciation of
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, the
directors of the Company do not anticipate that the application
of the amendments to HKAS 16 and HKAS 38 will have a
material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
Statements.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRS(s)”) AND
NEW HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE (Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet effective
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure Initiative

The amendments clarify that companies should use
professional judgement in determining what information as
well as where and in what order information is presented in
the financial statements. Specifically, an entity should decide,
taking into consideration all relevant facts and circumstances,
how it aggregates information in the financial statements,
which include the notes. An entity does not require to provide
a specific disclosure required by a HKFRS if the information
resulting from that disclosure is not material. This is the case
even if the HKFRS contains a list of specific requirements or
describes them as minimum requirements.

Besides, the amendments provide some additional
requirements for presenting additional line items, headings and
subtotals when their presentation is relevant to an
understanding of the entity’s financial position and financial
performance respectively. Entities, in which they have
investments in associates or joint ventures, are required to
present the share of other comprehensive income of
associates and joint ventures accounted for using the equity
method, separated into the share of items that (i) will not be
reclassified subsequently to profit or loss; and (ii) will be
reclassified subsequently to profit or loss when specific
conditions are met.

Furthermore, the amendments clarify that:

() an entity should consider the effect on the
understandability and comparability of its financial
statements when determining the order of the notes; and

(i significant accounting policies are not required to be
disclosed in one note, but instead can be included with
related information in other notes.

The amendments will become effective for financial statements
with annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016.
Earlier application is permitted. The directors of the Company
anticipate that the application of the amendments to HKAS 1 in
the future may have a material impact on the disclosures made
in the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments
and investment properties that are measured at fair values.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants in the principal (or most advantageous)
market at the measurement date under current market
conditions (i.e. an exit price) regardless of whether that price is
directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique.

The Group uses valuation technigues that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available
to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant
observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable
inputs. Specifically, the Group categorised the fair value
measurements into three levels, based on the characteristics
of inputs, as follows:

Level 1T— Quoted (unadjusted) market price in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2— Valuation techniques for which the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is directly or indirectly observable.

Level 3— Valuation techniques for which the lowest level

input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group determines
whether transfer occur between levels of the fair value
hierarchy for assets and liabilities which are measured at fair
value on recurring basis by reviewing their respective fair value
measurement.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company (i.e. its subsidiaries). If a subsidiary prepares its
financial statements using accounting policies other than those
adopted in the consolidated financial statements for like
transactions and events in similar circumstances, appropriate
adjustments are made to that subsidiary’s financial statements
in preparing the consolidated financial statements to ensure
conformity with the group’s accounting policies.

Control is achieved where the Group has: (i) the power over
the investee; (i) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and (iii) the ability to use its
power over the investee to affect the amount of the Group’s
returns. When the Group has less than a majority of the voting
rights of an investee, power over the investee may be obtained
through: (i) a contractual arrangement with other vote holders;
(i) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; (iii) the
Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights; or (iv) a
combination of the above, based on all relevant facts and
circumstances.

The Company reassesses whether it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of these elements of control stated above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control of the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary.

Income and expenses of subsidiaries are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control
until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income of subsidiaries are attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the
owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests
even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between entities of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in an
existing subsidiary

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control over
the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The
carrying amounts of the Group's interests and the non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their
relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between
the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted
and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is
recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the
Company.

Investment in a subsidiary

Investment in a subsidiary is included in the Company's
statement of financial position at cost less any identified
impairment loss.

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but
is not control or joint control of those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net
assets of the arrangement. Joint control is the contractually
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only
when decisions about the relevant activities require the
unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)

The Group's investments in associates and joint ventures are
accounted for in the consolidated financial statements using
the equity method, except for the investments classified as
held for sale in which case it is accounted for in accordance
with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations and the investments designated as at
fair value through profit or loss upon initial recognition or is
classified as held-for-trading in which case it is accounted for
under HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement. Under the equity method, investments in
associates and joint ventures are initially recognised at cost.
The Group's share of the profit or loss and changes in the other
comprehensive income of the associates and joint ventures
are recognised in profit or loss and other comprehensive
income respectively after the date of acquisition. If the Group’s
share of losses of an associate or a joint venture equals or
exceeds its interest in the associate or joint venture, which
determined using the equity method together with any long-
term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net
investment in the associate or joint venture, the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional
losses are provided for, and a liability is recognised, only to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate or
joint venture.

If an associate or a joint venture uses accounting policies other
than those of the Group for like transactions and events in
similar circumstances, adjustments are made to make the
associate’s or joint venture’s accounting policies conform to
those of the Group when the associate’s or joint venture's
financial statements are used by the Group in applying the
equity method.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted
for using the equity method from the date on which the
investee becomes an associate or a joint venture. On
acquisition of the investment, any excess of the cost of
acquisition over the Group's share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities of the associate or joint
venture is recognised as goodwill and is included in the
carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group's
share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities over the cost of acquisition, after reassessment, is
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which the
investment is acquired.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)

After application of the equity method, including recognising
the associate’s or joint venture's losses (if any), the Group
determines whether it is necessary to recognise any additional
impairment loss with respect to its investment in the associate
or joint venture. Goodwill that forms part of the carrying
amount of an investment in an associate or a joint venture is
not separately recognised. The entire carrying amount of the
investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment as a
single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of
value-in-use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its
carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms part
of the carrying amount of the investment in the associate or
joint venture. Any reversal of that impairment loss is
recognised to the extent that the recoverable amount of the
investment subsequently increases.

When the investment ceases to be an associate or a joint
venture upon the Group losing significant influence over the
associate or joint control over the joint venture, the Group
discontinues to apply equity method and any retained interest
is measured at fair value at that date which is regarded as its
fair value on initial recognition as a financial asset in
accordance with HKAS 39. Any difference between the fair
value of any retained interest and any proceeds from disposing
of a part interest in the associate or joint venture and the
carrying amount of the investment at the date the equity
method was discontinued is recognised in profit or loss. Any
amount previously recognised in other comprehensive income
in relation to that investment is reclassified to profit or loss or
retained earnings on the same basis as it would have been
required if the investee had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities.

When the Group’s ownership interest in an associate or a joint
venture is reduced, but the Group continues to apply the equity
method, the proportion of the gain or loss that had previously
been recognised in other comprehensive income relating to
that reduction in ownership interest is reclassified to profit or
loss if that gain or loss would be required to be reclassified to
profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

Gains and losses resulting from transactions between the
Group and its associate or joint venture are recognised in
consolidated financial statements only to the extent of
unrelated investors' interests in the associate or joint venture.
The Group's share in the associate’s or joint venture’s gains or
losses resulting from these transactions is eliminated.

TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held
for sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered principally
through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use.
Such classification requires the asset or the disposal group
must be available for immediate sale in its present condition
subject only to terms that are usual and customary for sales of
such asset or disposal group and its sale is highly probable.
Management must be committed to the sale, which should be
expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within
one year from the date of classification.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving loss of
control of a subsidiary, all of the assets and liabilities of that
subsidiary are classified as held for sale when the criteria
described above are met, regardless of whether the Group will
retain a non-controlling interest in its former subsidiary after
the sale.

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified as held for
sale are measured at the lower of their previous carrying
amount and fair value less costs of disposal.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including leasehold land and
buildings held for use in the production or for administrative
purposes are stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to allocate the cost or fair
value of items of property, plant and equipment other than
properties under construction less their residual values over
their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with
the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

Properties in the course of construction for production, supply
or administrative purposes are carried at cost, less any
recognised impairment loss. Costs include professional fees
and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in
accordance with the Group's accounting policy. Such
properties are classified to the appropriate categories of
property, plant and equipment when completed and ready for
intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis
as other property assets, commences when the assets are
ready for their intended use.

3.

FRESBER )
HIFEEZIERIEE

AR ER T 2BBHER S MIERBR
BEAmMKE - AEREEELHEAR
BNRARELE - 20 BREREE (S
SR BASARIR TERLE - B2
RHEREEEXHEANN —REF K
BB URHER RS - BEEES
ARG E  MEHERAET AL EAH
B —FANEBERERRRETREE

MASEAGEETZHER B RRE—
R R B 2RI - AR Lt 5 BRI
BERE  ZMBARZMBEERAR
BORARELE  THAKEREHR
HERRE LRI E A B 2 FFERE s -

DRERFHELEZ RS EE(RHEAR)
VAL B 7 B9 BRTE (B Je X B R & AR (JA
RIEERE)FTE -

MR ~ BERER

W - BB REE (R IERSEEE TR A
BHMAE T RIETF) RERE BRI IR
AER L% R ITE R EE R REE
B (A ) FIER ©

ME - BERRERBE (ERWERIN TS
REMEAIEAFHUEREERITE
AR REKRAE R FEBFSKEE - 5+
AEAFEH - RREERTETERER
SHRETR  EAGFEHOFER
RIEREAR

FEE HEXITRAENE LR METS
B ARE 2 AR REEESER - X
AEREXER R(AAEREEMS)
REAEEEFRRENMCHOBERA
ZEMEEN TR R AERERERHER
EVE  BENMRENEERR - RAE
REMZER ZREEESREHEMYESR
EMRRREERGENE

Kt RBIERERAT
—B-nEER




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

7Y=N:

RO WS IR M5t

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31JULY 2015 #Z—_F—RF+A=+—HILFE

3.

126

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

When an owner-occupied property becomes an investment
property carried at fair value, the property is revalued at the
date of transfer. Any difference between the carrying amount
and the fair value of that item at the date of transfer is
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in the properties revaluation reserve. The properties
revaluation reserve in respect of that item will be transferred
directly to accumulated losses when it is derecognised.

Leasehold land and buildings

When a lease includes both land and building elements, the
Group assesses the classification of each element as a finance
or an operating lease separately based on the assessment as
to whether substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of each element have been transferred to the
Group, unless it is clear that both elements are operating
leases in which case the entire lease is classified as an
operating lease. Specifically, the minimum lease payments
(including any lump-sum upfront payments) are allocated
between the land and the building elements in proportion to
the relative fair values of the leasehold interests in the land
element and building element of the lease at the inception of
the lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be
made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for
as an operating lease is presented as prepaid lease payments
in the consolidated statement of financial position and is
amortised over the lease term on a straight-line basis. When
the lease payments cannot be allocated reliably between the
land and building elements, the entire lease is generally
classified as a finance lease and accounted for as property,
plant and equipment.

TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for
intangible assets with finite useful lives is recognised on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The
estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective
basis.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset are measured at the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are
recognised in profit or loss in the period when the asset is
derecognised.

Land use rights

Payment for obtaining land use rights is considered as
operating lease payment. Land use rights are stated at cost
less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment
losses, amortisation is charged to consolidated statement of
profit or loss over the period of the rights using the straight-line
method.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/
or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at their fair
values. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are included in profit or loss for the
period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use
and no future economic benefits are expected from its
disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the
property (calculated as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in
profit or loss in the period in which the property is
derecognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Bank balances and cash in the consolidated statement of
financial position comprise cash at banks and on hand and
deposits with a maturity of three months or less. For the
purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents consist of cash and deposits, as defined
above. Deposits with a maturity over three months that are not
readily convertible into known amounts of cash are defined as
short-term bank deposits for the purpose of consolidated
statement of cash flows.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into one of the four
categories, including financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss (“FVTPL"), loans and receivables, held-to-maturity
investments and available-for-sale financial assets (“AFS”). The
classification depends on the nature and purpose of the
financial assets and is determined at the time of initial
recognition. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.

Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.

TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for
debt instruments other than those financial assets classified as
at FVTPL, of which interest income is included in net gains or
losses.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL when the financial
asset is either held-for-trading or it is designated as at FVTPL
on initial recognition.

A financial asset is classified as held-for-trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling
in the near term; or

° on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together
and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-
taking; or

. it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets at FVTPL (Continued)

A financial asset other than a financial asset held-for-trading
may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

o such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise; or

o the financial asset forms part of a group of financial
assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed
and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in
accordance with the Group’s documented risk
management or investment strategy, and information
about the grouping is provided internally on that basis; or

o it forms part of a contract containing one or more
embedded derivatives, and HKAS 39 permits the entire
combined contract (asset or liability) to be designated as
at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value, with
changes in fair value arising from remeasurement recognised
directly in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. The
net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any
dividend or interest earned on the financial assets and is
included in the other operating income or other expenses. Fair
value is determined in the manner described in Note 8.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and
receivables (including loan receivable from a joint venture,
trade and other receivables, amounts due from a joint venture
and an associate, short-term bank deposits and bank balances
and cash) are measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less any identified impairment loss (see
accounting policy on impairment loss on financial assets
below).

Held-to-maturity investments

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity
dates that the Group’s management has the positive intention
and ability to hold to maturity. Subsequent to initial recognition,
held-to-maturity investments are measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less any identified
impairment losses (see accounting policy on impairment loss
on financial assets below).

TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2015

3.

FESFHER (@)

SR TR

ERMEE(HE)

B FESIRIL IR 28 AR BB 2
(&)

HHBRTIER  HEEESREERIN
MEREEAN NS ERFIEERAFE
SRR A B as N B IE

o EBETERIARRIEET B
RABTLLRZ FT—HIER : %

s SREEEKNEREEXTBAMENR
MEZEHFED » WIREAKE ZBE
ERRERSIRERE - BAFEE
EEERFEKRE - MOBRER AR
MBS IR R AR ¢ =X

e SREEEANEE RBIULAESIT
ETRZAHNZETED  MEES
FHERIEVRAFENAHEN(E
ERBE) BEERQATEIIRLAER
AR

BAVEINERLEEENEENSREE
BAFERE MEAEHMGTESIRNARF
EESHEREEL BRI EERERRTRER -
RIEERERN RSN BRFEIEERES
BEERDOTAKRSHEFE - LA
MEERAREMA - AFERHTESH

B RN R

B R R WGIRIE I IR BT S R E
BEEERAEENKREENFITES R
BE - RPHERE  ERREWRFE(E
HREKR-—EaZ2EXNERK  BRE SR
AREMERTE BR-—BaEERR
— MBS AR RIE - MHISRIT AR
RITHEBREAS) GRIRABERNEEAFTE
B E i 8HAK ARUE T 2 AR EE R ASKR
(RTXEHzREERERBENSF K
) e

FHZIHRE

FAEZIMRENASBEEREEEER
7] B2 BE 0 45 B 2= HA A 19 81 5 = AT R SE Y 3K
CHRNBEEIHHAENETESREE
RUFERE  HEEINHRERRBE
B A RORET B R B S A ASRUE AT 2 38R
BEBEFE (R TXEMTREERER
BREHEER) -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

7=\

RO VRS R M5t

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31JULY 2015 #Z =T —RF+A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

AFS financial assets

AFS financial assets are non-derivatives that are either
designated as AFS financial assets or are not classified as (a)
financial assets at FVTPL, (b) loans and receivables or (c) held-
to-maturity investments.

Equity securities held by the Group that are classified as AFS
financial assets and are traded in an active market are
measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period.
Changes in the carrying amount of AFS monetary financial
assets relating to changes in foreign currency rates, interest
income calculated using the effective interest method and
dividends on AFS equity investments are recognised in profit or
loss. Other changes in the carrying amount of AFS financial
assets are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated under the heading of investments revaluation
reserve. When the investment is disposed of or is determined
to be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss previously
accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve is
reclassified to profit or loss (see the accounting policy in
respect of impairment loss on financial assets below).

Dividends on AFS equity instruments are recognised in profit or
loss when the Group's right to receive the dividends is
established.

AFS equity investments that do not have a quoted market price
in an active market and whose fair value cannot be reliably
measured and derivatives that are linked to and must be
settled by delivery of such unquoted equity investments are
measured at cost less any identified impairment losses at the
end of each reporting period (see the accounting policy in
respect of impairment loss on financial assets below).

Impairment loss on financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for
indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting period.
Financial assets are considered to be impaired when there is
objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the
estimated future cash flows of the financial assets have been
affected.

For AFS equity investments, a significant or prolonged decline
in the fair value of that investment below its cost is considered
to be objective evidence of impairment.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment l0ss on financial assets (Continued)

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment
could include:

. significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty;
or

. breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in
interest and principal payments; or

o it becoming probable that the borrower will enter into
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation; or

. disappearance of an active market for that financial asset
because of financial difficulties.

For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade and
other receivables that are assessed not to be impaired
individually are, in addition, assessed for impairment on a
collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for a
portfolio of receivables could include the Group's past
experience of collecting payments, an increase in the number
of delayed payments in the portfolio past the credit period,
observable changes in national or local economic conditions
that correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of
the impairment loss recognised is the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated
future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the
impairment loss is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated
future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of
return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment loss will
not be reversed in subsequent periods.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the
impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is
reduced through the use of an allowance account. Changes in
the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised
in profit or loss. When trade receivables are considered
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are
credited to profit or loss.

TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31JULY 2015 #Z =T —RF+A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment l0ss on financial assets (Continued)

When an AFS financial asset is considered to be impaired,
cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss in the
period in which the impairment takes place.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through
profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the
asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed
what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment
not been recognised.

Impairment losses on AFS equity investments will not be
reversed through profit or loss. Any increase in fair value
subsequent to an impairment loss is recognised directly in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in investments
revaluation reserve.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debts and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in
accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an
equity instrument.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables, amount
due to a joint venture and secured bank borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date
when a derivative contract is entered into and are
subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end of the
reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss immediately unless the derivative is designated
and effective as a hedging instrument, in which event the
timing of the recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature
of the hedge relationship.

Derecognition

A financial asset is derecognised only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it
transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in
the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to
pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises
a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum
of the consideration received and receivable and the
cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity is
recognised in profit or l0ss.

TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2015 E=F

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Derecognition (Continued)

On derecognition of a financial asset other than in its entirety,
the Group allocates the previous carrying amount of the
financial asset between the part it continues to recognise
under continuing involvement, and the part it no longer
recognises on the basis of the relative fair values of those parts
on the date of the transfer. The difference between the
carrying amount allocated to the part that is no longer
recognised and the sum of the consideration received for the
part no longer recognised and any cumulative gain or loss
allocated to it that had been recognised in other
comprehensive income is recognised in profit or loss. A
cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other
comprehensive income is allocated between the part that
continues to be recognised and the part that is no longer
recognised on the basis of the relative fair values of those
parts.

A financial liability is derecognised when, and only when, the
Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or expire. The
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is
recognised in profit or l0ss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are calculated using weighted
average method. Net realisable value represents the estimated
selling price for inventories less all estimated costs of
completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

Impairment losses on tangible and intangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets with
finite useful lives to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment
loss, if any. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated
to individual cash-generating unit, or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for
which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
identified.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment losses on tangible and intangible assets
(Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value-in-use. In assessing value-in-use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or the cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment 0ss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or the cash-generating unit) is increased
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset (or the cash-generating unit)
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment 10ss is recognised in
profit or loss.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable for goods sold and services rendered in
the normal course of business, net of discounts and sales
related taxes.

Revenue from the sales of goods is recognised when the goods
are delivered and titles have passed, at which time all the
following conditions are satisfied:

. the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant
risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;

. the Group retains neither continuing managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated with
ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;

. the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

. it is probable that the economic benefits associated with
the transaction will flow to the Group; and

. the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the
transaction can be measured reliably.

TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is
probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and
the amount of income can be measured reliably. Interest
income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal
outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which
is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that
asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

The Group’s accounting policy for recognition of revenue from
operating lease is described in the accounting policy for leasing
below.

Service income is recognised when services are provided.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the
shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been established
(provided that it is probable that the economic benefits will
flow to the Group and the amount of revenue can be measured
reliably).

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to employees

The fair value of services received determined by reference to
the fair value of share options granted at the date of grant is
expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, with
a corresponding increase in equity (share options reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of options that are expected to
ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the original
estimates during the vesting period, if any, is recognised in
profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the
revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to share
options reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to share
premium. When the share options are forfeited after the
vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the
amount previously recognised in share options reserve will be
transferred to accumulated losses.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit before tax as reported in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss because it excludes
items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in
other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable
or deductible. The Group'’s liability for current tax is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the
Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated with
such investments and interests are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable
profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable
future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities for
investment properties that are measured using the fair value
model, the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed
to be recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption
is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment
property is depreciable and is held within a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment property over
time, rather than through sale. If the presumption is rebutted,
deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets for such
investment properties are measured in accordance with the
general principles set out in HKAS 12 (i.e. based on the
expected manner as to how the property will be recovered).

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the
current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the
respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates) at the
rates of exchanges prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
At the end of the reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value
that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms
of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-
monetary items carried at fair value are included in profit or
loss for the period.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the
Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of
each reporting period. Income and expenses items are
translated at the average exchange rates for the year.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of exchange reserve (attributed to non-controlling
interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the
Group'’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a
foreign operation, a disposal involving loss of joint control over
a joint arrangement that includes a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of significant influence over an associate
that includes a foreign operation), all of the exchange
differences accumulated in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified to
profit or loss.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they are incurred.

Leasing

All leases of the Group are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor
Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

The Group as lessee
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a
systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants
are intended to compensate. Specifically, government grants
whose primary condition is that the Group should purchase,
construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets are
recognised as deferred income in the consolidated statement
of financial position and transferred to profit or loss on a
systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the
related assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of
giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future
related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they become receivable.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution plans/state-managed
retirement benefit schemes/the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme are recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense
in the period in which it is incurred.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is
probable that the Group will be required to settle that
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount
of the obligation.

Provisions including those arising from restructuring at the best
estimate of the consideration required to settle the present
obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into
account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation.
When a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated
to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the
present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time
value of money is material).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Restructuring

A restructuring provision is recognised when the Group has
developed a detailed formal plan for the restructuring and has
raised a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out
the restructuring by starting to implement the plan or
announcing its main features to those affected by it. The
measurement of a restructuring provision includes only the
direct expenditures arising from the restructuring, which are
those amounts that are both necessarily entailed by the
restructuring and not associated with the ongoing activities of
the entity.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, which are
described in Note 3, the directors of the Company are required
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

Critical judgements in applying the entity’s accounting
policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the directors of the
Company have made in the process of applying the entity’s
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on
the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements.

Held-to-maturity investments

The directors of the Company have reviewed the Group’s held-
to-maturity investments in the light of its capital maintenance
and liquidity requirements and have confirmed the Group's
positive intention and ability to hold those assets to maturity.
As at 31 July 2015, the carrying amount of the held-to-maturity
investments is approximately HK$43,442,000 (2014: nil). Details
of these assets are set out in Note 25.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Critical judgements in applying the entity’s accounting
policies (Continued)

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities arising
from investment properties that are measured using the fair
value model, the directors of the Company have reviewed the
Group's investment properties and concluded that the Group's
investment properties are held under a business model whose
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic
benefits embodied in the investment properties over time,
rather than through sale. Therefore, in measuring the Group’s
deferred taxation on investment properties, the directors of the
Company have determined that the presumption that the
carrying amount of investment properties measured using the
fair value model is recovered entirely through sale is rebutted.

Impairment of AFS financial assets

The Group classifies certain investments in listed securities as
AFS financial assets and recognised movements of their fair
values in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
investments revaluation reserve. For AFS equity investments, a
significant or prolonged decline in fair value of the securities
below its cost is considered to be objective evidence of
impairment. As at 31 July 2015, the carrying value of listed
securities classified as AFS financial assets is approximately
HK$19,596,000 net of accumulated impairment losses
recognised of approximately HK$9,090,000 (2014:
approximately HK$24,998,000 net of accumulated impairment
losses recognised of approximately HK$5,632,000) with
reference to quoted market prices of the listed securities in an
active market. No accumulated impairment losses previously
recognised is released to profit or loss upon disposal during
the year ended 31 July 2015 and 2014.

For the AFS financial assets not quoted in an active market and
measured at cost, the management uses its judgement in
selecting an appropriate valuation technique. Valuation
techniques commonly used by the market practitioners are
applied. The carrying amount of the Group's unlisted equity
investment is nil, net of accumulated impairment losses
recognised of approximately HK$11,610,000 (2014:
approximately HK$2,015,000 net of accumulated impairment
losses recognised of approximately HK$12,199,000) are valued
as net asset value of that unlisted equity investment.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of resulting in a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-
line basis over their estimated useful lives, after taking into
account their estimated residual values. The determination of
the useful lives and residual values involves management’s
estimation based on the historical experience of the actual
useful lives of the relevant assets of similar nature and
function. The Group assesses annually the residual value and
the useful life of the property, plant and equipment and if the
expectation differs from the original estimate, such a difference
may impact the depreciation in the year and the estimate will
be changed in the future period.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment,

intangible assets and prepaid lease payments

The Group tests annually whether property, plant and
equipment, intangible assets and prepaid lease payments have
suffered any impairment in accordance with relevant
accounting policies. The recoverable amounts have been
determined based on value-in-use calculations. These
calculations require the use of estimates such as the future
revenue and pre-tax discount rates. As at 31 July 2015, the
carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment, prepaid
lease payments and intangible assets are approximately
HK$100,085,000, HK$11,161,000 and nil respectively net of
accumulated impairment losses recognised of approximately
HK$108,787,000, HK$2,010,000 and HK$6,720,000 respectively.

As at 31 July 2014, the carrying amounts of property, plant and
equipment, prepaid lease payments and intangible assets are
approximately HK$173,127,000, HK$12,996,000 and
HK$5,478,000 respectively, net of accumulated impairment
losses recognised of approximately HK$74,649,000,
HK$2,010,000 and HK$1,565,000 respectively.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Fair value of investment properties

Investment properties are carried in the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 July 2015 at their fair
values of approximately HK$54,647,000 (2014: HK$31,868,000).
The fair value is based on a valuation on the properties
conducted by an independent firm of professional valuers
using open market value by reference to comparable market
transactions which involve certain assumptions of market
conditions. Favourable or unfavourable changes to these
assumptions would result in changes in the fair value of the
Group’s investment properties and corresponding adjustments
to the amount of loss reported in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss.

Provision for restructuring

To increase the Group's operational efficiency, a restructuring
plan was launched during the year ended 31 July 2014. The
Group makes the provision for restructuring cost based on
assessments of restructuring plan of the Group in accordance
with HKAS 37 Provision, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent
Assets. Significant estimates are required in determining the
provision for restructuring. There are many transactions and
calculations for which the ultimate restructuring cost is
uncertain during the ordinary course of business. Where the
final restructuring cost is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will impact the restructuring
provision in the period in which such determination is made.

Allowance for inventories

The Group makes the allowance for inventories based on
assessments of the net realisable value of inventories. An
allowance is applied to inventories where events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the net realisable value is lower
than the costs of inventories. The identification of obsolete
inventories requires the use of judgement and estimates on
the conditions and usefulness of the inventories. Where the
actual outcome in future is different from the original estimate,
such difference will impact the carrying value of inventories
and allowance write-back in the period in which such estimate
has been changed. As at 31 July 2015, the carrying value of
inventories is approximately HK$62,172,000 (net of
accumulated allowance of approximately HK$8,226,000) (2014:
HK$73,391,000 (net of accumulated allowance of approximately
HK$14,718,000)).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Impairment loss recognised in respect of trade
receivables

The Group's management determines the provision for
impairment of trade receivables with the accounting policy
stated in Note 3. Such provision for impairment is established if
there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to
collect all amounts due according to the original terms of
receivables. Management reassesses the adequacy of any
such provision on a regular basis. As at 31 July 2015, the
carrying amount of trade receivables is approximately
HK$130,803,000 (net of allowance for doubtful debts of
approximately HK$947,000) (2014: the carrying amount of trade
receivables is approximately HK$148,378,000 (net of allowance
for doubtful debts of approximately HK$2,092,000)). During the
year ended 31 July 2015, impairment loss of trade receivables
amounting to approximately HK$560,000 (2014: HK$316,000)
has been recognised.

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in several jurisdictions.
Significant estimates are required in determining the provision
for income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations
for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the
ordinary course of business. Where the final tax outcome of
these matters is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and
deferred tax provisions in the period in which such
determination is made.

Fair value of derivative financial instruments

The management of the Group uses their judgements in
selecting an appropriate valuation technique for derivative
financial instruments. Assumptions are made based on quoted
market rates adjusted for specific features of the instruments.
If the inputs and estimates applied in the model are different,
the carrying amount of these derivatives may change. As at 31
July 2015, the carrying amount of derivative financial assets
and liabilities are nil (2014: HK$300,000) and approximately
HK$17,017,000 (2014: HK$19,775,000) respectively.

TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2015

5T8:

L B HIENR G5t ABRBAR RS
FERIR (&)

f& st ANBARAR R M EZIRIR (42)
R E 5 AR AR R R A 1R

ANEE B E IR E F A M s SFT AV & AT B R
EELHEREZERAABERE - GRR
EREREREIERTNASEEBERR
B JRE USRI R ST G SR I Bl 2 B IE RS A TR o
EREETHUEMNEARERE T BHET
BEF-R_ZE—RELA=1+—8 EK
B 58RI BRE B4 4 130,803,000 7T (B
MKk REEEL 47,0008 T) (ZF—Y
F:-RERREZGEZFNEEBEN S
148,378,000 (B Mk R R B & 4
2,092,000 L)) c BE=ZT—HF LA
=+—HIFE  pEKE S ERERD
BUEEIE & 58 4 5 560,00078 T (—Z— M
4 316,000787T) °

Fris®t
AREEAGNE T ADERRENMAENR - &
EEMGHNBERAELHEAN G - &
AEEBRED AHAZRXIHRAEHEH
IABRHEEEE RAANTIE « MZFEEEHHK
RMAZERERNARNSENR - ZF
= R R B N IR R TE B RO AT S B BB KT
IR o

TTESMITANAFE
AEEEEERMITECHTARERE
HEFAREAEALE - BRDIREIA
MATHRMZEREL  YRESEELH
o AR EH A SRR E G
TR ZET4ET EMEEE A st H 3R &
F-R-_ZT—RELA=1+—8 " $14%
MEERABNERAES AT (ZZ—NH
£ : 300,0007% 7T ) & #917,017,000% T (=
T—PO4E : 19,775,000 7T) °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

7=\

RO VRS R M5t

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31JULY 2015 #Z =T —RF+A=+—HILFE

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 5. &MEAKRER
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the AEENEAEREESAEEHEER
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while FEL&ETE  BRASENEE R
maximising the return to shareholders through optimisation of B WRARRMERADR - NEE
the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy R BE SRR EA R F S o
remains unchanged from prior year.
The capital structure of the Group consists of short-term bank AEBEMEAEERFEEHRITER R
deposits, bank balances and cash, secured bank borrowings THEBEAS  BERETERARER
and equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising AHEEAEGER(RIEEETRARFE
issued share capital and reserves. The directors of the ) c AAREZSTEHRFTERERE - 1A
Company review the capital structure on a regular basis. As a W —Hn  ARAEFERERKAR
part of this review, the directors of the Company consider the HERR - REALFESER  ~5E
cost of capital and the associated risks. Based on HERRNRERBETHETOEERESE
recommendations of the directors of the Company, the Group INGERE o
will balance its overall capital structure through the payment of
dividends and the issue of new debts.
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 6. ERTH
Categories of financial instruments Eab T 2sv%a5RI
2015 2014
—ZE-RF —ZE—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Financial Assets SREE
Fair value through profit or l0ss BN EYRI S A IR
Held-for-trading investments HIEEERE 9,120 15,138
Financial asset designated at FVTPL EERATELEWIEIERR
RIENTREE - 3,688
Derivative financial instruments PTESBMTA - 300
9,120 19,126
Held-to-maturity investments BHAEEDERE 43,442 =
Loans and receivables (including bank Bk EREE (B
balances and cash) RITHEBRIES) 326,022 441,459
AFS financial assets AEHESRERE 19,596 27,013
Financial Liabilities LRAE
At amortised cost FRE SRR AN 117,450 112,863
Fair value through profit or l0ss RN EYRI 8 A R IR
Derivative financial instruments PTESRTIA 17,017 19,775
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 7. BB REREEERNIRR
POLICIES
The Group’s major financial instruments include held-to- AEENETEcRITABFERAZIHE
maturity investments, AFS financial assets, derivative financial B At EeREE TEe®IA
instruments, financial asset designated at FVTPL, loan EERATEYRIEEREAREAN S/
receivable from a joint venture, trade and other receivables, BE - BR—HeE0EZNER  BERE
held-for-trading investments, amounts due from a joint venture SRR EMELGRIE - FHEEERE
and an associate, short-term bank deposits, bank balances and FEN —fEE & % Rk — &R RHKIE
cash, secured bank borrowings, amount due to a joint venture RESRITER RITEKRKERS - BEF
and trade and other payables (including trade and bills RITHENR - B —HE & REFIENRE
payables, accrued expenses and other payables). Details of NEZERREMENFIBE(BEERNES
these financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes. R R R R IR - FET R 2 I B FE 5K
The risks associated with these financial instruments and the 1) - ZF BT ENFIBERSHBEM R
policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The B TXEIEZEFeMTAEEHANER
management manages and monitors these exposures to R R EZFRBORE - EEEEE
ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and REIEZER I - AR T RSB R
effective manner. LEVE & 1R b ©
Currency risk S = bR
The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such AEBEHEHRZEERKR - BHARKES
exposures arise from sales or purchases by several AR ZEWERBIAS BN EE &8 A
subsidiaries of the Company in currencies other than those SN E IS HE AT SH S SER AR o BEAN - FBIR
subsidiaries’ functional currencies. In addition, certain portion —FHAECENER Bl BNEED
of the loan receivable from a joint venture, amounts due from/ ¥ORE AL EeREE BERE
to joint ventures, AFS financial assets, held-to-maturity HIRE - fTEemI A iR FET
investments, derivative financial instruments, financial asset BRI EERNEENC/RERE  HIFEE
designated at FVTPL, held-for-trading investments, trade and ®E - ERESRAREMEKRZTE - R
other receivables, bank balances and cash, trade and other THEBREAS  EBNESERRZEMER
payables and secured bank borrowings are denominated in FIBARBGEMBRITIERFEE THS T
currencies other than the functional currencies of the entities LAMRRAE BE I e E B AN B MEATE ©
to which they relate.
The carrying amounts of the Group's foreign currency AEEUIINETFENEERBERKRER
denominated assets and liabilities at the reporting date are as HAREREELT :
follows:
Assets Liabilities
BE =R
2015 2014 2015 2014
—E-HF —EHWFE ZET-HF T OF
‘000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000
7 T P T
United States Dollars (“‘US$")  Ex([ZE7x)) 13,314 17,149 7,905 8,802
Euro (“EUR") Bt ([B T )) 411 69 - -
Malaysian Ringgit (“MYR") Bkt ([H]) - 5,185 - -
Japanese Yen (“JPY") HE(TEE]) 1,551 1,551 - -
New Taiwan Dollars (“NTD") Hew((#Haet]) 120,089 150,675 625 659
RMB ARHE 84,013 60,350 1,520 -
148 TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 7. UIERERERBIRNER &)
POLICIES (Continued)
Currency risk (Continued) SRR 2)
The Group has mitigated the currency exposure against the REEE EAEINES KRR E M E D
foreign currencies by using foreign exchange forward contract. MR R o ttAN - RAREEZHEERN
Moreover, the directors of the Company continuously monitor BN BB - N0 AS O R B BE E RN R
the related foreign currency exposure and will hedge significant PR ETE A o
foreign currency exposure should the need arise.
Sensitivity analysis BREDN
The Group is mainly exposed to the currency of US$, EUR, MYR, AEEFERZET BT - F% - AE -
JPY, NTD and RMB. ek A\RENEERR
The following table details the Group's sensitivity to a 5% (2014: T35 S 51| 7k £ [ 4 I 6, K BB O B B R
5%) increase and decrease in HK$ against the relevant foreign F ek BR5%( =Z —PU4F : 5%) RHREE ° 5%
currencies. 5% (2014: 5%) is the sensitivity rate used when T —EF :5%) BRAEBZEEAEE
reporting foreign currency risk internally to key management HE 20 4 N e B E s ey BT PR RO BRURR E EE 3K
personnel and represents management’s assessment of the WAREEEHERSE A EEFHATM -
reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The FRESTEBREAINE EERREREIE
sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency B WHINEERA 5% (= ZF—PU%F : 5%)
denominated items and adjusts their translation at the year BYPRBERENFROESHE - TRNEH
end for a 5% (2014: 5%) change in foreign currency rates. A BRBERBTLBREEAEN(ZF
positive number below indicates an increase in l0ss where HK$ — VU4 - 5%) BFRYIE NS 58 o i T A AR
strengthens 5% (2014: 5%) against the relevant currency. For a M ESS (=T —PU4F : 5%) @ B4
5% (2014: 5%) weakening of HK$ against the relevant currency, EEBRAMEREXERERRNTE -
there would be an equal and opposite impact on the loss for MmN ERBIBEE -
the year and other equity, and the balances below would be
negative.
us$ EUR  MYR JPY NTD RMB
£ BT B HE #H&a%¥ ARY%¥
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
FAx FTHExT FHExr FHEx  THET TET
Loss after tax KRB & RIS
— 2015 ——T—HF 2,137 175 — 5 1,553 5,115
— 2014 — —Z 4 4,219 36 622 6 2,025 2,753

In view of the pegged rate between HK$ and the USS$, the
directors of the Company do not expect there is a material
effect by any changes in movement in value of the US$ against
HKS.

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange risk as the
year end exposure does not reflect the exposure during the
year.

BHRBTEITHBHEESR  ARAES
RRETHAATHNEEEZBETIEELE
BEWN-Z &

BEEEBRR  BRFARRRYTRRER
BB - MERE DT ARERKRE G IMNER

B -

AFKEEZERERAT
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation
to its variable-rate deposits with banks and secured bank
borrowings and is also exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to its fixed-rate short-term bank deposits and held-to-
maturity investments for the year ended 31 July 2015. To
mitigate the impact of interest rate fluctuations, the Group
continually assesses and monitors the exposure to interest
rate risk.

The Group’s exposure to interest rates on financial liabilities is
detailed in the liquidity risk management section of this note.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on
the exposure to interest rates for non-derivative instruments at
the end of the reporting period. The analysis is prepared
assuming the financial instruments outstanding at the end of
the reporting period were outstanding for the whole year. A 50
basis point (2014: 50 basis points) increase or decrease is used
when reporting interest rate risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates have been 50 basis points (2014: 50 basis
points) higher/lower and all other variables were held constant,
the Group's loss for the year would decrease/increase by
approximately HK$146,000 (2014: HK$600,000).

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its
investments in listed AFS financial assets and held-for-trading
investments. The management manages this exposure by
maintaining a portfolio of investments with different risks. In
addition, the Group has appointed a special team to monitor
the price risk and will consider hedging the risk exposure
should the need arise.

TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

Other price risk (Continuead)

Sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on
the exposure to price risks at the end of the reporting period.

If the prices of the respective equity securities have been 5%
(2014: 5%) higher/lower:

— loss for the year ended 31 July 2015 would decrease/
increase by approximately HK$456,000 (2014:
HK$757,000) as a result of the changes in fair values of
held-for-trading investments; and

— investments revaluation reserve would increase/
decrease by approximately HK$980,000 (2014:
HK$1,250,000) for the Group as a result of the changes in
fair value of listed AFS financial assets.

Credit risk

As at 31 July 2015, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit
risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure
to discharge an obligation by the counterparties is arising from
the carrying amounts of the respective recognised financial
assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position. The Group does not provide any guarantees that
would expose the Group to credit risk.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for determination of
credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable amount
of each individual trade debt at the end of each reporting
period to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made
for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the directors of the
Company consider that the Group's credit risk is significantly
reduced.

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by geographical
locations is mainly in the PRC, which accounted for 53% (2014:
58%) of the total trade and bills receivables as at 31 July 2015.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 12% (2014: 23%)
and 53% (2014: 68%) of the total trade and bills receivables are
due from the Group's largest customer and the five largest
customers respectively.

The credit risk on short-term bank deposits, bank balances and
held-to-maturity investments is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned by
international credit-rating agencies.

7o

RiH5 R PR E IR BIR R ECR ()
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. The management monitors the utilisation of bank
borrowings and ensures compliance with loan covenants. The
following table details the Group's remaining contractual
maturity for its financial liabilities. The table includes both
interest and principal cash flows. To the extent that interest

flows are floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived
from interest rate curve at the end of the reporting period.

7.

RIS R PR E IR BIRRRECR ()

MENE & F R

RERRPDECRARME  ~A5EERA
EMASEEY  LHEAEFREEER
REANKY  BAEBEBREES
THERSRENDHTE - EEEER
RITERNER - ABRTEERRZLY o
TRAVAERESRBBENRTAEHNEH
B TREFBMNERASHERE - i
MERBFBNERFE  ARFRSRIZ
BEHRAF R R E -

Total
contractual
undiscounted
cash flows due

on demand
or within Carrying
one year amount
RER
R—FARZHE
EHRTHEES
REHE FREE
HK$'000 HK$'000
AT FAT
At 31 July 2015 RZZE—RFELA=+—H
Non-derivative financial liabilities ETESRARS
Trade and other payables FE 1< B 5 BiR R Ko HL A FE 1~ 5K I8 83,966 83,966
Amount due to a joint venture B —H&&EhENRIE 202 202
Secured bank borrowings BEBRITER 33,336 33,282
117,504 117,450
Derivative financial instruments PTEEmIA 17,017 17,017
At 31 July 2014 RZZT—MELA=+—H
Non-derivative financial liabilities EPTESMAE
Trade and other payables FEST B 5 BR A R H A FE A 3008 67,197 67,197
Secured bank borrowings BIKRRITER 45,740 45,666
112,937 112,863
Derivative financial instruments PTESRT A 19,775 19,775

Secured bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause

REREREZRGRNAERRTERR

are included in the “due on demand or within one year” time
band in the above maturity analysis. At 31 July 2015, the
carrying amount of these bank borrowings amounted to
approximately HK$33,282,000 (2014: HK$45,666,000).
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FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are
determined as follows:

— the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
with standard terms and conditions and traded in active
liquid markets are determined with reference to quoted
market bid prices and ask prices respectively;

— the fair value of other financial assets and financial
liabilities (excluding held-for-trading investments, AFS
financial assets and derivative financial instruments) are
determined in accordance with generally accepted
pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis
using prices from observable current market transactions
and dealer quotes for similar instruments; and

— the fair value of held-for-trading investments, AFS
financial assets and derivative financial instruments are
calculated using quoted prices. Where such prices are
not available, use is made of discounted cash flow
analysis using the applicable yield curve for the duration
of the instruments for non-optional derivatives.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at
amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements
approximate their fair values due to their immediate or short-
term maturities.

The following table provides an analysis of financial
instruments that are measured subsequent to initial
recognition at fair value, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on
the degree to which the fair value is observable.

Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted
prices (unadjusted) in active market for identical assets or
liabilities.

Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs
other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are
observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as
prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from
valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or liability
that are not based on observable market data (unobservable
inputs).

8.
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8. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 8. SEmTHANRYE®E

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial REEHEEN N TEFAENRE
liabilities that are measured at fair value on recurring BEnEENENEBENLTE
basis
Fair value hierarchy AFEER
31 July 2015
—E-hFtHA=+—H
Level 1 Level 2 Total
£—E £-E et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET F#ET

Financial assets at FVTPL BRAFETIRLEER
NEENEREE
Held-for-trading investments BFIEEERE 9,120 - 9,120

Available-for-sale financial #mH#HESREE

assets
Listed equity securities ETRRAES 19,596 - 19,596
28,716 - 28,716
Financial liabilities ERmERE
Derivative financial instruments #74& g T E - (17,017) (17,017)

154 TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 8. =TI AN FEE
Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial REEHEEN N TEFENRE
liabilities that are measured at fair value on recurring TRHEENEHEBHNLFE
basis (Continued) (%)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued) AFEBR(E)
31 July 2014
—E-EFEA=+—A
Level 1 Level 2 Total
H=E F_E HaET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAET T
Financial assets at FVTPL BRATFEIIRLEEE
NEENESREE
Held-for-trading investments FIEEEKRE 15,138 - 15,138
Financial asset designated at &5 F & A FEFIERI
fair value through profit or loss 1825 NEIEH)
TREE = 3,688 3,688
Derivative financial instruments #1744 g T A — 300 300
Available-for-sale financial ®THHEESHEE
assets
Listed equity securities TR S 24,998 - 24,998
40,136 3,988 44,124
Financial liabilities SHMAas
Derivative financial instruments $14 48T A = (19,775) (19,775)

There are no transfers between Level 1 and 2 during both
years.

RMEFERN F-EBRE_EBZMLE
EfrTEE B -
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8. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities that are measured at fair value on recurring
basis (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)
The valuation technigues and inputs used in Level 1 and 2 fair
value measurements of financial instruments are set out
below:

156

Financial assets/
financial liabilities

ETRMEE STHAME

Listed equity securities classified
as AFS financial assets in the
consolidated statement of
financial position
RerE M BIRA RS ERAELE
CREEN ETRAES

Listed equity securities classified
as held-for-trading investments
in the consolidated statement of
financial position

SRR T BB RFHE
“é“éﬁxﬁﬁﬁtmﬂxﬁw

Foreign currency forward contracts
classified as derivative financial
instruments in the consolidated
statement of financial position

REFAMBERRRD BRITEER
TAMINEERELD

TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Fair value as at

31 July 2015
—E—EF
tA=+—H
A FE

HK$19,596,000

19,596,00078 7T

HK$9,120,000

9,120,000 7T
Liabilities:

HK$17,017,000

af&E:
17,017,00078 7T

Fair value
hierarchy

DFEER

Level 1

e

Level 1

8.

ST 60/ FE )
R IEEE A A T B BATE
BERAEREMSMNATE
(%)

D EER(E)

CHTAEE—ERF_EQAFEFTEMER

RE R ET ERBABIESIERAT
Valuation

technique(s)
and key inputs

REFTERERRARE

Quoted bid prices in active markets

ARTISMREAE

Quoted bid prices in active markets

ARTISMREAE

Discounted cash flow. Forward contracts are
valued with reference to the “US$ and RMB”
forward rate extracted from Bloomberg and
adopted the PRC and US Government bonds
rate to discount the future income of forward
contracts into present value.

MHRBASRE - RASHN N2 ZER/BREEN
[EE AR | RAAERMGE - WA
HERERBFESFESEGRAGON
RAERWAITRE ZHE
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TURNOVER AND OTHER OPERATING INCOME

Turnover represents fair value of the consideration received or
receivable and for goods sold in the normal course of business
to customers, net of discounts and sales related taxes.

Turnover and other operating income recognised for the year
are as follows:

9.

SXRBRHEMESITA
LEXRBRCUIEBEAEREREXRKB
RHRRAEFPHEERNRENRQFE
BRI 40 N S5 S ARRE TR

AEEHRANEERREMLERANT

2015 2014
= —FmF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FBxT FAT
Turnover =
Sales of goods HEEm 426,242 467,264
Other operating income HAb g2 A
Interest income FLEHA
— Bank deposits — IRITER 5,026 5,833
— Held-to-maturity investments — A R H A 674 154
Total interest income M EWALR5E 5,700 5,987
Dividend income B B 806 1,726
Forfeiture of deposits from customers BWEPZS 251 3,875
Fair value gain on derivative financial PTESRT AMRATFEKS
instruments 2,458 =
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale HENHEESREEN RS
financial assets - 2,889
Gain on disposal of financial asset &S ER A AR
designated at FVTPL BaAREN S RIEEN NS 70 2,943
Gain on disposal of held-for-trading HEFEEEREN KRG
investments 2,672 3,457
Gain on profit guarantee i AR BB IR 7 - 7,440
Government grants NEgeR kA
— Amortisation of deferred income — FNREN A (f7F 43)
for the year (Note 43) 25 25
— Grants related to expenses recognised — B2 A H b 48 % UL A K
as other operating income (Note b) R HER @B (M) 271 1,980
Gross rental income (Note a) e WA (ffita) 2,417 1,914
Sundry income HIAUT A 858 2,353
15,528 34,589

Kt RBIERERAT
—B-nEER
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9.

10.

158

TURNOVER AND OTHER OPERATING INCOME
(Continued)

Notes:

(@  Ananalysis of the Group’s net rental income is as follows:

9.

0
e
@
X

NS ONE )

@ AKEESWAFENOITMAT

2015 2014
—E—FEF —T—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Gross rental income e AaEE 2,417 1,914
Less: Outgoings incurred for investment W NENE £ WA KA
properties that generated rental YIFFTH BB
income during the year (included GIATTEFAR)
in administrative expenses) (158) (171)
Net rental income HEWAFE 2,259 1,743

(b)  For the years ended 31 July 2015 and 2014, the amounts
represent unconditional grants from government for subsidising
the operations of high technology enterprises in the PRC.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

HKFRS 8 Operating Segments requires operating segments to
be identified on the basis of internal reports about components
of the Group that are regularly reviewed by the chief operating
decision maker (“CODM") (the chief executive officer) in order
to allocate resources to segments and to assess their
performance.

The Group’s operating activities are attributable to a single
operating segment focusing on the manufacture and sale of
silicone rubber and related products. This operating segment
has been identified on the basis of internal management
reports prepared in accordance with accounting policies which
conform to HKFRSs, that are regularly reviewed by the CODM.
The CODM monitors the revenue from manufacture and sale of
silicone rubber and related products for the purpose of making
decisions about resources allocation and performance
assessment. However, other than revenue analysis, no
operating results and other discrete financial information are
available for the resource allocation and performance
assessment. The CODM reviews the profit for the year of the
Group as a whole for performance assessment. No analysis of
segment assets or segment liabilities is presented as they are
not regularly provided to the CODM.

TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 10. NFER @)
Turnover from major products FTEERERER
The following is an analysis of the Group’s turnover from its AEEFEZERMTRAEERBIITAT

major products:

2015 2014
—E—AF —EO4E
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET THT
Consumer electronic devices peripheral  symEriemEES
products 222,581 218,864
Keypads for computers and notebooks B R E LA E iR 88,057 106,544
Lifestyle products KRR 38,321 46,414
Mobile phone peripheral products FHEERE G 7,855 26,177
Automotive peripheral products T EEE M 34,589 30,926
Other products HMEm 34,839 38,339
426,242 467,264
Geographical information @SR
The Group’s operations are principally located in the PRC and AEEHLEEBANREARES o
Hong Kong.
Information about the Group’s turnover from external AEBREPHERE D 2 KB INEEEP
customers based on the location of the customers and MEEBERNRREEMEDE D ZIER
information about its non-current assets by geographical BEEAMFIWMT :
location of the assets are detailed below:
Turnover from
external customers Non-current assets
REMBEFNEERE FRENEE
2015 2014 2015 2014
—E-AE —E O —E-RE —Z P4
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT BT FE T FHT
The PRC (excluding Hong Kong) = (FHB/KRIN) 212,843 233,079 155,208 209,674
Hong Kong &k 98,457 89,663 9,021 8,634
Other Asian countries H A M BIR 39,225 72,560 14,506 20,755
America M 67,565 64,173 - -
Europe B 8,152 7,789 - 1,913
426,242 467,264 178,735 240,976
Non-current assets exclude AFS financial assets. FRBEELNEREAREESHEE -
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10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 10. NIPER (&)
Information about major customers B2EFEN
Turnover from customers contributing over 10% of the total RBEFE RELHASEEEEED
sales of the Group in both years are as follows: 10% R P HEERREHTINT -
2015 2014
—2-hfF T —mEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FBT FET
Ccustomer A =5 R N/ATRER" 52,6763
Customer B ZEZ 59,4114 47,974*
Customer C ZERA 53,3762 47,1642
1 The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the 1 FERA M 2 B BRI R e AN o [ W 2 AR R Y
total revenue of the Group. 10% ©
2 Sales are derived from the sale of keypads for computer and 2 SHERTR B HE B R E LA ERIRE -
notebooks.
g Sales are derived from the sale of consumer electronic devices g HERDREHEHEE TREREER
peripheral products.
4 Sales are derived from the sale of consumer electronic devices 4 HERDREHEHBEEFREREER
peripheral products and automotive peripheral products. RAEREER °
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11. OTHER EXPENSES 11. Hfthhz
2015 2014
—E-RF —ZE—UF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Exchange losses b 5+ &8 1,329 3,763
Fair value loss on derivative financial TESRMTANATEER
instruments - 20,679
Fair value loss on financial asset TEER AT EY R8s AR R
designated at FVTPL memMEENQTERE - 32
Fair value loss on held-for-trading FEEEREN AT AEREE
investments 7,533 2,259
Fair value loss on investment properties &Y A FERRE (Hf:23)
(Note 23) 2,246 —
Impairment losses recognised in respect of: 3t LA T 45 18 kSR 1 5 (B E5 18
— amount due from an associate — FEU—FEIEs = A R RIE 178 -
— available-for-sale financial assets — AL EeREE 3,458 752
— intangible assets — B EE 5,155 1,565
— interest in an associate (Note 27) — R—RH A R R MERS (fE27) 580 -
— property, plant and equipment — ME - MERERE 34,138 54,709
Investment loss from derivative financial 744/ T EKIREEE
instruments 6,236 689
Loss on disposal of available-for-sale HEMHEESREENEE
financial assets 125 -
Loss on disposal of interest in a joint HER—HEaLtENERAEISR
venture 63 -
Loss on disposal of interest in HER—MEBE QR NERMERE
an associate 861 -
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEME  HMEMREHER
equipment 13,396 6,371
Others b 402 -
75,700 90,819
12. FINANCE COSTS 12, BREAUN
2015 2014
—ZE—hfF —T-mEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Interest on secured bank borrowings wholly 78 f1 45 A& E 8 1 A K 38
repayable within five years RITIE KA FILE 729 814

Kt RBIERERAT
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13.

162

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CREDIT) FriSi sz (%)
2015 2014
—E-4fF —ZT—mEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FiBT FABT
Current tax BNER%L IR
Hong Kong Profits Tax BBNEH - 430
PRC Enterprise Income Tax B EFTSR 29 49
29 529
Under provision in prior years BAEFERETR
PRC Enterprise Income Tax B EMSE 65 738
Taiwan Profit-Seeking Enterprise Income BEEREXMEH
Tax (“Taiwan Income Tax") ([&EFEH) - 42
65 780
Deferred taxation (Note 44) IRIETIE (Mt 44)
Current year NEE (71) (1,589)
23 (280)

Hong Kong Profits Tax has not been provided for in the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 July
2015 as the Group did not derive any assessable profits.

During the year ended 31 July 2014, Hong Kong Profits Tax was
calculated at 16.5% of the estimated assessable profits.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands
and BVI, the Group is not subject to any income tax in the
Cayman Islands and BVI.

No provision for Indonesia Income Tax for the years ended 31
July 2015 and 2014 has been made as the subsidiary operating
in Indonesia did not generate any assessable profits in
Indonesia.

Ta Yang Group (Macao Commercial Offshore) Limited is
incorporated as a commercial offshore entity in Macau and is
exempted from Macau Complementary Income Tax.

No provision for Taiwan Income Tax for the years ended 31 July
2015 and 2014 has been made as the Group did not generate
any assessable profits in Taiwan.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31JULY 2015 #Z =T —RF+A=+—HILFE

13. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CREDIT) (Continued) 13.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax
rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% from 1 January 2008
onwards. Accordingly, provision for PRC Enterprise Income Tax
for the PRC subsidiaries is calculated at 25% of estimated
assessable profits for both years.

The income tax expense (credit) for the year can be reconciled
to the loss before tax per the consolidated statement of profit
or loss as follows:

PRGBS (ft %) (&)

BIEFBEEMESHE(EERSHRED
ME¥EMBTRIABRIES - PEB AR
R-ZTTENEFE— A —BEHOTRE25% -
At - AP BB A B AR B 2 TS A
B3z 2 M8 F 2 /9 il 51 FE R B i F1 B9 25%
ATHE o

FAMBHRAX (BR) B S BaRAE
MR BB BRI T

2015 2014
—E-AfF —E—mE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Loss before tax BR7R A ES1E (159,359) (220,638)
Tax credit at rates applicable to loss in the ZERR BB REE EREEN
jurisdictions concerned HRAENFHIEE R (20,304) (55,329)
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax BERBWA TS L
purposes (3,018) (3,814)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for A 0754 5 =2 A i 74 57 28
tax purposes 10,404 19,647
Tax effect of share of results of associates S {GHk & A T &N 2 77 13
Utilisation of tax losses previously not BT EERNRSEE
recognised (7) (11)
Underprovision in prior years BEEERETR 65 780
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised KRR BB IS 2 12,806 38,434
Income tax expense (credit) for the year  FAMEHFES GE%) 23 (280)

Details of deferred taxation are shown in Note 44.

BRI IS HN K44 -

AFKEEZERERAT

—z-ngeg | 103




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RO TS IR MI 5T

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31JULY 2015 #Z—_F—RF+A=+—HILFE

14. LOSS FOR THE YEAR 14. FARKE

2015 2014
—E-8F —T O
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHET

Loss for the year has been arrived FREER TR GTA)

at after charging (crediting): LA &IE -
Auditor’s remuneration Z AN &

Current year REEZ 1,260 1,240

Over provision for prior year B FEBEARE (213) =
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments TR HEERIEEE (AE22)

(Note 22) 351 367
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 20) 8 E R (M aE20) 359 422
Costs of inventories sold (Note) BEEFEXRAN (K1) 382,649 466,023
Allowance for inventories GFEREE Gr AHEEMA)

(included in cost of sales) 380 5,900
Share of taxation of an associate Db — [ & A R FRIE

(included in share of results of associates) (GTAE(GHE 2 A AR FER) (46) 50
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  ¥13 « M= MR EITE

(Note 19) (HtaE19) 17,218 35,429
Directors’ emoluments (Note 18) E50e (FE18) 4,650 4,714
Impairment loss recognised in respect of FLEUE 5 BR R AERRREE R

trade receivables (Note 31) (Kta£31) 560 316
Impairment loss recognised in respect of b EL At B OB R B R E BT 18

other receivables 3,710 =
Payments under operating leases in respect of AR RIEFHLEESFHEE T

land and buildings (BN 7,216 7,310
Research and development costs IR ID N 4,380 4,500
Reversal of impairment loss recognised ¢ [0] L FE Uk B 5 PR TR AERR A

in respect of trade receivables (Note 31) REEE (K731) (902) (107)
Reversal of allowance for inventories BEFEEEGIASESENA)

(included in cost of sales) (6,905) -
Staff costs (excluding directors’ emoluments) B IKA(TBIEEEME)

(Note 17) (HtaE17) 196,502 249,397
Note: Cost of inventories sold includes approximately HK$148,869,000 Hiit - EEFERABFEHEETHA iERAX

(2014:HK$194,586,000) relating to staff costs, depreciation MG ETREERABIE R 148,869,000
expenses and operating lease charges which amounts are also B (ZZF—HF ¢ 194,586,0007%7C) * B
included in the respective total amounts disclosed separately BEEMEFAR LB HENFRBEE
above. A °

15. DIVIDENDS 15. IR2
No dividend was paid or proposed during the year ended 31 REBEZE_ZE—hAFtA=T—BLEFEL
July 2015, nor has any dividend been proposed since the end |YNIERREEMRE - BWMEHAR
of the reporting period (2014: nil). LASR IR 2 o IR AT AR B (= — U4 -

) o
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16. LOSS PER SHARE

(a)

Basic

Loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss
attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares in issue during both

7=\

RO VRS R M5t

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31JULY 2015 #Z =T —RF+A=+—HILFE

16. S&E8

BIK

FRBETIRMIEFERR RS A
FE(L B IERR A B 31T BB AR e N

BEETHE

years.
2015 2014
—E-hHEF —T—EF
Loss for the year attributable to RREEE AL FEEE
owners of the Company (HK$'000) (F%&x) (156,335) (216,563)
Weighted average number of ordinary 2 247 E:@ MR InkE F 52
shares in issue ('000) (FR%) 778,546 778,541
Loss per share (HK cents) iz EsE GBL) (20.08) (27.82)
(b) Diluted s
2015 2014
—E-AEF —Z=
Loss for the year attributable to RARHAE NEEEEER
owners of the Company (HK$'000) (F#71) (156,335) (216,563)
Weighted average number of ordinary 2 817 & AR & hnE - 15 25
shares in issue ('000) (FR%) 778,546 778,541
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary 17 B RS A i A ) 3R PG
shares derived from exercising of SIS (B i)
share options (Note) 127 -
778,673 778,541
Loss per share (HK cents) iz EsE GBL) (20.08) (27.82)
Note: For the year ended 31 July 2014, the computation of Kt - REEZT—NFE+A=+—HI

FE - BRRETENAR R
ERTTEESNFHRMDTIE -
W Et E S A EE R R I B RRZ
SRR

diluted loss per share did not assume the exercise of the
Company's outstanding share options as the exercise
prices of those options were higher than the average
market price for shares.
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17.

166

STAFF COSTS (EXCLUDING DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS)

17. 8THN(ABIEESHE)

2015 2014

—E-hfF —Z—[UF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FExT T

Salaries, allowances and other benefits e AL R EMEF 168,414 218,738
Staff redundancy cost B 15,044 16,990
Retirement benefit schemes contributions i ki@ FI5T & 2k 13,044 13,669
196,502 249,397

The subsidiaries in Hong Kong operate defined contribution
schemes under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance which are available to qualified
employees. The assets of the schemes are held separately
from those of the subsidiaries in independently administered
funds. Monthly contributions made by the subsidiaries are
calculated based on certain percentages of the applicable
payroll costs or fixed sums as stipulated under the relevant
requirements, as appropriate with effective from 1 June 2014,
the maximum relevant income level for contributions has been
increased from HK$25,000 monthly to HK$30,000 monthly.

Pursuant to the regulations of the relevant authorities in the
PRC, the subsidiaries of the Group in this country participate in
respective government retirement benefit schemes (the
“Schemes”) whereby the subsidiaries are required to contribute
to the Schemes to fund the retirement benefits of the eligible
employees. Contributions made to the Schemes are calculated
based on certain percentages of the applicable payroll costs as
stipulated under the requirements in the PRC. The relevant
authorities of the PRC are responsible for the entire pension
obligations payable to the retired employees. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the Schemes is to pay
the ongoing required contributions under the Schemes.

Employees employed by the Group’s operations in Macau
Special Administrative Region (“MSAR") are members of
government-managed retirement benefits scheme operated by
the MSAR government. The MSAR operations are required to
pay a monthly fixed contribution to the retirement benefits
schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group
with respect to the retirement benefits schemes operated by
the MSAR government is to make the required contributions
under the scheme.
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STAFF COSTS (EXCLUDING DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) 17. 8 TAIN(ABIFESME) (2)
(Continued)
The retirement benefit schemes contributions represent RARBEHNFEIHFTIEAEERNTEEEE
contributions by the Group to the Schemes operated by the R MsZ EET &l - R PR IR BT R S AY
relevant authorities of the PRC, the retirement scheme RRGTEIRNEE - a8 REBRIMNE
operated by the MSAR government and the defined B ET BIE AR -
contribution schemes operated in Hong Kong, Taiwan and
Indonesia.
Details of the Company’s share options granted to the ARaRFAEEEEBERENFBEHN
employees of the Group are set out in Note 45. BI5E45 -
DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S 18. BEERTHAZME
EMOLUMENTS
(a) Directors’ and chief executive officer’s @) ESBKTERERME
emoluments
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the nine BN SEMNNE(ZE—WF - h4H)
(2014: nine) directors and the chief executive officer are ES(BRETHRAR) SENHEH
as follows: BT
For the year ended 31 July 2015 BE-Z—HFtA=+—HLEFE
Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefit
and other Discretionary schemes
Fees benefits honus  contributions Total
Fé 28 BAER
e  REMET HETA AR h)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TET ThL FHT FHT
Executive directors HITEZE
Huang Sheng-Shun B - 1,200 100 18 1,318
Huang Te-Wei (Note) BERHE) - 866 70 18 954
Wong Tak Leung BER - 756 63 18 837
Kwok Yiu Kai (Note) DR (L) - 722 49 18 789
Non-executive director FaTES
Wu Ih Chen REH 180 135 10 7 332
Independent non-executive directors  BuEHTES
Kirk Yang R - - - - -
Yeung Chi Tat HEE 180 - - - 180
Hsieh Yu Bl 120 - - - 120
Jou Yow-Jen A% 120 - - - 120
600 3,679 292 79 4,650

Kt RBIERERAT
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18. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S 18. EBNITHBAEME &)
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
(a) Directors’ and chief executive officer’s (@) EBRTEAIME &)
emoluments (Continued)
For the year ended 31 July 2014 BE-Z-—MNFEtA=+—HLEE
Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefit
and other  Discretionary schemes
Fees henefits bonus  contributions Total
Ei -4 BINEA
ik REMEF [l 7 HE o e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL Tix THr THL THT
Executive directors HTES
Huang Sheng-Shun a2k - 1,200 100 16 1,316
Huang Te-Wei (Note) AR - 868 70 16 954
Lin Hung-Ming (Note) WRH (H15) - 608 3 10 651
Wong Tak Leung BER - 756 63 16 835
Non-executive director FHUTES
Wu Ih Chen REH 180 319 25 14 538

Independent non-executive directors B EHTES

Kirk Yang e = = = = =
Yeung Chi Tat Btz 180 - _ _ 180
Hsieh Yu EiEs 120 - - - 120
Jou Yow-Jen A9y 120 - - - 120
600 3,751 291 72 4,714
Note: Huang Te-Wei is also the chief executive officer of the Bt - SERIMARDEITHRER » £X
company and his emoluments disclosed above include Frig R M & BB EERTTERAAE
those for services rendered by him as the chief executive RERBHME -
officer.
Lin Hung-Ming ceased to be the executive director of the MEHE =T —NF=A=+—H
Company with effect from 31 March 2014. BIBARRARITES -
Kwok Yiu Kai was appointed as the executive director of FREN_T—NFEN\A—BEZR
the Company on 1 August 2014 for a term of two years. ERARRANTES - REMF -
No directors and the chief executive officer waived or RREFE @ HEES RITHAAHN
agreed to waive any emoluments during both years. ERENEEAME -
The bonus for both years represents one month salary at MEFENEAIEESSRNELS TH
discretionary of the Board. —fER%FE -
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18. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S 18. EFRTHBIME &)
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
(b) Senior management’s emoluments b) ShEREMNE
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the AEBLERRHFALTFR WA (=
Group, four (2014: four) were directors including chief T—UEF : WAL RAARIES (B
executive officer of the Company whose emoluments are TR  BENMESHN L -
set out above. The emolument of the remaining one BT —A(ZZE—EF : —A)HB<
(2014: one) individual is as follows: N
2015 2014
—Z—hfF —Z O
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FHETT
Salaries, allowances and e ER R EAER
other benefits 832 832
Retirement benefit schemes RUREAIFH B
contributions 18 16
850 848
The emolument is within the following band: &N T A TEE -

No. of individuals

A
2015 2014
—E—RfF —E—uE
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z% 1,000,000 7T 1 1
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19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 19. FE - MENK
Properties Furniture,
held for Motor Plantand fixtures and Leasehold
Oown use vehicles machinery ~ equipment  improvements Total
b3 B %E
BRNE A& BERES ki HENEEE &t

HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
TEL TEL TEL TEL TEL TEL

COST HAE
At 1 August 2013 R=E-=E\A—H 111,891 70719 368871 85,303 87,362 661,006
Exchange realignment EiA% (1,555) (103) (6,034) (1,696) (1,406) (10,794)
Additions AE 407 1,165 6,164 1,265 3830 12,831
Transfer from construction in progress BEBREIR

(Note 21) (Hizt21) - = 149 16 = 165
Disposals e = (662) (29015 227 - (31.948)
At31 July 2014 R-E-MELR=1-H 110,743 7479 340,135 83117 89,786 631,260
Exchange realignment B3 131 4 170 17 (17 305
Additions AE = 3 3636 1,764 2312 7,147
Transfer from construction in progress BROERTR

(Note 21) (Hiz21) 162 = 63 = = 205
Revaluation for items transferred to EREEERENFAER

investment properties 10312 - - - - 10312
Transfer to investment properties (Note 23)  BEZRENE (K#23) (27,206) - - - - (27.206)
Disposals he (3,825) (786) (50.271) (14,676) - (69.558)
At311uly 2015 RZE-1EtA=1-A 90,317 6,732 293733 70,222 92,081 553,085
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND ZiEREE

IMPAIRMENT
At 1 August 2013 R=Z-=E\A—H 36871 5177 226,849 68,324 59,147 396,368
Bxchange realignment BHAE (874) 81 (3,849) (1,220 (1,05 (7,076)
Providled for the year (Note 74) EngEE 1 5115 401 2857 3,300 3,796 35,429
Impairment loss recognised in profit orloss — NERREAMEEES 2989 194 21,369 2,69 7,461 54,709
Eliminated on disposals HER L - (569) (19,097) (1.631) - (21.97)
At31 July 2014 RZE-MELA=1-A 64,101 5122 28129 71,469 69,312 458133
Exchange realignment Eget 6 2 @) 2% (40) (14)
Provided for the year (Note 14) ERBEHE M) 288 6 12452 476 1,100 17218
Impairment oss recognised in profit orloss  WEREZNHESE 5832 23 VARKY) 1870 5081 3,138
Transfer to investment properties (Note 23)  BRZRENE (K23) (6,142 - - - - (6,142
Eliminated on disposals (L ER (3,157) (660) (34,621) (11,895) - (50,333)
At31 1uly 2015 RZE-1EtA=1-A 63524 4,993 247,084 61946 75453 453,000
CARRYING VALUES AR
At311uly 2015 RZE-AEtA=1-H 26793 1,739 46,649 8,276 16,628 100,085
AL31 uly 2014 R-E-MELAZH-A 1,602 2357 9,006 11,448 0474 173127
The above items of property, plant and equipment are LA W% - R R REEB LEGRRIA
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful TE A ERERESEEEHE

lives less residual value as follows:
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19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Properties held for own use situated on leasehold land are
depreciated over the shorter of the unexpired term of lease
and their estimated useful lives, being no more than 50 years
after the date of completion.

Estimated useful life

19. 5%~ MEN&E @)
HE i E AR 1 B ¥ IR K fE i a0 T

HA R AR A E B B (52K A H1R 50 F
M) EEREEINE -

Residual value

& 5T AT 6 A S 57 FerEE
Motor vehicles 5 years 10%
E 54
Plant and machinery 10 years 10%
R R k2 104
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 5years 10%
B REREE 54
Leasehold improvements Shorter of the lease term and 5 to 10 years -
HEWERE TR SZE10F « UREE AL

During the year ended 31 July 2015, the Group had
continuously suffered from operating loss. As a result of the
adverse operating environment and the change in market
conditions, the directors of the Company conducted a review
of the Group'’s property, plant and equipment and determined
that a number of those assets were impaired. Accordingly,
impairment loss of approximately HK$34,138,000 (2014
HK$54,709,000) has been recognised in profit or loss. The
recoverable amounts of the property, plant and equipment
have been determined by an independent qualified
professional valuer, BMI Appraisals Limited (“BMI") and
determined based on their value-in-use calculation. The pre-
tax discount rate in measuring the amounts of value-in-use
range from 21.06% to 23.45% per annum in relation to
property, plant and equipment (2014: range from 16.74% to
25.59% per annum). There has been no change from the
valuation technigue used in prior year.

REBE-_ZT—RFtA=+T—"HILFE "
AEFEERSEEER - AREERE
RERTREE  ARRESHAEERN
M- BEMSEETER UETRS
EEFASETEHERE - At ERIE
5 PR SRR (B B 18 49 34,138,000 T (=&
— P04 : 54,709,000/87T) > W% -« BE K&
BB EISEIIRBLAEREEM
BRI AAETEERAR([FFFHE])
BIBFRAEBRFEEE - sTEWE - BE
NEEFEREEMRANKAIBIRERN
F21.06%E2345%( = F — M F : N F
16.74% = 25.59%) ° Fi 58 FA B fih (B 77 /& B2
EFR °

The carrying value of properties held for own use shown above LFHEE RYENREERRE
comprises of:
2015 2014
—E—hfF —Z=—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FAT
Medium-term leases FEHEE
— in Hong Kong — I REB 8,110 8,345
— outside Hong Kong — FELIMEE 18,683 38,297
26,793 46,642

As at 31 July 2015, land and buildings located in Hong Kong
under medium-term lease with carrying value of approximately
HK$8,110,000 (2014: HK$8,345,000) have been pledged to
secure banking facilities granted to the Group.

R-ZE—AFELtA=+—8 EEEHY
8,110,000/ 7t ( == — PO £F : 8,345,000 %
o)A B BIREH SR AR i R &
FETFER (EAAEEMERRERITEE
RIPELR o
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31JULY 2015 #Z—_F—RF+A=+—HILFE

20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 20. BIEEE
HK$'000
FAT
COST RAME
At 1 August 2013 R-_E—=FN\A—H -
Additions NE 7,560
Exchange realignment M 54, 5 2 (120)
At 31 July 2014, 1 August 2014 and 31 July 2015 R=_E—mFLA=+—8" — 4
)\)El HEZ=ZF— ﬁitﬁfﬁL H 7,440
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION AND Rt E % RRE
IMPAIRMENT
At 1 August 2013 R_ZT—=F/\A—H -
Charged for the year (Note 14) F RN (ffaE 14) 422
Impairment loss recognised in profit or loss RIEZ N TER AR E 18 1,965
Exchange realignment b 3 % (25)
At 1 August 2014 RZZE—mFENA—H 1,962
Charged for the year (Note 14) EVWDE{F (HtsE14) 359
Impairment loss recognised in profit or loss RIBRAERAREEE 5,155
Exchange realignment b 5, A B (36)
At 31 July 2015 R-_ZB—AF+A=+—H 7,440
CARRYING AMOUNTS BREE
At 31 July 2015 R-_ZE—hAFtA=+—H -
At 31 July 2014 RZT—MFELA=+—H 5,478
During the year ended 31 July 2014, a non-controlling HE—_ZT—NMFtA=+—HILFE "
shareholder had injected certain patents to a subsidiary of the BIFERBRRRMAEE—FEMERRDEA
Group as capital contribution. The intangible assets have finite ETEAEERIE BEFEEERAR
useful lives and are amortised over their expected useful lives B RIE A - ThIR AL TEEA O] (6 BB EHI N
ranging from 12 to 14 years. The patents are related to plasm F12F14F TUAE S - ZZFAEERR
used for packaging cans for foodstuff and pulp molding mould. AR DEERAAEEEE AR o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

NG E e i

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31JULY 2015 #Z =T —RF+A=+—HILFE

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) 20. BEEE#E
During the year ended 31 July 2015, the Group had HE_Z—AFLtA=+—HLEE " &
continuously suffered from operating 10ss in paper packaging SEREP—HHBARBEBEXTERE
business which is the principal activity of a subsidiary, Harbin BSERAR(MBRERNF]) NEEHK
Ta Yang Development Trading Company Limited (“ & 888 A+ HEDREBRBESFSEESE - ARA
R E 5 AR A A" ("Harbin Ta Yang"). In view of getting FENKERBE-—TB(L KRAIES
further adverse operating environment in the current year, the ERIERBENIFNEEREBEE - 1B
directors of the Company ceased the production and business BEAFR_Z—AF+tA=+—HEY
operations of Harbin Ta Yang, Harbin Ta Yang became dormant mEK o Bt - BERBEEPERREERE
as at 31 July 2015. Accordingly, impairment loss of #75,155,00078 7T °
approximately HK$5,155,000 has been recognised in profit or
loss.
During the year ended 31 July 2014, in view of the adverse HE-Z-—NFLA=+—HLFE " H
operating environment and the change in market conditions, REBRIBRERTAEE - KRAFRES
the directors of the Company conducted a review of the HASEEFEEN R SREETTERRN
recoverable amounts of the Group’s intangible assets and WEFZESEEDHERE Bt ER
determined that those assets were impaired. Accordingly, 18 25 P FE SRR B /BT 1B 49 1,565,000 74 7T ©
impairment loss of approximately HK$1,565,000 had been FEEMIKESEISEB(GERMFP
recognised in profit or loss. The recoverable amounts of the MABMRENEERSEL - BARE
intangible assets had been determined by reference to a BENERAEEET - ;T8 %S o BF
valuation report conducted by BMI, an independent valuer, and BRI ATAL IR G 23 16.74% ©
on the basis of their value-in-use. The pre-tax discount rate in
measuring the amounts of value-in-use was 16.74% per
annum.
CONSTRUCTION IN PROGRESS 21. ERETE
2015 2014
—E—hfF —ZT—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
At 1 August KWAA—H 728 693
Exchange realignment P& X % 5 (11)
Additions NE 4 211
Transfer to property, plant and equipment & Z=#% « BE &5 E
(Note 19) (K17 19) (225) (165)
Transfer to prepaid lease payments WS IE A ERIE (M 22)
(Note 22) (512) =
At 31 July REA=+—H - /28

AFKEEZERERAT
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31JULY 2015 #Z—_F—RF+A=+—HILFE

22. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS 22, FAfJiHEFRIA
The prepaid lease payments consist of cost of land use rights TBNHEERIBRES BN BiZ A
in respect of land located in the PRC held under medium-term ERAM i (REE T ZIE T EEB K
leases, on which the Group’s factory plants and staff quarters ENMETIFES)NIFERAEKRAE - &#HE
are built. During the year ended 31 July 2015, certain lands —ET-hAFtA=t—HILEFE HF+L
were transferred from construction in progress and to e BEELRESRE  MERESREYE -
investment properties. The remaining period of the land use AN ER [ -t {5 AR A RO FRIBR EABR D F- 36 £ 43
rights of the Group ranges from 36 to 43 years (2014: 37 to 44 F(ZE—MF: FE2UF)TE -
years).
2015 2014
= —FmF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FBxT FAT
COST RAE
At 1 August YAV el =! 17,647 17,931
Transfer from construction in progress BEETEEE (MF21)
(Note 21) 512 =
Revaluation for lands transferred to EMEREREYEN T
investment properties 2,100 -
Transfer to investment properties (Note 23) 8 z= 35 & ¥ 2 ([ 71 23) (4,551) -
Exchange realignment bE W % 1 (284)
At 31 July RtA=+—8 15,719 17,647

ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION AND R B HRRE

IMPAIRMENT

At 1 August YAV Rl = 4,651 4,357

Charged for the year (Note 14) F NIk (K75 14) 351 367

Transfer to investment properties (Note 23) 28 = 3% & V=t (f17£23) (443) -
Exchange realignment PE H % (1) (73)
At 31 July RtA=+—8H 4,558 4,651

CARRYING AMOUNTS IREE

At 31 July RntA=+—H 11,161 12,996
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31JULY 2015 #Z =T —RF+A=+—HILFE

22. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS (Continued)

23.

22. FafJiE&EmIae)

Analysed for reporting purposes as: PR EEL DT
2015 2014
—E—hfF —Z=—mE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Current assets mENEE 321 361
Non-current assets EMEEE 10,840 12,635
11,161 12,996

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

23. REMFE

HK$'000
FAT
FAIR VALUE AFE
At 1 August 2013 R=ZTE—=F/\A—H 32,382
Exchange realignment M 54, 58 28 (514)
At 31 July 2014 and 1 August 2014 R_ZE—WFE+A=+—8H
;EZZ—HWENA—H 31,868
Transfer from property, plant and equipment B - BB MR EEE (K 19)

(Note 19) 21,064
Transfer from prepaid lease payments (Note 22) BIENHEE R EEE (i E22) 4,108
Change in fair value recognised in profit or loss RIBS R A EEB) (Mt 11)

(Note 11) (2,246)
Exchange realignment M 54, 5 2 (147)
At 31 July 2015 N—ZE—AFtA=1+—H 54,647

Notes:

(@)

All of the Group’s property interests held under operating leases
to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes are
measured using the fair value model and are classified and
accounted for as investment properties.

The carrying amount of investment properties shown above are
situated in the PRC and held under medium-term lease.

The properties with its respective prepaid lease payments held
for own use locating at Huzhou in the PRC were reclassified as
investment properties during the year upon the commencement
of the leases. These properties and prepaid lease payments
were revalued by BMI, an independent valuer, resulting in
revaluation gains of approximately HK$10,312,000 from
properties (Note 19) and approximately HK$2,100,000 from
prepaid lease payments (Note 22). The revaluation gains have
been recognised in properties revaluation reserve for the year
ended 31 July 2015.

EE

@ AEEZESEEREARNIALLE
AR 0P RS A A B At
& - UHFRABIERE WS -

()  PALEPTRBARES AL LN EH
REWENREE °

©  FAR- ZRFREMNRHEE RHERE
FEANANBEERANERRRRENR
BRIEYX - 2SWERANBEERE
BB AEMPABEEHEE - WER
BENEERADNELEE[RRED
10,312,0005% 7T ( ff £19) K 492,100,000
BT (MiEE22) - ARE[KEERBE—
T-RELA=F+RILFENYEER
TR
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—-ngrg | 172




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
40 A\

RO WS IR M5t

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31JULY 2015 #Z—_F—RF+A=+—HILFE

23. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 23. ®_EMERE)
Notes: (Continued) Biet - (&)
(d)  Asat 31 July 2015, the fair value of the investment properties d RZZE—AFtA=1+—H8 BREVEN

amounted to RMB44,070,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$54,647,000) (2014: RMB25,700,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$31,868,000)) was valued by BMI. The valuation
approach takes into account of the aggregate amount of the
value of the land for the existing use or a notional replacement
site in the same locality and the new replacement cost of the
buildings from which appropriate deductions may then be made
to allow for the age, condition, economic or functional
obsolescence and environment factors.

There has been no change from the valuation technique used in
prior year. In estimating the fair value of the properties, the
highest and best use of the properties is its current use.

Details of the Group's investment properties and information
about the fair value hierarchy as at 31 July 2015 are as follows:

Investment properties wE Y

NF{E A A R 44,070,000 7T (18 E R4
54,647,000 7T) (Z T —WF : AR
25,700,0007C ( 18 & A #731,868,0007%
JL))  TyFR R AFBEE ST o ZIBEEART
R EHEREARNEASERBRERNSE
EESHBNEEREEEHEEFTHRAE
AR - ERATRE R BARAL - AR - K
B RIRERRSIEHEE R -

S 2 5 P PR A AR B
HESNENATES  REDEORS
REERETDEBRIRE °

RZZB—AFEA=+—0 AEENEK
EMEFBEREAATEERHER T
T~

Fair Value
ATE
HK$'000
FAT
(Level 3)
(F=RE)

54,647

There was no transfer into or out of Level 3 during the year.

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements of
investment properties is as follows:

Valuation Significant

Asset technique unobservable input
BE fREFE EARATUEEHE
Investment Depreciated Market unit rates of land

properties Replacement (per square meter

Cost Approach ("sg.m.”)) are in a range
from RMB252 to RMB360

REWE MESEBRAE T3 TS B AL (B AR

(BFHFRINTFARKE2527T

ZEARK3607T

TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Current construction costs for
building (per sgq.m.) are in a
range from RMB 1,137 to
RMB1,535

BFH B ATEER AR
(BFFHK)
NFAREE1,137 T
ZEARM1,5357T

Depreciation rates (per annum)

are in a range from 15% to 21%

T % (89) N F15% E21%

FRYRBEEXERAFE=FE -

ERARENMEE=BATEFAENERN
T~

Relationship of unobservable
input to fair value
FHBREEEQ L ENBER

A slight decrease in market unit rate of
land will significantly decrease the fair
value.

3t BT I5 B A EAREN TR
&SR FERE TR

A slight decrease in construction cost will
significantly decrease the fair value.

RERABM TN - RS AT
KIET R -

A slight increase in depreciation rate will
significantly decrease the fair value.
FEREM L7 - Ha<AFE
AIE R ©
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31JULY 2015 #Z =T —RF+A=+—HILFE

LABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS 24, OJHHETHEE
2015 2014
—ZE-AfF —ZT U
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
HfaE FET FHET
Listed equity securities: ETRAES
— Listed outside Hong Kong, — EEFB LM E
at fair value W RAFE (@), (b) 19,596 24,998
Unlisted equity securities: EETRAZZ
— At cost — R AE (©) 11,610 14,214
— Less: provision for impairment — B REBEREE
loss (11,610) (12,199)
(@) - 2,015
19,596 27,013

Notes: Bk -

(@  The fair value of the above listed equity securities is determined (8)  E#t ETRAESZA A FETIIRRAERR
based on the quoted market bid prices available on the relevant SFAENTISEAREEE - REBE=
stock exchanges. During the year ended 31 July 2015, significant T—RAFEA=T—HIEFE FHEHD
decline in the fair value of the securities below their costs is FERE TREEREKARE - Eib R
noted and an impairment loss of approximately HK$3,458,000 & W a5 3% 7 52 R B /8 18 49 3,458,000 7% 7T
(2014: HK$752,000) was recognised in the consolidated (ZZ—M4F : 752,000 7T) °
statement of profit or l0ss.

(b) Included in the above listed equity securities are investments in (b) bt FRAESBERMNSEETER

Formosan Union Chemical Corp. (“Formosan”) of approximately
HK$10,369,000 (2014: HK$12,330,000). Formosan is a company
listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange and there is a common
director of the Company and Formosan.

Also, as at 31 July 2015, there are investments in United
Performance Materials Corporation (“United Performance”) of
approximately HK$1,313,000 (2014: HK$1,392,000). United
Performance is a company listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange
and there is a common director of the Company and United
Performance.

The unlisted equity securities are issued by private entities
incorporated in Taiwan. They are measured at cost less
impairment at the end of each reporting period because the
range of reasonable fair value estimate is so significant that the
directors of the Company are of the opinion that their fair values
cannot be measured reliably. The directors of the Company had
reviewed the carrying amounts of the unlisted equity securities,
impairment loss of approximately HK$11,610,000 (2014
HK$12,199,000) had been recognised in prior years in light of the
operating loss of investees and the market conditions.

MBERA R ([Fz ) #1& & 49 10,369,000
BT (—Z—PU4F : 12,330,00058 7T ) © A0
HE—RRAEBESFR S ETMHAR -
AAR RMzmE M ERES -

o R-ZE—AFEA=+—H " 7F
RESHBEXRMN AR AR (B WERE
#91,313,0007% 7t (==& — 04 : 1,392,000
BIL) c BMBRE-FXRAEREFRIME
MHIRR] » AREIRHHEE (I HLRES -

EETIRAFE S B A &M RA
BT - xS BHREEHRE HRIRK
AR ERT 2 - WIHREZSEBFNEIE
AFEMGABEGRA ARAREZRAH
AFEELAFHE - ARREECE
BIIE EMBRAEHFMIREE @ WERIRE
HRELALEBERTESKR  RBESFE
[ R OR B B 1B 49 11,610,0008 T (=&
—PO4E 1 12,199,000 7T) °
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31JULY 2015 #Z—_F—RF+A=+—HILFE

24, AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS (Continued) 24, OitHESTREE (#)

Notes: (Continued) Bt - (&)

(d)  During the year ended 31 July 2015, the Group disposed of d BEZ—AFLtA=+—HLEFE XK
certain unlisted equity securities to independent third parties SEMBIULE=FHER@EL 2,015,000
with carrying amount of approximately HK$2,015,000, which had BITHE T I E M RATE F (& RIRK
been carried at cost less impairment loss before the disposal. A AR EEEAR) o & EBEL 125,000
loss on disposal of approximately HK$125,000 has been BITEREREIBE R P IER ©
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

(e) Included in available-for-sale financial assets are the following () FAIHELESREERIETIINEREEER
amounts denominated in a currency other than functional BRI EE AN BT ERETE

currency of the relevant group entity to which they relate.

2015 2014
—E-—RE —T—F
‘000 ‘000
Seoe Tt
NTD e 75,369 92,587
25. HELD-TO-MATURITY INVESTMENTS 25. HBZEIHKE
Held-to-maturity investments comprise: HAEZFBEERTE
2015 2014
—E-AF —ZT—NF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHERT FHT
Unlisted debt securities FELEMEBES
— Fixed-rate — [EEF= 43,442 -
Notes: BfeE -
(@ At 31 July 2015, the fixed-rate unlisted debt securities carry (@ RZZE—AFEA=+—8 BEEH=ER}E
interest at 3% per annum, and will be matured in July 2016. TTHEREFIZIENFREA;E  5H
BHEEN—ZE—NFLARH -
() Included in held-to-maturity investments are the following b)) HBEEIHEELETIINEEEEES
amounts denominated in a currency other than the functional IR E M AN EHE S ER) S FE ©

currency of the relevant group entity to which they relate.

2015 2014

—g-E% —z-mg

000 000

Fi Fi

RMB AR¥ 35,034 =
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INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

Not

es to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RO IR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31JULY 2015 #Z =T —RF+A=+—HILFE

26. MAETLENIER

2015 2014
—E-AEF —Z O
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHERT FAT
Unlisted shares, at cost FEETRRAD - AKANE 6,808 6,808
Share of post-acquisition results and DU EE TS S48 M B 8
exchange reserves (5,008) (5,008)
1,800 1,800
Impairment loss recognised BRERREREE (1,800) (1,800)
Carrying amount AREE - -
The directors of the Company reviewed the carrying amount in X A A) E % £ £ B Ocean Genius Group
the equity interest of Ocean Genius Group Limited (“Ocean Limited ([ Ocean Genius | » H G A%
Genius”) whose business activity is investment holding as at 31 BER)OBRAEZENRZZE—RAFRE=F
July 2015 and 2014. In view of the continuing losses in previous —HFEEA=T—HAMEEE - &ERXZA
year, the directors of the Company were of the opinion that the AR A FRESISER  ARREERA
recoverable amount was less than its respective carrying AREEEINESENEREE  AtE
amount, accumulated impairment loss of the goodwill B R RS E BB 4 1,800,000 % 7T
approximately HK$1,800,000 (2014: HK$1,800,000) had been (ZZ—PY4 : 1,800,0007%7L) °
recognised.
At 31 July 2015 and 2014, the Group had interests in the RZE—RAFER=FT—NFEA=1+—8"
following significant joint ventures: REBPATEZSECERHER
Form of Place of Nominal value of Proportion of nominal
Class of shares  business incorporation/ issued and fully value of issued capital
Name of company held structure  operation paid share capital held by the Group  Principal activities
HREL/ BRAIRMRRA KEEREN
AAER R B ER ERRRYA  LEnd WEE BRATRAKLH TEER
2015 2014
—2-1% I-QE

QOcean Genius Ordinary Incorporated  Hong Kong HK$10,836,000 50% 50% Investment holding

Ocean Genius LRk a7 B 10,836,000/57T RERR

Huzhou Ri Jun Electronic ~ Contributed capital  Established ~ The PRC US$2,345,995 - 50% Manufacturing of keypads
Technology Company
Limited ("Huzhou Ri Jun")

(Note &)

BHARETREARAR HAEA e e 234599557 EERR
(M A% ) (Hista)

Ta Yang Agricode SdnBhd ~ Ordinary Incorporated ~ Malaysia MYR10,000,000 - 50.1% Production and sales of
('Ta Yang Agricode”) fertiliser, other pesticides
(Note b) products and biodiesel

RERBRRIRERAR  ERR Rl SRR 10,000,000 5% HERHER - Ef
(TREBB it REERRENFH
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RS R 2 I 5

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2015 HZEZ=%

—EFELA=t—HILEEE

INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

Notes:

@)

(0)

Huzhou Ri Jun was deregistered on 30 December 2014.

Before 30 April 2013, the Group and the other significant
shareholders had jointly controlled the composition of the board
of directors of Ta Yang Agricode under a joint venture
agreement. The strategic financial and operating decisions
relating to the activity of Ta Yang Agricode required the
unanimous consent of both the Group and the other significant
shareholders. Therefore, Ta Yang Agricode was classified as a
joint venture of the Group.

On 30 April 2013, the Group entered into a legal binding
settlement agreement with the other significant shareholders of
Ta Yang Agricode, pursuant to which the Group agreed to sell
and the other significant shareholders of Ta Yang Agricode
agreed to buy the 50.1% equity interests in Ta Yang Agricode.
The interest in Ta Yang Agricode had been reclassified as assets
classified as held for sale at the same date. The board of
directors represented by the Group was resigned and
consequently, the joint control of Ta Yang Agricode had been
ceased.

On 25 June 2015, the Group disposed of its 50.1% equity interest
in Ta Yang Agricode. Details are set out in Note 37.

TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2015

26. B

it -

(@)

(b)

SERER (&)

WMBRER=—F—

BB -

ME+ZA=+HR

RZT—=FMA=+HA ' RE—FE
Eifpan - AN E N H fth 3 B AR AR
RAERBERGOEKX - NFRTBEBH
ERARBE IR 5 R B ERRARAEE R
TERR-BREE - Bt KFRBSE
REEEMREDRE -

RZT—=FMA=+H RNEFELF
EBHEMEBRRT S —HAAROEN
WEERE Bt ASEREHEMA
FEBEMEFERRREEE FEEB
50.1% AR o KX BRIBHERERFE
BEFSEARBEHEELE - BAKER
RHNESSLERMT Bt AEETE
HRF RIS SR o

RZZFE—RAFANA=+HA  AEELE
BERRFRIES0.1% KA - BB
E/\\ﬁu£37°
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31JULY 2015 #Z =T —RF+A=+—HILFE

27. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 27. REELTNIER
2015 2014
—ZT-EF —Z O
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHERT FHET
Unlisted shares, at cost FEETRRAD - AKANE 2,503 2,503
Share of post-acquisition results and DU EE TS S48 M B 8
exchange reserves (162) 377
Impairment loss recognised (Note 11) B HERREEE (M 11) (580) -
Disposal HE (1,761) -
- 2,880
Details of the associates at 31 July 2015 and 2014 are as RZZE-—RFR-_ZT-—NFLtHA=+—H
follows: B E AR FIBIAR ¢
Form of Place of Registered/ Proportion of ownership
business incorporation/ paid up interest and voting rights  Principal
Name of company structure operation capital held by the Group activities
ML/ RIVE | AEERENERRES
NEEH EBERYS BEHY RERA REZELA TEEH
2015 2014

~2-1% —E2-mF

SITY Silcum & Ta Yang Incorporated Germany EUR250,000 - 50% Trading of silicone tiles and

International GmbH (“SITY") electrical switching systems
and related items

SITY Silcum & Ta Yang BT =E 250,000t YBERELZHR
International GmbH EBEEES
(IsiT])

BiOcean Holdings Limited ~ Incorporated Hong Kong HK$2,500,000 49% 49% Investment holding

BiOcean Holdings Limited ~ #EfAXZ & 2,500,000 7T REER

Biomar Industries SanBhd  Incorporated Malaysia MYRA00,000 49% 49% Trading of chemistry oll

Biomar Industries Sdn Bhd ~ #ETRARL ERAT 400,000 5% tEmE 5

Kt RBIERERAT
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31JULY 2015 #Z—_F—RF+A=+—HILFE

27. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 27. RtE aER (&)
The associates are accounted for using the equity method in g AR R Z SR M HmE P AR
these consolidated financial statements. In the opinion of the FEAR  ARREERE  BHE-_T—1
directors of the Company, SIiTY is the only material associate of F—AZ+=HHER ' SITY BAEEK
the Group for both years up to its disposal on 23 January 2015. BEBHH —SAKL AT  « REBFEZ KA
Summarised financial information of the Group’s material g AR E R ZEERTI R T - B
associate is set out below, which represents amounts shown ZHERAIEREBVBEREEAREY
in the associate’s financial statements prepared in accordance SRR AT RA) S EE ©
with HKFRSS.
2015 2014
—2-1%F —FT-mEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Current assets mENEE - 6,872
Non-current assets ERBEE - 70
Current liabilities mEaE - (3,116)
Net assets BESFE - 3,826
Revenue Wz 4,337 15,412
(Loss) profit for the year FR(EE) % (336) 278
Other comprehensive income for the year 4 RE b2 EUA 33 191
Total comprehensive (expense) income  FR2mE (FAsx) KA E%E
for the year (303) 469
Reconciliation of the summarised financial information EXENNTHBERBZESITY ERA
presented above to the carrying amount of the interest in SITY BERHERAT
is as follows:
2015 2014
—B-EF —T-mF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT T
Net assets of SiTY SITY BEFE - 3,826
Proportion of the Group’s ownership ANEEBR SITY P B 2 /Y
interest in SITY Lt 151 - 50%
Carrying amount of the Group's interest ~ ZREE R SITY FriF g R EE
in SITY - 1,913

1 82 TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

On 23 January 2015, the Group disposed all of its 50% equity
interest in SiTY to another significant shareholder of SiTY, an
independent third party, at a consideration of EUR100,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$900,000). The loss on disposal
has been recognised in profit or loss as follows:

Consideration
Carrying amount of the Group's interest in SiTY

RE

AREBRSITY H R M REE

27. REELINIER (#)

R-ZE—FRE—RA-_+=0 ' A&£HMA
STYR B —BEERR(BBILFE=F)
HEHRSITYR 2 E50% A - K E
#% 100,000 X 7T, (48 & 7 £ 900,000 7 7T ) °
ERBRTERANEEBEET

2015
—E—HF
HK$'000
FET

900
(1.761)

Loss on disposal of an associate

HE— R E R RHER

(861)

The financial information and carrying amount, in aggregate, of
the Group’s interests in associates, that are not individually
material and are accounted for using the equity method are set
out below:

The Group's share of loss REEDEEE

The Group's share of other comprehensive Zx £ &5k E fh 2
expense

The Group's share of total comprehensive 7Z<£ & 51k & E R X 4%
expense

Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's ZAN& B JEE KF 2 A A
interests in immaterial associates T MY AR BRI E

REBERER N ELETEANBRKBERE
ABRRBE N R M M E AR S B R R
FREEHZI0T

2015 2014
—g-nf  -Tme
HK$000 HK$'000
T T
300 215

87 43

387 258

- 967

The directors of the Company reviewed the carrying amount in
the equity interest of the associates as at 31 July 2014 and
2015. In view of the recurring operating losses of associates,
the directors of the Company are of the opinion that the
recoverable amount is less than its respective carrying amount,
accordingly an impairment loss of approximately HK$580,000
(2014 nil) is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss for the year ended 31 July 2015.

AARBEERN_ZE-—NEFR_Z—AF+
A=1T—HAFHAREZARNRAERN
FREME - BN E R RIBSHBK L EE
ARAEER/ATRESHRERESAH
REE AMERBE—_FT-—AFtA
=+ BUEFENRABRERT ERRME
JE1849580,000/8 7L (ZF—M4 : &) o

AFKEEZERERAT
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28.

29.

30.

184

DEPOSITS FOR ACQUISITION OF LAND USE RIGHTS

The deposits of approximately IDR21,938,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$13,163,000) (2014: IDR21,938,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$14,260,000)) were paid by the
Group to an independent third party for acquisition of pieces of
land located in Indonesia. The acquisition is expected to be
completed in July 2016. The deposits are interest-free and
unsecured.

LOAN RECEIVABLE FROM A JOINT VENTURE

The loan receivable from a joint venture with carrying amount
of MYR3,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$7,489,000)
was unsecured, interest bearing at London Inter-bank Offered
Rate (“LIBOR") plus 3% per annum and repayable in April 2014.
Subsequently, upon the enforcement of the settlement
agreement on 7 April 2014 with other significant shareholders
of Ta Yang Agricode, the terms of the loan receivable changed
to unsecured and interest-free. The loan was fully settled
during the year ended 31 July 2015. Details are set out in Note
37.

28.

29.

B T ihiERiIENRE

#921,938,000,000 EI/E J& (FEE 7247 13,163,000
PB70) (ZZ—PU4E : 21,938,000,000E0/E/E (48
B %) 14,260,0007% 7T )) K)1Z & A2 E B [
— BB E = X RERE SRR EE
Rt HHAWEBeERN T —~"FLtAR
B o RS B S KBS -

ER—EEELERNEGR

BRI 18.43,000,000 5 % (FBE 1A 497,489,000
BIL)MEKR —HeEtENERAER
| R BBERTT R ESR 2003 E M FEF E5T
B WAR-ZZT—NFEMAEE - &k
R_ZE—NFMNA+tBEXFEBRHEM
FERRAPTREBEE  BREZROK
RERBEEBRTHFL - ZERER
HE-_T-—AFLA=T—RAILEELES -
B AMIFEST

INVENTORIES 30. 78
2015 2014
—E-hEF —T &
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Raw materials R # 26,749 27,949
Work-in-progress EEG 9,722 16,367
Finished goods RURK T 25,701 29,075
62,172 73,391

During the year ended 31 July 2015, there has been an increase
in net realisable values of finished goods since the inventories
were sold with prices higher than their carrying amounts.
Reversal of allowance for inventories of approximately
HK$6,905,000 (2014: nil) has been recognised for the year
ended 31 July 2015.

TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 31. BREBZRMNEhEWFRIA
2015 2014
—ZT-EF —Z O
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Trade and bills receivables FEU & 5 8RR R FE M = 1R
— from third parties —RBRE=H 131,750 148,982
— from an associate — ER—REEBE AR - 1,488
Less: Allowance for doubtful debts W BRIEME = R EIE SRR
recognised in respect of trade and M EERERNRERE
bills receivables from third parties (947) (2,092)
130,803 148,378
Deposits and prepayments & RIERRIE 14,762 13,454
Other receivables (Note) H b pE W kA (K aE) 5,365 8,257
150,930 170,089
Note: As at 31 July 2015, the carrying amount of other receivables has Hiat - RZEBE-—RFELA=+T—H - EfEIKRK
been netted off with impairment loss of approximately TH /) BR T (B B 0 BR R B /&5 18 49 3,710,000
HK$3,710,000 (2014: nil). The amount impaired relates to value- BLT(ZT—F : T) o BESEEEK
added tax receivables and miscellaneous other receivables. The REFREMMEENEYRIEER - XA
directors of the Company assessed the recoverability of these A AT [ F A fE U IR EY AT B
other receivables is remote and impairment loss has been HAE - BB BERBESIE -
recognised accordingly.
The Group did not hold any collateral over these balances. AREEWRRZEERITHEAERG o
The Group normally grants to its customers credit periods AEB—MBAETEEFPNFI0HZE135H
ranging from 30 to 135 days which are subject to periodic WEEH mMEREEGeEHRIEHEER
review by the management. Hy o
The following is an aged analysis of trade and bills receivables, RE|EBR - HIRRERERNEKRE S
net of allowance for doubtful debts presented based on the R RENERZEZAR(BISENK
invoice date at the end of the reporting period, which miER A ) MR AT 2520 T -
approximated the respective revenue recognition date.
2015 2014
—2-EHF ke S fs
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHAT
0-90 days 0&£90H 99,786 120,341
91 days to 1 year NHE—F 31,004 27,947
Over 1 year to 2 years —E P FERE 13 90
130,803 148,378
KFEREIERBRLSE 185
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31. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) 31.

The movement in the allowance for doubtful debts of trade
receivables is as follows:

2015 2014

ZE-AfF —E e

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHT

At 1 August BNAA—B8 2,092 1,913

Exchange realignment bE % 1 (30)

Impairment loss recognised (Note 14) ERERREEE (A/aF 14) 560 316
Reversal of impairment loss recognised £ [E1 2 MR RE B8 (A5 14)

(Note 14) (902) (107)

Amounts written off as uncollectible BRI 7~ ] g 1 v i S O 2 BB (804) -

At 31 July RtA=1+—H 947 2,092

EERR IR B IR 4 R 48 5E 4 947,000 75
TT(=Z—PO4 : 2,092,000 7T) K {ERI 2
BB E 5 R - ERERERKRIE

THEMBT RSB R EELETRNR
FEE -

Included in the allowance for doubtful debts recognised are
individually impaired trade receivables with an aggregate
balance of approximately HK$947,000 (2014: HK$2,092,000). The
individually impaired receivables mainly relate to customers that
are in financial difficulty or of poor credit history.

R-P-HFR-2-MELA=+—B -
2 38 #1837 R (B A B U E 5 AR R % B UK

At 31 July 2015 and 2014, the analysis of trade and bills
receivables that were past due but not impaired are as follows:

ZEEMOMTOT
Past due but not impaired
A B Y &R E
Neither Over Over
past due 90 days but 1 year but
nor Lessthan lessthan less than
Total impaired 90 days 1 year 2 years
Rik:3t 90H M £ —FHE
@st TERHE AR08 EIR-F ELIRWE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL FAL FAT FTAT FTAT
31 July 2015 —E-HF+A=1+—H 130,803 102,375 21,846 6,582 -
31 July 2014 “E—MNFELA=+—H 148,378 126,015 19,696 2,594 73

Trade and bills receivables that were neither past due nor 3 42 160 B 7T 4 Rk B A FE U EE 55 AR SR % B LK

186

impaired relate to a wide range of customers for whom there
was no recent history of default.

Trade and bills receivables that were past due but not impaired
relate to a number of independent customers that have a good
track payment record with the Group. Based on past
experience, management believes that no allowance for
doubtful debts is necessary in respect of these balances as
there has not been a significant change in credit quality and
the balances are still considered fully recoverable.

TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) 31. BB ZRMRNEthEUWFRIA ()
Included in trade and other receivables are the following L BB 585 =1 K E A e U 3R T8 B FE T 1) BA
amounts denominated in currencies other than the functional HEEEEENNEEE AN EEIIE
currency of the relevant group entity to which they relate: KB
2015 2014
—E-AfF —ZE—mE
‘000 ‘000
F Tt
us$ e 10,952 14,482
NTD e 6,015 12,478
EUR BT 338 15
AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO A JOINT VENTURE/AN 32. U EN—REEEFR —REB
ASSOCIATE —YN=IE/L]
The amounts due from/to a joint venture and an associate are U R —HEeErER—BBE AR
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. BRIBAEER RS RIREREER -
During the year ended 31 July 2014, the Group entered into the HE-_Z-—-NFLtA=+—HILFE" &
settlement agreement with the other significant shareholders SEEANFEBHEMEZRRMER—
of Ta Yang Agricode regarding to the amount due from a joint A & 1 3 M FIE 2,185,000 5 B (B & R
venture of MYR2,185,000 (equivalent to approximately #95,211,0008 7T ) 5] 3 R Fl 3 5% + M a& X
HK$5,211,000), the amount was fully settled during the year HERBEZE-_T—AHAFLtA=F+—HLHF
ended 31 July 2015. Details are set out in Note 37. EREEEE - sHEHNRMIZEST
HELD-FOR-TRADING INVESTMENTS 33. BHEE8KE
2015 2014
—E-HEF —Z=
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTET FHTT
Equity securities at quoted BARE S (R HRE)
market prices
— listed in Hong Kong —REBLET 4,172 4,452
— listed outside Hong Kong — REBEIN LT 4,948 10,686
9,120 15,138

Included in held-for-trading investments are the following
amounts denominated in a currency other than the functional
currency of the relevant group entity to which they relate:

NTD

FIFEEREBRE NN AEASEERERN
DR EB NI EETIEN S -

2015 2014
—E—-AF —EO4
‘000 ‘000
T
19,031

Kt RBIERERAT
—B-nEER
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34.
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DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 34. fTEEMTH
2015 2014
—E-EHF —T O
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE&T T
Derivative financial instruments fTEE€@MI A
Currency structured forward contracts ¥ &# RS 4 (17,017) (19,475)
Analysed for reporting purposes: MMEELRA DT -
Current assets MENEE - 300
Current liabilities REBAE (17,017) (19,775)
(17,017) (19,475)

The total notional principal amounts of the outstanding foreign
exchange forward contracts as at the end of the reporting
period are as follows:

Sell US$ for RMB
Sell US$ for HK$

HEXTHRBRARE
HERTTREVETT

RBERR RFRINEEPRLONEE
RERBMT

2015 2014
—E—AF —E—O4E
US$'000 US$'000
FTEx FZEx
82,007 99,000

- 20,000

At 31 July 2015 and 2014, the fair values of currency structured
forward contracts were determined based on the estimated
discounted cash flow valuation provided by an independent
qualified professional valuer, BMI.

Included in fair values of the derivative financial assets and
liabilities are the following amounts denominated in currencies
other than the functional currency of the relevant group entity
to which they relate:

R-F—AFR_F-MOFLA=+—H -
EREBEERA NN FEDREB L
BEREXMGEM D A BERENMGE
FIRASREMEEE

TEEBMEENMBENAFERE TR
HEAEEERNINGESEUINERTIE
H & -

2015 2014
—E—AF —E—O4E
‘000 ‘000
F Tt
Assets BE
us$ ETT - 39
Liabilities i=F
us$ ETT 2,199 2,555
TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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34. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

The major terms of the derivative financial instruments as at 31
July 2015 and 2014 are as follows:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31JULY 2015 #Z =T —RF+A=+—HILFE

34. TEEMITE @)

RoB-AFR-F-MFLA=T-A
FIESMT AMEBHERIOT

Notional amount 1 Notional amount 2 Forward rate Settlement date Note
BERSHE1 HAESHE2 RHEXR RERAH BfaE
US$1,000,000 US$1,000,000 RMB6.205/US$ or Specified date ineach  This contract is
RMB6.17/US$ month between outstanding as at
18 June 2015 to 31 July 2015
16 June 2017
1,000,000 % 7T 1,000,0003 75 AR#62057T,/Fwsk WZZT—RAF~AT/\B R=ZF—FHFLA
AR¥EG617TT/ETT E-Z—+FXA+~H =+—H8 ZEO0E
2 H8AREERH B
US$1,000,000 US$1,000,000 RMB6.225/US$ Specified date ineach  This contract is
month between outstanding as at
29 April 2015 to 31 July 2015
27 April 2017
1,000,000 7T 1,000,000 7T AR6.2257,/ 7T RZE—HFHMA RZZ—HFtA
ZTNRAEZZ—+F =+—H ZeHhK
MAZTtHZHEGAK F&
Fr7E B H
US$1,000,000 US$2,000,000 RMB6.1/US$ Specified date ineach  This contract is
month between outstanding as at
4 March 2014 to 31 July 2014
2 February 2016 and 2015
1,000,000 7T 2,000,000 7T ARE61T/ % RZZ—NF=ANAE RZZT—NFK
—ERHFAZAZHA ZE-HFtA
BANEERH =+—RA  Z&ahhK
B
US$500,000 US$1,000,000 RMB6.111/US$ or Specified date ineach  This contract is
RMB6.05/US$ month between outstanding as at
10 February 2014 to 31 July 2014
11 January 2016 and 2015
500,000 7T 1,000,0003 75 ARE6INT/Ex8 R-Z-NE_A+HE R-ZT-NEK
AR#605TT,/%TT —T—XAB—A+—8 Z—E—AFtA
2 H8AREERH =+—R &k
TR
US$4,000,000 US$4,000,000 HKD7.749/US$ Specified date ineach  This contract was
month between outstanding as at
22 January 2013 to 31 July 2014
22 December 2014
4,000,0003 7T 4,000,000 70 7.749 %7,/ % RZZ—=%F—A8 RZE—F+A
“+ZHEZZ-OF =+—RB Z&580K
T-AZ+=AZME B
BANEERH

AFKEEZERERAT
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35.

36.
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FINANCIAL ASSET DESIGNATED AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Structured deposit with a bank

TR IRITE BB A7 3K

35.

BER L FEYIRIEEBEANRE

NEMESE

2015 2014
—g-nf  -T-mE
HK$’000 HK$'000
T T

- 3,688

The financial asset was denominated in a currency other than
functional currency of the relevant group entity amounted to
approximately RMB2,975,000 as at 31 July 2014 (2015: nil).

During the year ended 31 July 2015, the structured deposit was
matured. A gain of approximately HK$70,000 has been
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. As
at 31 July 2014, the fair value of the financial asset designated
at FVTPL was valued by an independent qualified professional
valuer, BMI. The valuation was arrived at discounted cash flow
model, assumptions were made based on forward exchange
rates and contract forward rates, discounted at a rate that
reflects the credit risk of various counterparties.

SHORT-TERM BANK DEPOSITS/BANK BALANCES AND
CASH

Short-term bank deposits

Short-term bank deposits with original maturities of more than
three months carry interest at fixed rates ranging from 2.05%
t0 7.00% (2014: 2.05% to 3.30%) per annum.

At 31 July 2015, conversion of the Group’s short-term bank
deposits denominated in RMB amounted to RMB23,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$28,520,000) (2014
RMB37,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$45,880,000))
into foreign currencies is subject to the PRC's Foreign
Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of
Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations.

TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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36. SHORT-TERM BANK DEPOSITS/BANK BALANCES AND

CASH (Continued)

Short-term bank deposits (Continued)

Included in short-term bank deposits are the following amounts
denominated in a currency other than the functional currency
of the relevant group entity to which they relate:

36. MHARTHER RITBRRRE

(%)

RHERSRITER ()

RERTERBRE NIARASEERERN
WEERH AN ER I EN TR

2015 2014

—E-RF —E—OF

‘000 ‘000

T Tt

RMB AR 46,595 21,049
Bank balances and cash RITERKRIRE

At 31 July 2015, bank balances and cash comprise of cash held
by the Group of approximately HK$103,165,000 (2014
HK$198,644,000) at prevailing market rates. The maturities of
bank balances are within three months.

Bank balances and bank deposits with maturities within three
months carry interest at average market rates of 0.79% (2014:
0.58%) per annum.

At 31 July 2015, conversion of the Group’s bank balances and
cash denominated in RMB amounted to approximately
RMB57,363,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$71,131,000)
(2014: RMB95,389,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$118,283,000)) into foreign currencies is subject to the PRC's
Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of
Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations.

R-ZE—RF+EA=1+—8 " F178Hk
ReBEAEBBHRENMSNETE
793R € #9103,165,000/8 7o ( =& — U 4F :
198,644,000 7T) ° ZEHRITHEBLN =8 A
REIE]

R=18 A RN EIER IR 1T 45 88 M SR 1T 17 3K IR
0.79E(=ZF—D4 : 0.58E )W FHHH
FFIRFTE o

R-ZEBE—RFE+A=+—8 BEEEIL
ARBHENBITEHRERAESHOARE
57,363,000 (8 7 4971,131,000/8 1) (=
T— P4 A R#95,389,000 5T (FBE R4
118,283,000 7T ) ) R 48 A N8 Z A B A
EEIREG RAENE SERMNEEERRTE
FTRR ©

Kt RBIERERAT
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36.

37.

192

SHORT-TERM BANK DEPOSITS/BANK BALANCES AND 36. MHARITER RVITBHLRE
CASH (Continued) (%)
Bank balances and cash (Continued) RTHBREIRE &)
Included in bank balances and cash are the following amounts RITHAMR LIRS BIE T AEREEEE
denominated in currencies other than the functional currency BTNREE M AN EHEFIER S 58 ¢
of the relevant group entity to which they relate:
2015 2014
—2-hfF T —mEF
‘000 ‘000
Fr T
USs$ EVIm 2,362 2,628
EUR BT 73 54
JPY H &l 1,551 1,551
NTD e 19,674 6,032
RMB AR 2,384 36,326
ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE 37. PBERKEEHEESE
On 30 April 2013, the Civil High Court in Malaysia (the “Court”) R-ZE—Z=ZFWNA=+H FRAr=SH

ruled that, Great Ocean Development Limited (“Great Ocean”)
entered into a legal binding settlement agreement with the
other significant shareholders of Ta Yang Agricode (the
“Purchasers”), independent third parties, pursuant to which
Great Ocean agreed to sell and the Purchasers agreed to
acquire (i) the entire equity interests of Great Ocean in Ta Yang
Agricode, (ii) the loan receivable from a joint venture of
MYR3,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$7,489,000) and
(i) the amount due from a joint venture of MYR2,185,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$5,211,000) at an aggregate
cash consideration of MYR5,300,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$12,720,000). The consideration included the
settlement of the loan receivable and amount due from Ta
Yang Agricode. The relevant entire equity interest in a joint
venture of approximately HK$21,000 was reclassified as assets
classified as held for sale on that date. According to the
settlement agreement, the shares will transfer to the
Purchasers when the consideration is fully settled. As at 31 July
2014, MYR2,518,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$6,043,000) has been received by the Group and included in
receipt in advance from a venturer.

TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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REZRR (AR D) AR FERBR AR
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ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE (Continued) 37.

On 25 June 2015, the remaining consideration of MYR2,782,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$6,147,000) has been received
by the Group and the Group transferred the entire equity
interest in Ta Yang Agricode to the Purchasers, the loan
receivable from a joint venture and amount due from a joint
venturer were also fully settled. The resulted loss recognised in
profit or loss is as follows:

NEREBEHEEE @)

RZEBE—RAEANA-+HB KEEBEDUYK
Bg2 TR (B 2,782,000 5 ¥ (F8E 496,147,000
BIL) C AEEBRERAERGNEBERS
HETEH MEK—HEEELENER
REWR—MAESENFENDBELS °
FrEER B ER ZEBOT

HK$'000
FAT
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest in REBRAFEBERNERE
Ta Yang Agricode 21
Loan receivable from a joint venture Bl —EAERENER 7,489
Amount due from a joint venture Bl —FE A &R ERZIE 5,211
12,721
Receipt in advance from a venturer RE—BAEEHFWTERKIE (6,043)
Consideration received during the year AEFBWRE (6,147)
Exchange loss P 5 E518 (468)
Loss on disposal of a joint venture HE—HeEENER 63
TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 38. EfTEBZARMNEMENTRIA
2015 2014
—2-1fF M
HK$°000 HK$'000
FBxT FAT
Trade and bills payables e E SRR M BN =& 31,952 31,752
Accrued expenses FERTFAX 39,150 32,560
Other payables (Note) H it e 2kIE (ffaE) 12,698 2,885
Other tax payables H b RiE 7,442 8,025
Deposits received Blize 6,370 3,769
65,660 47,239
97,612 78,991

Note: Included in the amount as at 31 July 2015, approximately
RMB5,685,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$7,050,000)
represents part of consideration received from an independent
third party for disposal of certain property, plant and equipment.
In August 2015, the buyer terminated the sales transaction and
the Group refunded the received deposit in full amount
accordingly.

Kt RZE—RFLA=T—HNELES &
AR 5,685,000 7T (185747 7,050,000 7%
TO)RRHEESETYE  BE RRAEKR
—BBUE=FNHORE KT —A
FNA - ZETRUEZBARERS A&
EEMERREENIZE -

Kt RBIERERAT
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38. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued) 38. [EfTEZKRMMNEMETFRIB(E)
An aged analysis of trade and bills payables based on the RIWEBRR - B E SRR RENZRIR
invoice date at the end of the reporting period is as follows: EEHHNRROTE5)0T ¢

2015 2014

—ZE—HF —E U

HK$'000 HK$'000

FERT T

Within 1 month or on demand —fE A MR R R EE 15,144 16,905

More than 1 month but —EAREBLR={EA

less than 3 months 13,567 11,517
More than 3 months but —EANEELR+—{EA

less than 12 months 1,473 1,273

More than 12 months TEANRE 1,768 2,057

31,952 31,752

The average credit period on purchases of goods is ranging
from 30 to 90 days. The Group has financial risk management
policies in place to ensure that all payables are settled within
the credit timeframe.

BEERMTHEEHRNFIOBENR -
AEBEREVBRAREZBR - ARRA
BRNRBEHREEHRAM

Included in trade and other payables are the following amounts
denominated in currencies other than the functional currency

e B SR R b BN SR B T 5
HEAEEERNINGESEUINNERTIE

of the relevant group entity to which they relate: e :
2015 2014
—ZE-AfF —E—mEF
‘000 ‘000
Fx T
US$ ETT 1,406 347
NTD Eil=k 625 659
RMB AR 1,520 =

1 94 TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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RECEIPT IN ADVANCE FROM A VENTURER 39. RBE—&E5ERMMIFIEA
The receipt in advance from a venturer with carrying amount AR THI {8 752,518,000 55 % (8'& 72 476,043,000
of MYR2,518,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$6,043,000) BIL)MRE —REEFNTEBGREA T
represents part of consideration received for disposal of Ta BERFRBRKBAI S RE - BRER
Yang Agricode. The rest of total consideration of MYR2,782,000 32,782,000 F5 ¥ (A8 & 70 496,147,000 7% 7T)
(equivalent to approximately HK$6,147,000) had been received ERZZE—RAFAA-THARKE - B
by 25 June 2015. The consideration was also used to settle the BRETAREERBERFREBNERR
loan receivable and amount due from Ta Yang Agricode, and REERRKFRBHRENREE-  F158
carrying amount of investment in Ta Yang Agricode. Details are BT EEST ©
set out in Note 37.
PROVISION FOR RESTRUCTURING 40. SHERHE
HK$'000
FHTT
At 1 August 2013 R—E—=%F\A—H -
Provision charged during the year ERN B 16,990
Paid during the year RE R AT (9,479)
At 31 July 2014 and 1 August 2014 RZZB—NELA=+—HBK
—E-mFENA—AH 7,51
Provision charged during the year FANEE 15,044
Paid during the year RERZ T (22,555)

At 31 July 2015

R_E—RAF+A=+—8H -

The restructuring provision referred to the restructuring plan
launched during the year ended 31 July 2014. The provision
was recognised when the Group had developed a detailed
formal plan for the restructuring and had raised a valid
expectation in those affected that it will carry out the
restructuring by starting to implement the plan or announcing
its main features to those affected by it. The restructuring
provision includes the direct expenditures arising from lay off
of redundant staff. The restructuring plan was completed
during the year ended 31 July 2015.

For better presentation, comparative figure of the provision for
restructuring has been reallocated to conform to current year's
presentation.

ERRBERHE T -NELA=1+—H
IFFEAMRERNEATE - BRAEE
RASEREANEAFELAS B3
BRBETAHERAZTZEA LT AMETE
MEBERFHERSHAEBMETERE
ERRTAMRER - EARBEEERIT
BEMEAMBERMAX - SHEIENEE
“E-hFEA=FT—HIEFEREK -

RELEENZT  BEABENLREAT
EERNENTEARFENZSITR -

AFKEEZERERAT
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41.

196

SECURED BANK BORROWINGS

Carrying amount repayable on demand % Zk(EZHEREE

41.

BiIRPRITER
2015 2014
—E-8F —Z—[UF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FHT
33,282 45,666

As at 31 July 2015, the Group borrowed two secured bank
borrowings with a repayment on demand clause amounting to
US$1,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$7,740,000), and
US$3,300,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$25,542,000)
respectively. These borrowings carry variable interest rate at
1.75% over Hong Kong Inter-bank Offered Rate (“HIBOR")/LIBOR
or the Lender’s Cost of Funds per annum, whichever is higher
and are repayable on demand. The effective interest rate on
the borrowings is 1.94% (2014: 1.81%) per annum. During the
year ended 31 July 2015, a borrowing of US$1,600,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$12,384,000) has been fully
settled.

As at 31 July 2015, land and buildings located in Hong Kong
under medium-term lease with carrying value of approximately
HK$8,110,000 (2014: HK$8,345,000) have been pledged to
secure banking facilities granted to the Group.

Included in secured bank borrowings are the following
amounts denominated in a currency other than the functional
currency of the relevant group entity to which they relate:

US$

MN-Z—RAELA=1+—8 AEEEA
MEM AR EREZERNFIRPRITE
X & %5 B 41,000,000 7T (HHE R4
7,740,000 7T ) & 3,300,000 %7t (FBE R4
25,542,000 70) ° Z S ERIEBBRITRE
EIRE MRBERITRERE NS ERF
FFENESHEABERER(URSE HE)
B WAREREE - ERNEREF
REI19AB(ZZE—MNF :181E) - #H=E
—E-—RAELtA=F+-—BILEE:
1,600,000 7T, (48 & 7 49 12,384,000 7% 7T )
RfEREBEES -

R_ZE—AFELtA=+—8 EEEHY
8,110,000 yt ( — & — U 4 : 8,345,000/8
TR EBREBERAEER AR L1 R
FETER ERAASEMERRITEE
HIFEIR o

BEMBITERBE TIIABBEEER
MR B UM ERIIEN SRR

2015 2014
—g-nf  -T-mE
'000 ‘000

T F7E
4,300 5,900

TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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42. SHARE CAPITAL 42, A%IN
Authorised and issued share capital EERESETRRIR
Number of shares Share capital
BRiFEE &N

2015 2014 2015 2014

—g-5F -T-NF <—P-BF —TNF

‘000 ‘000 HK$'000 HK$'000

Fh Fh% TET FHBT

Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each  ERXEE0.178 7T A T8 A%

Authorised: EE
At beginning and end of the year REHIRFER 20,000,000 20,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRABE:
At 1 August WNAR—AH 778,541 778,541 77,854 77,854
Issue of shares under the RBEAA B R 2
Company's share option BITRD
schemes 382 - 38 -
At 31 July ntA=+—H 778,923 778,541 77,892 77,854
Note: During the year ended 31 July 2015, options were exercised to Mt - BEZE=ZFT—AFEtA=+—BIEFE 7
subscribe for 382,000 shares in the Company at a consideration 52 8 382,000 A% A 2 B iR 17 0 B AR A 1T
of approximately HK$379,000 of which approximately HK$38,000 £ R{E X B3790008 Tt & F 4
was credited to share capital, approximately HK$127,000 was 38,0007 7T B 5t AR A + £9127,0007% 7T
debited to the share options reserve and the balance of B B R i B R 40 BR - BR K40 468,000
approximately HK$468,000 was credited to the share premium. B ITAIET ARG iR ER o
43. DEFERRED INCOME 43. REUWA
2015 2014
—E-RF —ZE—OF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
At the beginning of the reporting period k& 2i 4] 3,971 4,061
Exchange realignment R - (65)
Credited to profit or loss (Note 9) T AB= (32 9) (25) (25)
At the end of the reporting period AR 25 HAZR 3,946 3,971

Kt RBIERERAT
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RS R 2 I 5

—EFELA=t—HILEEE

DEFERRED INCOME (Continued)

In 2009, the Group received a government grant (“Grant A") of
approximately HK$1,049,000 from H#iT N4 EFI s m EIR % 8
& for the acquisition of prepaid lease payments. The amount is
recognised as other operating income over the unexpired lease
term of prepaid lease payments. During the year ended 31 July
2015, deferred income of approximately HK$25,000 (2014
HK$25,000) has been recognised for Grant A in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

During the year ended 31 July 2013, the Group received a
government grant (“Grant B”) of RMB2,400,000 or equivalent to
approximately HK$2,962,000 from 2 32 & £ £ 17 & for the
development of high resolution flexible circuit board
technology. The amount will be recognised as other operating
income upon the completion of patents registration of such

43.

HRFEUNA (2)

RZZZNFE  AEEGEABNBER
BREHNTANCERERERZESH
FHBATB)E ([fEIE & 1) 491,049,000
BIT o & %F%ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁmeﬁﬁ
HARRAEMEERA - RBEEZ
—AFtA=+—HBLEFE BEREE E
IR A h 1 B £ R RE SRR SE UL A 49 25,000
B (ZZ—MH4 : 25,0008 7T) °

REBE-_ZE—=FtA=+—HLFE "
AEEGRERE D PHEZ M B EIRFITI
BT R ET B4 T AR 2,400,000
7T (B AR & 7R 492,962,000 78 7T ) HY R T f6 B
é(w@ﬁﬁim) A 5E A 7% 18 12 41 ) 5 )
.:B& ﬁfﬂégﬁﬂﬁﬁ&“p VB R IRA o

technology. No deferred income has been recognised for Grant HE-_Z-—HAFtHA=+—8H JJ:iF Rz
B in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year AR Ta Ik ML B & 2 FERIEE IR
ended 31 July 2015 (2014: nil). A(ZZ—OF : &) o
DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 44. EERIEEE
The following are the major deferred tax (assets) liabilities REERBEFREEERNEZRELEIE
recognised and movements thereof during the current and BEEE) REEZHNT :
prior years:
Change Deferred
Unrealised in fair income
(profits)  Accelerated value of  arising from
loss on tax  Estimated  investment government
inventories depreciation  taxlosses properties grants Total
#EH BRREE
RER & fhit  RENEN BEW
(&H) B8 BEHE HEFE  ATESE BEWA by
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THL THL TATL TATL TAT
At 1 August 2013 W-E—=%\A—H 2,020 113 (113) 1,662 (1,014) 2,668
Exchange realignment B 5% ®) - - (26) 16 (15)
(Credited) charged to WEs GrA) 1k
profit or loss (Note 13) (Hi13) (1,595) 19 (19) - 6 (1,589)
At31 July 2014 R-2-ME+A=+-A 420 122 (132) 163 992) 1,064
Exchange realignment EiAE () = = (16) = (22)
Charged (credited) to EER (GTA)
profit or loss (Note 13) (B 13) 484 132 (132) (561) 6 71
Charged to other REM2E R NR
comprehensive income - - - 3,103 - 3,103
At31 July 2015 RZ_E-R%tA=1-H 898 264 (264) 4162 (986) 4,074

TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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44. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (Continued)

Under the EIT Law, withholding tax is imposed on dividends
declared in respect of profits earned by the PRC subsidiaries
from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred taxation has not been
provided for in the consolidated financial statements in respect
of temporary differences attributable to the profits of the PRC
subsidiaries amounting to approximately HK$5,769,000 (2014:
HK$6,486,000) as the Group is able to control the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that
the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax
losses of approximately HK$357,349,000 (2014:
HK$298,320,000) available for offset against future profits. A
deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of
approximately HK$1,603,000 (2014: HK$802,000) of such loss.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the
remaining losses of approximately HK$355,746,000 (2014:
HK$297,518,000) due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams. At 31 July 2015, approximately HK$49,119,000,
HK$56,653,000, HK$137,996,000 and HK$45,537,000 (2014:
HK$4,268,000, HK$49,119,000, HK$56,653,000, HK$137,996,000)
included in the above unused tax losses will expire after the
year of assessment of 2016, 2017, 2018 and 2019 respectively.
Other estimated tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

As at 31 July 2014 and 2015, no deferred tax asset has been
recognised in relation to deductible temporary differences
derived from property, plant and equipment and trade and
other receivables as it is not probable that taxable profits will
be available against which the deductible temporary
differences can be utilised.

44.

IRETRIASIE (&)

BEBECEMERE  FEMNBARE-Z
TN\F— F— B RRARAT G E KA
BAMRMTEN - NEBWENRE ISR
KPP BB R R FFTE NS
= 8 #)5,769,000% w( = T — M F:
6,486,000 7T ) FH IR IR ET B #EE - REA
7RG B B S5 ) 18 [ A M 2 AR
BZEEREEZE DR RER AT B A% ok 43
@ o

RIREHR - ANEE A W AREAFIEEBIBL
357,349,000 75.( —Z— PO 4 : 298,320,000
BIT) - AT SRR A o B A B Es1E
491,603,000/ 7T ( —E—PU4E : 802,000/ 7T)
HRELERIEEE - BN AL R IHEF)
= BHEEBLER T 71849 355,746,000 7 7T
(—Z— P04 : 297,518,000 7T ) i R IE T
RBEEE -R—T—AFtA=+—08" Lt
Jt 18 AR B) A 1 1E /5 18 E AR 4949,119,000 7
T~ 56,653,000 JT * 137,996,0007% T &
45,537,0007 7 (= Z — P 4F : 4,268,00075
T~ 49,119,000/ TT » 56,653,000/ T &
137,996,000 70) D AR —F —RF » =
T—+tF  ZT - \FERZT-NFIHF
B EI AR o E b b5 18 & 18 0] MR B 4
L}

WF-MER=F-HELA=+—A -
Bl B B B 7 SR B15 F)  89 A SR T 4
REBZEEY DU L EANE - R
B3R 8 A B P M 5 0 30 B f P MR
RN AR B A -

AFKEEZERERAT
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45.

200

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

Pursuant to the shareholders’ written resolution passed on 16
May 2007, the Company adopted a Pre-IPO share option
scheme (the “Pre-IPO Option Scheme”) and a Post-IPO share
option schemes (the “Post-IPO Option Scheme”) whereby the
directors and eligible employees of the Group were given the
rights to subscribe for shares in the Company subject to the
terms and conditions stipulated in two schemes.

At 31 July 2015, the total number of shares in respect of which
options had been granted and remained outstanding under the
schemes was 11,570,000 (2014: 14,638,000), representing
1.49% (2014: 1.88%) of the shares in the Company in issue at
that date. The total number of shares in respect of which
options may be granted under the two schemes is not
permitted to exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in
issue at any point in time, without prior approval from the
Company's shareholders. The number of shares issued and to
be issued in respect of which options granted and may be
granted to any individual in any one year is not permitted to
exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any point
in time, without prior approval from the Company’s
shareholders. Options granted to substantial shareholders or
independent non-executive directors in excess of 0.1% of the
Company’s share capital or with a value in excess of HK$5
million must be approved in advance by the Company’s
shareholders.

The exercise price is determined by the directors of the
Company, and will not be less than the highest of (i) the closing
price of the Company’s shares on the date of grant; (ii) the
average closing price of the shares for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal
value of the Company’s share.

TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2015

45.

FBARIE St S

BREBER_TZ+FRAA T HBEBHRRE
EMRER  ARBARAERARBER
Bl 8([ B R ARB SR BRERT2 1)
MRERAABERBRESE(ERAH
BERBRETS) Bl ARENE
EURABRERERARBEARA RN
RVRER - MR X Rz M B R BIRT B A IR
fERIFARER -

R-ZE—RE+A=+—8 ZZHaT
B A AR ITEEREM S KR DB
411,570,000 % ( — & — P £ : 14,638,000
i) - ERARRAEZB B EITRG 1.49%
(ZZ— U4 : 1.88%) ° FE RIS AR R
RELIER - ZMEFEI A FREM
BRAEFT S MR D BB T B BBAA T
{F fa] B FED B9 2 B 7T A% 19 10% © 7E REXIS A
AR E LB ERT + AMER FE EEMR
AT KA REE R B R AT S R E
BOIRETRIBRGEE TEEBRANAR
EREFER B BEITARMD 1% ° [AE BRRER
BYIFRTESHEONEREMNBAERA
AR AR 0.1% =X {E B #28 5,000,000 7T + &%
ARB AR R R B S o

THRERARRNERETE - ATSER A
BmERE) ()RR RBMDRE L B Hr K
mE: (NRORBERRLBHAAESE
B FHUmE  RINARRRMDHEE
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45. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued)

Details of specific categories of options are as follows:

Pre-IPO Option
Scheme

BRARBER
fBRRERT 8

Post-IPO Option
Scheme 1 — Lot 1
EPWNGE: e
FrEl—— St

Post-IPO Option
Scheme 1— Lot 2
EPNGE: L
FrEl—— S THt

Post-IPO Option
Scheme 2 — Lot 1

EPWNGE: L
El=-— it

Post-IPO Option
Scheme 2 — Lot 2
EPWNGE: L
FTEl= — =t

Date of grant
& B H

16 May 2007

—ETLF
AA+~H
24 December 2009

—ZETNF
+=—A=+mWAH

24 December 2009

—ETNF
+=—A=+mWAH

11 January 2011

—ET——%F
—A+—H

11 January 2011

—ET——%F
—A+—H

Vesting period
SES

One to five years
commencing from
8 June 2007
H-ZET+LF
NA\B &
1EESEF

0.5 year

0.5

1 year

14

0.5 year

0.5

1 year

14

FBARIEST S ()

HEEHRBEAER R T

Exercise period
1TEH

8 June 2008 to
15 May 2017

—EENFARANBE
—E—tFhATHH

24 June 2010 to
23 December 2019

—T-TFANA-tmAE
—E-—NFt+=-—A=+=H

24 December 2010 to
23 December 2019

—Z—ZF+-_A=-+WH=E
—E-AFE+-A=-+=R

11 July 2011 to
10 January 2021

—E——FtA+—HZE

—E-—%F—HF+H

11 January 2012 to
10 January 2021

—F-—F-At—AE

—E-—%F—HF+H

Kt RBIERERAT
—B-nEER

Exercise price

TEE

HK$2.20

22077

HK$0.96

0.967 87T

HK$0.96

0.967 87T

HK$1.05

1.05787T

HK$1.05

1.05/87T
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45. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued) 45. BERRIESTEl (@)
The following table discloses movements of the Company’s TREEHESREEFENARABER
share options held by directors and employees during the year: HERNE R HEF)
For the year ended 31 July 2015 BE-Z—AFtA=+—-HLFE

Outstanding Exercised Forfeited Outstanding
at1August  duringthe  during the at 31 July

2014 year year 2015
R=ZB—NF R=B-I%F
NA—H tA=+—H

i RITHE FRTE FRRK  RITEE

Pre-IPO Option Scheme EPONGESSEIE i S 5,045,000 - (1,020,000) 4,025,000

Post-IPO Option Scheme 1 BAAREERERETE —
— Lot 1 i 1,545,000 (99,000) (264,000) 1,182,000

Post-IPO Option Scheme 1 BAAREERERETE—
— Lot 2 —EH 3,759,000 (163,000) (582,000) 3,014,000

Post-IPO Option Scheme 2 EAARZEERERETE =
—Lot1 —5—# 2,144,500 (60,000) (410,000) 1,674,500

Post-IPO Option Scheme 2 EAARZEERERETE =
—ot2 —E 8 2,144,500 (60,000) (410,000) 1,674,500

14,638,000 (382,000)  (2,686,000) 11,570,000

Exercisable at the end ARERITE

of the year 11,570,000
Weighted average IEFHTEE

exercise price HK$1.41 HK$0.99 HK$1.46 HK$1.42

202 TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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45. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued) 45. BERRIESTEl (@)

For the year ended 31 July 2014 BE-Z-—NMFLtA=+—HLEFE
Outstandingat ~ Forfeited during ~ Qutstanding at
1 August 2013 the year 31 July 2014
RZZE—=F RZZ—lmF
NA—B +A=1+—H
W ARITHE FRRMK EARITHE
Pre-IPO Option Scheme BRAREERERETE 5,970,000 (925,000) 5,045,000
Post-IPO Option Scheme 1— Lot 1 BRAREERERETS—— 58t 2,301,000 (756,000) 1,545,000
Post-IPO Option Scheme 1 — Lot 2 BRARABRERERETE— —F i 4,701,000 (942,000) 3,759,000
Post-IPO Option Scheme 2 — Lot 1 BALREEREBRESSI - — 58t 2,684,000 (539,500) 2,144,500
Post-IPO Option Scheme 2 — Lot 2 BRAREERERETSI = —F28t 2,684,000 (539,500) 2,144,500
18,340,000 (3,702,000) 14,638,000
Exercisable at the end of the year ARERTE 14,638,000
Weighted average exercise price IMEF1TEE HK$1.39 HK$1.30 HK$1.41
In respect of the share options exercised during the year ended MRBE=_T—AFtA=1t—HLEE
31 July 2015, the weighted average share price at the dates of BTERERENS - RTEABRMDH
exercise is HK$1.53. No share options were exercised during MEFHEBRIEIETL - REE_T— Y
the year ended 31 July 2014. FEA=T—RHILFEAREEREET

fif o

46. ACQUISITION OF ADDITIONAL INTEREST IN A 46. EANNEEHIENER ™88/~

SUBSIDIARY WITHOUT CHANGE OF CONTROL

On 29 May 2015, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group
entered into a share transfer agreement with a non-controlling
equity holder to acquire 13.4% equity interest in Harbin Ta
Yang, a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Group, with a total
consideration of RMB1,520,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$1,885,000). The acquisition of additional interest in Harbin
Ta Yang has been completed on 31 July 2015. The ownership
interest in Harbin Ta Yang of the Group increased from 86.6%
to 100%.

The difference between the fair value of consideration paid by
the Group and the decrease in non-controlling interest after
this transaction amounting to approximately HK$3,394,000 is
recognised by the Group as other reserve.

At the end of the reporting period, the consideration to be paid
by the Group was recognised as other payables and is
disclosed in Note 38.

By B2 DBV ERIM iE

RZZE—RAFRA=ZTNA  AEE—MH
2EHB AR EIEERERS A AU
RERBERF(BAEEMNIEZENBAR)
13.4% B AR ZS 7] M IR (0 8 R el - AR(E
A AR 1,520,000 7T (#8 & 7 47 1,885,000
BIL) c WEMBERNEER T —AF+t
A=+—B%k - AEERGEBEAFD
Fr B #E %5 8 86.6%  F+ 2= 100% °

AEEPZHNRENRFERRI HEFE
22 f e 2 A ) A #R 40 3,394,000 TTE Ay
REEBER REAM R

RBERAR - AREHIANREERR
E A AN IR I 10 P 7 38 AR A FE

AFKEEZERERAT
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31JULY 2015 #Z—_F—RF+A=+—HILFE

47. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 47. FAERRXS
(@) Other than disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated (@) BRGEMBHRERITEEEIN B
financial statements, the Group entered into the following FR ANEBHEBEFFIZATR
transactions with related parties during the year: 2 -
Name of company Nature of transaction 2015 2014
RRER THME —E-—RE —= e
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
SITY (Note i) Sales of rubber keypads 2,031 6,297
SITY (Kfazi) HEW Bk
Huzhou Ri Jun (Note if) Sub-contracting income - 65
N B & (FYEET) DBMA
Formosan (Note ifi) Dividends received 493 197
Mz (B e iii) B E
United Performance (Note iv) Dividends received 48 -
BekiER (Mfativ) B E
Notes: Kt -
(i) The Group disposed of all its interests in SiTY on 23 0} AEER-_ZT—HF—HA=1+=H
January 2015. HEENSITY B2 BF4Es o
(i) The company was deregistered on 30 December 2014. (i) HAFTRZE—NF+=A=+H
BUHEE °
@iy  Formosan is a company listed on the Taiwan Stock @iy FEf—FRRAEFHFXZHH LT
Exchange in which Huang Sheng-Shun is the common WRTE - BEEZRTERANRRRHM
director of the Company and Formosan. HRHERES -
(iv)  United Performance is a company listed on the Taiwan (iv) HBBE—ZFRRAEEFRFMET
Stock Exchange in which Huang Sheng-Shun is the EOUNCIIE -V b0 el = PAN/NCI DS
common director of the Company and United MR ERES -
Performance.
\
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31JULY 2015 #Z =T —RF+A=+—HILFE

47. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 47. BAERRXZ(E)
(b) Compensation of key management personnel (b) FT2EIREASIRHM
The remuneration of directors of the Company and other REA  RARrEERAMEEEE
members of key management during the year is as Bk S eErBan T -
follows:
2015 2014
—E—-AF —EO4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx TR
Short-term benefits 53 BAAE A 5,256 5,128
Post-employment benefits B s E A 120 102
5,376 5,230
The remuneration of directors of the Company and key RAREEREBITHABBHET
executives is determined by the remuneration committee BHMEE2LERERATHRER
having regard to the performance of individuals and Ri5BemEE
market trends.
48. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 48. SINRIE
2015 2014
—E—hfF —T—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FBxT FAT
Capital expenditure contracted for but R 3IZIEH S 5] 418 &
not provided for in the consolidated RGBS R B ER
financial statements in respect of: BRI
— Acquisition of property, plant — BB - BB K&
and equipment 1,357 1,691
— Acquisition of land use rights — U B + (s P4 4,775 4,775
6,132 6,466

Kt RBIERERAT
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31JULY 2015 #Z—_F—RF+A=+—HILFE

49. COMMITMENTS UNDER OPERATING LEASES

The Group as lessor

Property rental income earned during the year is approximately
HK$2,417,000 (2014: HK$1,914,000). The investment properties
are expected to generate rental yield of 4.4% (2014: 6.0%) on
an ongoing basis. The investment properties held have
committed tenants for the next year.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had contracted
with tenants for the following future minimum lease payments:

49.

KEfaaRiIE

REBFRBEA

FRAHBREERIOWERS KA
#9/52,417,00058 70 ( —Z—PU4F : 1,914,000
BT o THHAR B MEBIFETRA44% (=
T—OF : 6.0%) HESERE - AFKRE
MERRFEERFEEA -

RIBEHR - AEBER TIARKKEE
ERIEEBFFTA -

2015 2014

—E—-AF —EO4E

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET THT

Within one year —FR 1,077 501
The Group as lessee REBERATEA

The Group leases a number of properties under operating
leases for its factories, offices and staff quarters. The leases
were negotiated for terms ranging from one to five years, with
the options to renew the leases when all terms are
renegotiated. None of the leases includes contingent rentals.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases which fall due as follows:

AEERBEERERES TYERER
B WRAERBIRESE - ZFHENEH
MRS —E=0F  YAEHEEEEN
[ERPIBE IR EHEE - xS HEM
BEREXNEE -

RBERR  ARERBEFATHELEH
SARTHHEI R KEEE
SRIEALEMT

2015 2014
—E-EHF —E—mF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FAExT

Land and buildings: T g F
Within one year —F R 4,619 6,970
In the second to fifth year inclusive F_EZFEhF(FEMEREEN) 372 6,854
4,991 13,824
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31JULY 2015 #Z =T —RF+A=+—HILFE

50. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 50. NGB FEARIR R
COMPANY
2015 2014
—E-RF —ZE—UF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
M et FERT T
Non-current asset ERBEE
Investment in a subsidiary R—HERBARARE 104,149 104,149
Current assets mEN&E
Other receivables H b pE W sk 18 174 123
Amounts due from subsidiaries e NG O] @) 641,472 629,828
Bank balances and cash IRTTER NI E 603 1,936
642,249 631,887
Current liabilities mEAafE
Other payables H e F0B 2,905 1,916
Amounts due to subsidiaries FERHIB A T FIE @) 342,533 325,799
Amount due to a joint venture B —MAEERE (@) 3,104 3,104
348,542 330,819
Net current assets MENEEFE 293,707 301,068
Total assets less current liabilities  BEABERTHAR 397,856 405,217
Capital and reserves BARREE
Share capital R&ZR 77,892 77,854
Reserves s (b) 319,964 327,363
Total equity HEmiaE 397,856 405,217

Kt RBIERERAT
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31JULY 2015 #Z—_F—RF+A=+—HILFE

50. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 50. IRASRIFFHFIRIRE (&)
COMPANY (Continued)
(a) Amounts due from/to subsidiaries/a joint venture @) M[EUW ENMHBLAZ—RE
SRERE
The amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and EARIEREER  £ERRERE
repayable on demand. & o
(b) Reserves (b) fEfE
Share Capital
Share options Accumulated  redemption
premium reserve losses reserve Total
R EE BRERE ZitER BLAEERMG st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THL T THL FET
At 1 August 2013 RZZ-=£\A—H 633,786 13,638 (23,702) 2,420 626,142
Total comprehensive EREERZEE
expenses for the year - - (298,779) - (298,779)
Forfeiture of share options R R = (1,946) 1,946 - -
At 31 July 2014 and R=Z-NFtA=1-H
1 August 2014 k=Z-mENA-B 633,786 11,692 (320,535) 2,420 327,363
Total comprehensive ERZHERXEHE
expenses for the year - - (7,740) - (7,740)
Forfeiture of share options RN A = (2,275) 2275 = =
Exercise of share options TR AREE 468 (127) - - 341
A£31 July 2015 R=E-hFtA=+-H 634,254 9,290 (326,000) 2420 319,964
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31JULY 2015 #Z =T —RF+A=+—HILFE

51. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 51. T2MELT
Details of the principal subsidiaries held by the Company at the RIER ARFFENEZEZWB AR
end of the reporting periods are as follows: BT
Place of
incorporation/  Class of Issued share capital/ Attributable equity
Name of subsidiary establishment  shares held registered capital interest of the Group  Principal activities
il LS HERAL/ RIS FERAER BRARA/ERER IEEEERTER  TTER
2015 2014 2015 2014
g-3f —FmE “E-IfF ZE3IF
Ta Yang Silicone Rubber Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$1,000,000 HK$1,000,000 100% 100% Trading of silicone
Industrial Company Limited &% LEk 1,000,000 7% 1,000,000/ rubber
AEYBBIZBERAR EEYR
Chief Ocean Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$1 HKS1 100% 100% Provision of
HEERRA &8 LRk 187 1B management services
RAEERE
Ta Yang Group Limited BVI Ordinary shares 11,930,811 shares 11,930,811 shares *100% *¥100%  Investment holding
REEEERAR EBRAAS LRk of US$1 each of US$1 each REBR
11,930,811 R B 1193081 REREE
EfE1£THR S Xk
Top View Investment BVI Ordinary shares 1 share of 1 share of 100% 100%  Investment holding
Holdings Limited EBRAAS LRk US$1 each USS1 each REBR
ERRERRERAR 1REE1ETH 1HREE 1T
R i3
Ta Yang Group (Macao MSAR Ordinary shares 1 share of 1 share of 100% 100%  Trading of silicone
Commercial Offshore) Limited ~ RPI%E Lk MOP100,000 each  MOP100,000 each rubber
REEE (R TRERmEERE) 1R 100,000 118100000 EEYR
BRAR REENRG RFTEORA
Dongguan Ta Yang Silicane The PRC Contributed capital HK$86,000,000 HK$86,000,000 100% 100%  Manufacturing of
Rubber Industrial Company NV 86,000,00038 7% 86,000,003 siicone rubber
Limited SEYR
REAREBHRARAR
Huzhou Ta Yang Electronic The PRC Contributed capital US$38,000,000 1JS§38,000,000 100% 100%  Manufacturing of
Technology Company Limited NV 38,000,000% % 38,000000ET siicone rubber
BNAFBFRRARAR SEYR
Dongguan Tay Yang Rubber The PRC Contributed capital HK$5,000,000 HK$5,000,000 100% 100%  Manufacturing of
Plastic Industrial Company HE NV 5,000,000 5,000,000557C siicone rubber
Limited SEYR

REFARERRARATA

Kt RBIERERAT
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31JULY 2015 #Z—_F—RF+A=+—HILFE

51. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

51. F2MEBLS (&)

Place of
incorporation/  Class of Issued share capital/ Attributable equity
Name of subsidiary establishment  shares held registered capital interest of the Group  Principal activities
HWEAREH HMRL/ RS FERAER BRIRE/ERER REBEERAES  ITER
2015 2014 2015 2014
—E-3F “3-mE Z3-1f  CEIF
Dongguan Tai Yang Rubber The PRC Contributed capital HK$70,000,000 HK$70,000,000 100% 100%  Manufacturing of
Plastic Industrial Company i NV 70,000,0008 % 70,000,000/ siicone rubber
Limited HEVE
REAFBELRARAH
Bei Liu Jin Gu Electronic The PRC Contributed capital HK$50,000,000 HK$50,000,000 100% 100% Manufacturing of
Technology Company Limited BANER 50,000,000 50,000,00077C siicone rubber
EieAEFRRBRAR HEYR
Harbin Ta Yang (Note a) The PRC Contributed capital RMB30,000,000 RMB30,000,000 100% 86.6% Dormant
REBAE (fiHa) i N AR#30,0000007T AR 30,000,000 TREX

@ Except for Ta Yang Group Limited, all the subsidiaries are
indirectly held by the Company.

Notes:

(@ In prior years, the Group had entered into capital injection
agreements with an independent third party (“Investor”).
Pursuant to which, the Investor had agreed to inject capital in
Harbin Ta Yang by cash of RMB4,500,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$5,535,000) and patents of RMB6,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$7,560,000), and provided a
guarantee that if profit before tax of Harbin Ta Yang within one
year starting from 1 May 2013 could not be reached at
RMB8,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$9,840,000), the
Investor would pay RMB6,000,000 to the Group as a
compensation (“Profit Guarantee”). As at 31 July 2014, the profit
before tax of Harbin Ta Yang guaranteed by the Investor did not
reach eventually. The Investor was liable to pay RMB6,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$7,440,000) to the Group and it
was recognised as other operating income. Subsequently, the
Group and the Investor entered into an agreement in which both
parties agreed to settle the RMB6,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$7,440,000) by transferring 25% of equity
interest held by the Investor in Harbin Ta Yang to the Group. The
transaction was recognised as equity transaction and the
Group’s equity interests in Harbin Ta Yang changed from 53.2%
10 86.6% as at 31 July 2014.

For the year ended 31 July 2015, the Group acquired 13.4%
equity interest in Harbin Ta Yang from the Investor. Accordingly,
Harbin Ta Yang became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group.
Details are set out in Note 46.

(b)  Except Harbin Ta Yang, all entities established in the PRC are
wholly-owned foreign enterprises.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31JULY 2015 #Z =T —RF+A=+—HILFE

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in the
opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected
the results or assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors of the
Company, result in particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at
the end of both reporting periods or at any time during both
years.

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

(@  During the year ended 31 July 2014, certain bonus shares
with amount of approximately HK$957,000 were received
from listed equity securities (2015: nil).

(b)  During the year ended 31 July 2014, the non-controlling
interests contributed items of patents with a cost of
approximately HK$7,560,000 (2015: nil).

51.

52.

FTEMELE (&)

ERINRARREERRI B EAEHE
EEREBENAKBEMBRR - ARAE
ERRFAINEMMBRRENSERRIE
BRITEK °

TA P {8 ¥R o5 B K Bk R 1 F (AR B
BEN B AREE T RITHREES -

FRIIRERS

(@ MREBEE_Z—NFLtA=1+—HULF
B ARFH ETWRAESWEET
4IRS - [BIEX 957,000 T (—FE—Hh
F:F)o

b HE—_Z—NUFLtA=+—HILF
& 0 A S E AR AN4Y 7,560,000
BILTHEFNEEBE(ZE—AF:
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Five Years Financial Summary

hFFFIE
CONSOLIDATED RESULTS LROXR
Year ended 31 July
BEtA=1t—HLEE
2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
—B——F ZE-——-f —IZET-=F ZZT-NF ZB-HF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FAT FHET FAT FAT THERT
Turnover S 787,348 624,525 551,326 467,264 426,242
Profit (loss) for the year F ) (E1E) 42,644 (78,090) (131,919) (220,358) (159,382)
Profit (loss) for the year ATALTELEFER
attributable to: sw ) (E518) -
Owners of the Company  ARA&HEA A 42,644 (78,090) (131,616) (216,563)  (156,335)
Non-controlling interests  JEFERGfE 28 - - (303) (3,795) (3,047)
42,644 (78,090) (131,919) (220,358) (159,382)
CONSOLIDATED ASSETS AND LIABILITIES ReEEKERE
As at 31 July
RERA=1+—8
2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
22— —E=——-F === <—Z-OF Z—T—AfF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FABxT FHT FHT FAT FH T
Total assets BEBE 1,282,526 1,179,702 1,012,409 815,823 654,170
Total liabilities &g (144,373) (171,813) (144,621) (185,397) (178,509)
Total equity HE A 1,138,153 1,007,889 867,788 630,426 475,661
Equity attributable to: AT AL -
Owners of the Company  ARAQAF%EA A 1,138,153 1,007,889 862,928 628,907 475,661
Non-controlling interests — 3EiZ iRtz — - 4,860 1,519 -
Total equity RS AE 1,138,153 1,007,889 867,788 630,426 475,661
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Flat 28, 23/F, Metro Centre Il, 21 Lam Hing Street,
Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong
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Fax 8 : (852) 3678 5099

Website #84F : www.tayang.com
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